Introduction
Melvin I. Urofsky

As usual, we have a potpourri of subjects
for you to enjoy in this issue, and we also
have contributions from what might be called
two generations of constitutional and legal
history scholars.

David W. Levy is my exact contempo-
rary. We started out together as instructors at
the Ohio State University in the 1960s and
worked together for many years as the co-
editors of seven volumes of Louis D. Bran-
deis Letters. He is the official historian of
the University of Oklahoma, from which he
recently retired as David Ross Boyd Profes-
sor of History. Last year he asked me to read
the manuscript of a new book he had written
(tasks that we have done for each other for
many years now), and while wearing my
reader’s cap, my hat as editor of this journal
is always near at hand. I suggested an article,
and what caught my attention—and what 1
thought would interest our readers—is the
reaction of the University in the McLaurin
case. In civil rights litigation, we often hear
about what the plaintiffs went through, and
often it was indeed terrible, but sometimes
the defendant’s actions are also impacted.
Several years ago we ran an article by the
attorney who argued the case for Kansas in
Brown v. Board of Education. We think you
will find this article just as interesting.

Louis Fisher is another old friend. For
many years, he was a fixture in the Law
Division of the Library of Congress, where
he answered legal questions from senators
and representatives on a variety of matters.
He has retired from that position and is now
a scholar in residence at the Constitution
Project as well as a visiting professor at the
College of William and Mary law school.
He is now also free to file amicus briefs
in his own name with the High Court. For
many years, Louis Fisher has been arguing—
and correctly—that Charles Evans Hughes’s
famous dictum “the Constitution is what
the Supreme Court says it is” is wrong.
Our constitutional heritage is developed by
input not only from the judiciary, but from
Congress, the executive branch, academia,
and the people themselves. In this arti-
cle, he takes on the notion that the courts
have been the great protector of individual
rights and argues that Congress should be
given far more credit than it has in the
past.

D. Grier Stephenson, Jr., the Charles A.
Dana Professor of Government Emeritus at
Franklin & Marshall College, has been writ-
ing “The Judicial Bookshelf” since before I
took over as editor, and that is a long time.
[ always mention how grateful I am that he
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keeps working along with me, but it is true. It
would be hard to think of the journal without
him.

Turning to younger scholars, Timothy R.
Johnson is the Morse Alumni Distinguished
Professor at the University of Minnesota,
Rachel Houston is a doctoral candidate there,
and Amanda C. Bryan is a newly minted
Ph.D. who is an assistant professor at Loy-
ola University in Chicago. They have been
working a mine that will keep Court scholars
busy for years to come, Justice Harry Black-
mun’s extra-judicial notes that he scribbled
in green pencil through his 30+ years in
the Marble Palace. During oral argument,
Justice Blackmun took copious notes on the
case in standard black pencil, but he also
wrote about a lot of other things that were
on his mind in green. In this article, we

get a taste of what the Justice was thinking
about.

James A. Todd is an assistant professor
of politics at Palm Beach Atlantic University,
and his subject is one of the great cases
of the nineteenth century, Cooley v. Board
of Wardens (1852). In that case the Taney
Court essentially said that while the federal
government under the Commerce Clause has
power, if the national government has not
acted, then the states are free to do so0—even
in interstate matters. While the Jacksonian
Justices were more concerned with state than
with federal powers, Professor Todd shows
that the growing nationalism after the Civil
War turned Cooley from an enabler of state
powers into an affirmer of federal authority.

So, here is a broad array of subjects, and
as usual, I urge you to Enjoy!



Cooley v. Board of Wardens and its
Nineteenth-Century Legacy

According to Charles Warren, “it was
not until...the case of Cooley v. Port Wardens
was decided in 1852, that a lawyer could
advise a client with any degree of safety as to
the validity of a State law having any connec-
tion with commerce between the States.”! In-
deed, nineteenth-century Commerce Clause
doctrine in the Supreme Court can neatly be
divided into two periods: before and after
Cooley v. Board of Wardens.> Prior to that
decision, the Court never directly answered
the divisive question of whether states could
regulate interstate commerce in the absence
of congressional action. The Constitution,
in Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3, clearly empowers
Congress to ‘“regulate commerce...among
the several states,” but the Constitution is
silent about state regulation of interstate
commerce.

Under Chief Justice John Marshall’s
leadership, the Court had invalidated state
laws that were found to be in conflict with
a federal statute enacted pursuant to the
Commerce Clause.”> However, Marshall-era
opinions had seemed to leave room for state
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regulation of certain matters applicable to
interstate commerce, such as the pilotage of
ships and the inspection of goods.

By 1849, in a pair of cases called
the Passenger Cases, the members of the
Court read the Marshall precedents quite
differently.* In these cases, a slim Majority
of Justices invalidated New York and Mas-
sachusetts taxes on incoming ship passen-
gers, but a majority failed to unify around
the principle that the federal government
had exclusive regulatory rights over such
interstate commerce. In the case, eight of the
nine Justices wrote separate opinions. Only
three members of the Court concurred that
the federal government had exclusive power
over interstate commerce.

Three years later, in Cooley, the Court
attempted to reconcile the discordant prior
opinions on state action and the Commerce
Clause into something resembling a work-
able doctrinal framework.® Cooley’s ultimate
principle—that the federal government has
exclusive regulatory rights over at least some
portions of interstate commerce—eventually
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became the greatest doctrinal enabler of ju-
dicial review of state laws in the nineteenth
century. As for its staying power, the Court
recently made clear in a 2018 opinion that
Cooley continues to serve as the baseline for
analysis of state powers relative to the Com-
merce Clause.” Thus, the Cooley decision has
an enduring place in the Court’s history.

The post-Cooley behavior of the
Supreme Court is the primary focus of this
article, which seeks to answer the following
questions: How, if at all, was Cooley applied
in subsequent cases of purported state
regulations of interstate commerce? How
often did post-Cooley Courts use the federal
exclusiveness principle to invalidate state
laws? And when, if at all, was the Court
most likely to invoke the principle of federal
exclusiveness?

The general answer is that by the last
decade of the nineteenth century, the Court
had realized a potency in Cooley that had not
been obvious at the time the case was de-
cided. While Cooley was decided—and then
initially applied—by Jacksonian Justices who
mainly wanted to empower states, ironically
Cooley’s major legacy was created by their
Republican successors who sought to disem-
power states in order to protect commerce.

The findings of this study are based
upon a close evaluation of all of the Court’s
Commerce Clause cases decided immedi-
ately after the Cooley decision until the
reorganization of the federal judiciary that
occurred in 1891—just under fifty years.?
The main insight from the present analysis
is that the “career” of Cooley federal ex-
clusiveness can be broken down into three
distinct periods: the Twilight of the State-
Centric System (1852-1872); the period of
Emerging Nationalism (1873—1885), and the
period of Nationalism (1886-1891).

The Cooley v. Board of Wardens Decision

The Cooley case itself involved a Penn-
sylvania law that required every ship en-

tering and exiting the port of Philadelphia
to make a report to the port’s warden and
to use the services of a local pilot. Justice
Benjamin R. Curtis, writing for the Court’s
five-member majority, found that the pilotage
requirement involved a state regulation of
interstate commerce.®! However, he found
the regulation to be compatible with ex-
isting federal statutes concerning the same
commerce. According to Justice Curtis, the
pilotage of ports of the United States, albeit
a matter affecting interstate commerce, is of
the type of regulation that is local in nature,
and as such only affects the local incidents
of interstate navigation. Such a regulation,
the Court concluded, may exist concurrently
with federal regulation of the same interstate
commerce. To evidence this, Curtis pointed
to a federal statute authorizing state and local
regulation of the subject of pilots.® However,
he continued, certain other incidents of inter-
state commerce “are in their nature national,
or admit only of one uniform system, or plan
of regulation, [and] may justly be said to
be of such a nature as to require exclusive
legislation by Congress.”!? State impositions
on these incidents of interstate commerce
are not permitted, even if Congress has not
acted. Curtis expressly declined to offer an
example of what things might be “within the
exclusive control of Congress” or “what may
be regulated by the States in the absence of all
congressional legislation.”!! But he created
the basic distinction between the local and
national incidents of interstate commerce
that would endure. Justice Curtis was the
newest Justice on the Court at the time of
Cooley. Unlike most of his peers, he was
new to the constitutional questions at issue.
Being free from the Court’s contentiousness
over this issue in the past, he was in a
strong position to speak for the Court in
Cooley. His fashioning of a truly pragmatic
doctrine on behalf of the Court contributes to
Curtis’s reputation, in Bernard Schwartz’s as-
sessment, as the second greatest Justice of the
Taney Court after the Chief Justice himself, 2
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Appointed by Millard Fillmore, Benjamin Curtis was one of the few Whig Justices to serve on the Supreme Court.
In 1852 he wrote the Court’s compromise majority opinion in Cooley v. Board of Wardens.

Justice Peter V. Daniel concurred sep-
arately. He believed that the Pennsylvania
law was a proper exercise of the state’s
exclusive police power—a power having no
relation to the Commerce Clause and, there-
fore, that did not depend upon the assent
(or silence) of Congress.'? Daniel’s view—
popular among states’ rights Jacksonians at
the time—was that any measure protecting

public health and safety (like, he believed,
the pilotage requirements at issue) fell within
the exclusive power of a state. But Daniel
went further than this. Even when it came to
genuine regulations of interstate commerce,
according to Justice Daniel, state regulatory
authority was fully coextensive with that of
Congress. For Daniel, a state law “regulating
commerce” could only be deemed invalid
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when Congress acted to preempt it using
its lawful powers, not on the strength of
congressional silence.

Justice John McLean, joined by Justice
James M. Wayne, dissented, arguing the exact
opposite of the Daniel position on interstate
commerce: that states could never regu-
late interstate and international commerce.
McLean also disagreed with the majority’s
holding concerning the implication of federal
authorization of state pilotage regulations.'*
For the dissenters, the Pennsylvania law at
issue was a pure regulation of interstate
commerce that was within exclusive federal
power and beyond any state power.

Cooley's Doctrine

In Cooley, the Court provided something
that had been lacking before: doctrine on
state regulation of commerce that could have
applicability in almost every conceivable
case. The doctrine was flexible, not dogmatic.
The Court in Cooley supplied a framework
of analysis for state imposition on interstate
commerce cases that could be applied across
arange of potential regulatory circumstances.
Since interstate commerce is so vast, the
Court reasoned, commerce can give rise to
both local and national regulatory needs. As
Schwartz has claimed, the flexibility of the
Cooley framework allowed the law to evolve
to suit the needs of the nation.'”

Conceptually, the Cooley decision could
be read at the time as authorizing four possi-
ble judicial determinations about a state’s im-
position on purported interstate commerce.
In Outcome 1, the state’s action could be
found not to be a regulation of interstate
commerce. If the Court so found, the state
imposition should be upheld as a proper
exercise of the police power that the state
exclusively possesses—a power that exists
to protect the state’s public, not to regulate
commerce per se. This was how Justice
Daniel characterized the pilotage law at issue

in Cooley in his concurring opinion. This is
the principle of state exclusiveness.

However, under Cooley, a future Court
may be warranted in finding that a state law
was more than a simple police measure. If
the Court found a state law to involve a true
regulation of interstate commerce, as it did
in Cooley, three possible determinations flow
from this, under Cooley. In Outcome 2, the
thing or activity regulated is interstate com-
merce, but the regulation only touches upon
the local incidents of interstate commerce.
The state, in such a case, has a concurrent
right with the federal government to regulate
this aspect of interstate commerce. If this
finding is made, the law should be upheld,
as the Pennsylvania law ultimately was in
Cooley.

Alternatively, in Outcome 3, a future
Court may find that the thing or activity
regulated is interstate commerce, and that
the state regulation touches upon an aspect
of interstate commerce that is best handled
by uniform national treatment even if it has
not been yet regulated by Congress. If this
finding is made—and the Cooley majority
made it clear that this finding may be war-
ranted in a future case—the state law must
be invalidated. This was the two Cooley
dissenters’ view of the Pennsylvania law.
This is the principle of federal exclusiveness.

Lastly, in Outcome 4, the Court could
find that the thing or activity regulated is
interstate commerce, and the thing or activity
has been regulated by the federal government
in such a way as to preclude the specific
state and local regulation. In such a case, the
state law should be invalidated. Though the
expression does not appear to have been used
in the context of the Cooley decision, this
idea would come to be known as the prin-
ciple of statutory preemption. This possible
outcome is evident in the Cooley majority’s
approach, whereby the Justices reviewed the
compatibility between the state and federal
law in the case and deemed that there was no
incompatibility, thus no preemption.
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Cooley’s “Selective Exclusiveness”

Often, constitutional scholars have re-
ferred to this Cooley framework as the doc-
trine of “selective exclusiveness.”!® If the
Court rests on state exclusiveness, it means
that the Court has determined that the impo-
sition on commerce may be made exclusively
by a state in the exercise of its general
police power; if on federal exclusiveness,
exclusively by the federal government under
its power to regulate the national incidents
of interstate commerce. If the Court finds
that there is a concurrent regulatory right
over a certain aspect of commerce, neither
level of government has the exclusive right to
exercise the regulatory power in question—
states may regulate the commerce up until
the point that Congress forecloses on the
states by national legislation. Statutory pre-
emption hearkens back to the Marshall Court.
It acknowledges the Constitution’s principle
of national supremacy: that existing federal
regulation of interstate commerce will be
supreme over any conflicting regulation by a
state.

In the Cooley case, the Court found
that while the requirements placed upon
incoming and exiting vessels affected in-
terstate commerce, state and local pilotage
requirements of the type at issue had long
been permitted. This longstanding permis-
sion suggests that each state can adopt its
own localized pilotage regulations—that is,
to suit the unique circumstances of its local
ports—without greatly burdening interstate
commerce, up until the point of preemptive
federal action. While only intimated by the
Court but not taken, statutory preemption
was based upon well-established principles
of national supremacy dating back to the
Marshall Court’s landmark decision in Gib-
bons v. Ogden, where Chief Justice Marshall,
in dicta, suggested that for some cases a
concurrent regulatory right is a possibility.!’
While federal preemption had often been
a means of escape for the Marshall Court,

state exclusiveness had often been a means
of escape for the Taney Court, which often
upheld contested state actions on the theory
that the action was a state police measure, not
a regulation of commerce.'®

The Cooley principle of federal exclu-
siveness points to some aspects of interstate
commerce for which the national government
has the exclusive option to regulate or not.
Federal exclusiveness had long been con-
tentious as a textual matter: does the mere
existence of a constitutional grant of federal
regulatory power over interstate commerce
mean that states were forbidden from exer-
cising any power over such commerce? The
question had never been squarely decided
by the Marshall Court; some of the Justices
in their separate opinions held to federal
exclusiveness in the Court’s decision two
years prior to Cooley in the Passenger Cases,
but no real consensus had emerged. In any
event, whether warranted by the Passenger
Cases precedent or not, in Cooley for the
first time the Court majority clearly extended
an invitation to future Courts to invalidate
state laws on the principle of federal exclu-
siveness. The Cooley majority opinion has
never been challenged or repudiated by a
subsequent Court.

As it turned out, none of the Cooley
Justices who supported federal exclusiveness
were ever able to use the principle to inval-
idate a state law. Over twenty years would
pass before a Court majority would clearly
invoke the principle of federal exclusiveness
against a state law. By then, every member
of the Cooley Court was gone, the nation had
undergone the throes of the Civil War, and a
new political party had been born.

Period I: Twilight of the State-Centric
System (1852-1872)

Cooley was decided by a Court of eight
Jacksonian Justices
by a sectional division between pro- and
anti-slavery states.!® The Jacksonian Justices

in an era dominated
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Except for Curtis, all the Justices who decided Cooley were Jacksonian Democrats. Above is the courtroom where
Taney, McLean, Wayne, Catron, McKinley, Daniel, Nelson, and Grier heard arguments in the case.

consisted of Court members appointed by
President Andrew Jackson (Taney, McLean,
Wayne, and Catron) and Jackson’s Vice Pres-
ident and successor, Van Buren (McKinley
and Daniel).?’ John Tyler, a nominal Whig
who supported states’ rights as strongly as
any Jacksonian Democrat, appointed Justice
Nelson, and his Jacksonian Democratic suc-
cessor Polk appointed Justice Grier.2! Justice

Curtis, the author of the Cooley opinion,
was the Court’s sole Whig—an appointee of
Whig president Millard Fillmore.?? Fillmore
was as equivocal on the issue of federal
power versus states’ rights as his appointee’s
majority opinion had been.?

While the Court changed composition
shortly after Cooley, Justices appointed by
Democratic Presidents dominated the Court



COOLEY V. BOARD OF WARDENS 13

during the Civil War era through the remain-
der of the Chief Justiceship of Taney to 1864,
and they continued to hold a majority for
most of Chief Justice Chase’s tenure (1865—
1873). Judicial decision-making during this
time looked Jacksonian until about 1870, at
which time a Republican majority was in
place.*

While Jacksonians existed in every re-
gion, they were generally on the Southern
side of the sectional divide.?> They uniformly
supported states’ rights in ways that protected
slavery, and traditionally wanted to permit
any other kind of state action if such was
at all defensible and—as in the 1830s cases
of Cherokee Removal-—at times indefensi-
ble. Jacksonian ideology, perhaps best repre-
sented by Chief Justice Taney himself, had
long held to concurrent state authority and
to the principles of dual state and federal
sovereigns. Taney thought that state power to
regulate interstate commerce was completely
coextensive with the power of Congress over
commerce, up until the point that state action
was explicitly foreclosed by Congress.?® That
is to say, any limitations on state power had
to be by virtue of a positive constitutional
provision or statutory enactment—some ex-
press denial of state authority found in a valid
federal law or the Constitution itself. Absent
some explicit denial, the state’s power should
be upheld by the Court.

Jacksonian ideology further held that the
preemptive power of the federal government
over states was limited simply because the
powers of the federal government were to be
construed strictly. Certainly, constitutionally
proper federal enactments were supreme over
state power per the Constitution’s Article
Six (hence, most Jacksonians’ rejection of
nullification), but federal power was not,
in itself, seen as broad in its scope. Just as
state powers should be construed broadly, the
enumerated and implied powers of the federal
government should be construed strictly.?’
With Jacksonians in control of one or both
chambers of Congress for all but two years

(1841-1843) between President Jackson’s
first election and the Civil War, there were
very few congressional enactments that
pushed the limit of federal constitutional
power, with the consequence that the scope
of the powers of Congress was not judicially
addressed.?® In the rare instance that a judi-
cial test came, as in the Dred Scott decision
of 1857, federal power was restricted. As
Gerard Magliocca notes, the ultimate opinion
of federal power in Jacksonian America came
in the form of presidential veto addresses
and actions, not Supreme Court opinions.?’
President Jackson himself, in his Maysville
Road Veto (1830) and then again in his
Bank Veto (1832), denied that the powers
of Congress could be construed so broadly
as to authorize the building of a road within
one state or the creation of the Bank of
the United States, respectively.’’ Hence,
the federal union of the Jacksonians was
state centric: while the union itself was not
destructible by any state, regulatory power
within the union was presumptively vested in
the level of government closest to the people.

A question arises: why would three Jack-
sonian Justices in the majority in Cooley—
Justices Taney, Mc¢Kinley, and Catron—agree
to a decision that enshrines into constitutional
law the principle of federal exclusiveness?
Carl Swisher, the foremost historian of the
Taney Court, has suggested that the states’
rights Jacksonians would have gladly taken
the bargain involved in Cooley.3! In exchange
for language supportive of the principle of
federal exclusiveness that would secure the
support of the Court’s relative nationalists
like Curtis, McLean, and Wayne, the states’
rights Justices received an actual decision
upholding the practice of state regulation of
interstate commerce. Just as later Justices
would come to see Cooley in light of the
opening it gave to federal exclusiveness,
Jacksonians of the time embraced Cooley for
its actual holding that a state may regulate
potentially substantial portions of interstate
commerce.
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The Jacksonian Court after Cooley

Consistent with Swisher’s theory about
Cooley, the subsequent behavior of the Jack-
sonian Court showed that the more immedi-
ately consequential part of Cooley was the
idea that state regulation of interstate com-
merce can in many—perhaps most—cases be
concurrent with federal power. Furthermore,
the subsequent behavior of the Taney and
Chase Courts indicated that the federal ex-
clusiveness language in Cooley was, indeed,
an empty promise made by the states’ rights
Justices on the Cooley Court.

In the two decades after Cooley, with
Jacksonian Justices solidly in the majority
on the Court, the Court issued twenty-two
decisions concerning states’ rights over inter-
state commerce. Almost all of the cases dealt
with the issues that had long come before
the Court. Primarily, they revolved around
the right of a vessel to navigate the waters
of the United States free of assessments and
regulatory requirements created by a state.
Despite all of the turmoil of the Civil War
era, the nature of the cases had not changed
very much since the time of Chief Justice
Marshall. And neither, as it turned out, had
the nature of the answers.

On the surface, it may appear that in the
first two decades after Cooley the Court was
relatively aggressive in imposing limitations
on state power. In nine of the twenty-two
cases, the Court invalidated the challenged
state or local law.*? Two of these invalidations
were statutory preemption cases, as the chal-
lenged state laws were found to be in conflict
with a particular federal law.’3 In these two
cases, the Court relied on precedents that
predated Cooley, given that Cooley itself had
not been resolved on this ground.

None of the seven other invalidations in
this period were pure federal exclusiveness
cases stemming from Cooley, however. In no
case did the Court explicitly rest its decision
on the federal exclusiveness principle.’* The
Court appeared careful to avoid this fraught

question in the context of national crises
in the period over slavery, secession, war,
and Reconstruction. Or perhaps, as has been
suggested by Carl Swisher and given the
obvious bargain involved in the Cooley hold-
ing, no majority of Jacksonian Justices was
sincerely supportive of the principle to begin
with.*> As long as Jacksonians dominated the
Court, federal exclusiveness was not a viable
principle in American constitutional law.

The Court failed even to cite Cooley in
any of its invalidating decisions, although a
state’s power over interstate commerce was
plainly at issue in all of them. In voiding a
state or local law, the Court applied another
part of the Constitution that limited state
power even when it could have opted for
federal exclusiveness. For example, in Almy
v. California and later in Low v. Austin,
the Court found that a state tax on ships’
bills of lading and a state tax on imports,
respectively, violated the prohibition on state
imposts on imports or exports under Arti-
cle One, Section Ten, not the Commerce
Clause.*® Similarly, the invalidation of the
state law in the State Tonnage Tax Cases
involved impermissible taxes on tonnage un-
der Article One, not impermissible taxes on
interstate or international commerce.?’

In addition to these express constitu-
tional limitations, the Court also used novel
rationales to invalidate laws rather than ad-
dress the federal exclusiveness implications
of them. In Crandall v. Nevada, the Court
gestured toward Cooley by expressly noting
that a tax on people exiting the state “does not
itself institute any regulation of commerce
of a national character, or which has a
uniform operation over the whole country,”
but instead found that the tax unconstitu-
tionally frustrated the military necessities of
the federal government and violated the right
of a U.S. citizen, whatever his state, to live
under a common national government.*® This
was too much for the two dissenters. Justice
Clifford, joined by Chief Justice Chase, wrote
separately to express the view that the tax was
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also “inconsistent with the power conferred
upon Congress to regulate commerce among
the several States....”3? Justice Clifford was
the first post-Cooley Justice appointed by a
Democratic President (Buchanan) to find that
federal exclusiveness should invalidate a state
law.

The Court invalidated a city tax on ferry
boats in St. Louis v. The Ferry Company be-
cause it found that the tax had extraterritorial
application and was, therefore, “beyond the
jurisdiction of the authorities by which the
taxes were assessed.”*® As it had in Crandall
v. Nevada, the Court used a novel rationale to
invalidate a plainly unconstitutional state law
in order to avoid the issue of federal exclu-
siveness: specifically in the Ferry Company
case, to interpret state-enabling legislation to
forbid extraterritorial taxation. Despite the
fact that the Ferry Company had argued
(“ably and learnedly,” according to the Court)
that the tax was an improper burden on inter-
state commerce, the Court expressly declined
to offer an opinion on the issue.*!

Andrew Johnson has been called the
last Jacksonian President.*> With the election
of his successor, Ulysses S. Grant, to the
presidency in 1868, a period of sixteen years
of uninterrupted Republican control of the
presidency began. As Grant appointed more
Republicans to the Court, a division on
the Court between the holdover Jacksonian
Democrats and the newcomer Republican
Justices began to appear. In 1871, in Ward v.
Maryland, the Court majority found that a tax
levied against out-of-state traveling salesmen
violated the privileges and immunities of out-
of-state residents.*> However, in making this
determination, the Court avoided the clear
interstate commerce implications of the law
in Ward so much that Justice Bradley, a
Republican and the Court’s newest member,
authored a concurrence in which he offered
that the tax also, in his judgment, violated
the Commerce Clause. Bradley argued that
the tax discriminated not just against out-of-
state sellers but out-of-state goods, meaning

that even if the tax had applied to resident
sellers of out-of-state goods it would violate
the Commerce Clause.**

At its most pro-national, the Court’s
basis for invalidation involved a finding of
a “hybrid” constitutional violation: federal
exclusiveness as well as some other more
positive constitutional or statutory prohibi-
tton. For instance, in Steamship Co. v. Port-
wardens, without invoking Cooley, the Court
found the state law to be an impermissible
state regulation of foreign commerce as well
as an unconstitutional duty on tonnage.*?

What is clear from the cases is that
if the Court majority had any basis for
invalidating a law clearly burdening interstate
commerce besides federal exclusiveness it
seized upon it—to the point of simply in-
venting constitutional guarantees in Crandall
or by practicing constitutional avoidance in
the Ferry Company case. To the extent these
decisions further developed the Cooley prin-
ciple of federal exclusiveness as a restriction
on state laws, they showed how deliber-
ate the Court could be in avoiding such a
finding.

While it goes too far to suggest that
the Court abandoned the Cooley framework
during the first two decades, the Court ap-
pears to have operated not just within the
framework but often alongside it. It is clear
that the Court used Cooley’s doctrine to
empower states, but not to disempower them.
The Court was willing to disempower states
on different constitutional theories, just not
federal exclusiveness. According to David
Currie, “Cooley’s dictum finally established
that the commerce clause sometimes limited
state power. When Taney died in 1864, how-
ever, no one could yet say confidently that the
Court had ever found an instance in which
it did.”*® It was merely dictum for a long
time.

Almost 60% of the Court’s interstate
commerce decisions between 1852 and 1872
were decided in favor of the state. The Court’s
most likely decision in any such case (36.3%)



16 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

TABLE 1: Summary of the Twilight of the State-Centric System (1852-1872)

n %
Decisions Upholding State Laws
Outcome 1: State Exclusiveness 8 (36.3)
Outcome 2: Concurrent Rights 5 (22.7)
Decisions Invalidating State Laws
Outcome 3: Federal Exclusiveness 0 (0.0)
Outcome 4: Statutory Preemption 2 (09.0)
Other Constitutional Provisions/Hybrid 7 (3L.8)
Total 22

was to resolve it in favor of the state on
Cooley’s state exclusiveness basis. In these
cases, the challenged states’ laws were held
to be within the exclusive state sphere of
action—actions found not to “regulate” or
even affect interstate commerce.

This tendency resembles what is gener-
ally understood about the Taney Court and
demonstrates the persistence of the Jackso-
nian view of interstate commerce even into
the 1870s. In this view, states are the nation’s
principal policy-making actors, even in mat-
ters seemingly entrusted to Congress. States
are presumptively empowered to act unless
some explicit legal prohibition is placed upon
them. This explains why the Taney-era in-
validations were almost always rooted in the
few positive and express disempowerments
placed on states in the Constitution, not on
the negative implication of the Commerce
Clause. This was indeed an era of strict
constructionism.

As it turned out, however, state centricity
as a doctrinal trend was indeed at its twilight
for the Court. The federal judicial personnel
were changing rapidly in this era of emerging
Republican political dominance, as was the
economy itself. At the same time, the number
of Commerce Clause cases before the Court
increased from an average of just over one per
term before 1873 to over three per term after.
Further, the tension between the Jacksonians
and the Republicans began to emerge in the
later part of this era, as Republican jurists like
Bradley showed that they were inclined to use
federal exclusiveness under Cooley as readily

as the Constitution’s express limitations on
states.

Period Il: Emerging Nationalism
(1873-1885)

In the short time from the end of
the Civil War to 1873, the Court changed
from solidly Jacksonian Democrat to equally
solidly Republican. In 1870, the Jacksonian
Democrat Robert Grier retired, creating a
vacancy that President Grant filled with a
Republican jurist, William Strong. At about
the same time, the Republican Congress
created a ninth seat on the Court to give Grant
an additional appointment opportunity. Grant
nominated to that seat a prominent railroad
attorney and Republican, Joseph P. Bradley.*’
While Justices nominated by Lincoln had
controlled the Court since 1865, with the
March of 1870 Bradley confirmation, the
Court had a majority of avowedly Republican
Justices for the first time. Two years later,
Grant had the opportunity to fill another
Court vacancy and placed another known Re-
publican, Ward Hunt, onto the Court. Lastly,
in 1874, Grant appointed Morrison Waite
to the Chief Justiceship. These four Grant
appointees joined Justices Swayne, Davis,
and Miller to form a seven-member bloc of
known Republicans on the Court. The lone
remaining Democrat at the time Waite’s Chief
Justiceship began was Stephen Field—a pro-
union Lincoln appointee.

Given Grants unstated desire to put
pro-business Republicans on the bench, and
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Justice Joseph P. Bradley, appointed by Republican
President Ulysses S. Grant, was an early proponent of
federal exclusiveness under Cooley.

perhaps sensing that the future was bright
for the Republican constitutional project, the
Republican-dominated Congress approved
substantial salary increases for the Justices in
1871 and again in 1873—to keep former rail-
road attorneys like Strong and Bradley happy
with the much less lucrative life of a judge.

Cooley Rediscovered

Toward the end of Chase’s tenure, in
March 1873, the Court issued its opinion in
the Case of the State Freight Tax, a case in
which the Cooley doctrine was unequivocally
applied to a tax laid directly on articles
of interstate commerce.*® In overturning the
decision of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court,
the Court found that the direct taxation of
articles of interstate commerce at issue—
in this case, rail shipments of coal passing
through the state—could only be done “by
exclusive legislation of Congress.” There-
fore, Pennsylvania’s tax on freight in the
form of coal was unconstitutional. After
articulating the part of the Cooley doctrine
concerning commercial subjects that by their

nature require uniform national treatment
by Congress, Justice Strong, for the Court,
offered the following observations:

Surely transportation of passengers
or merchandise through a State, or
from one State to another, is of this
nature. It is of national importance
that over that subject there should
be but one regulating power, for if
one State can directly tax persons
or property passing through it, or
tax them indirectly by levying a
tax upon their transportation, every
other may, and thus commercial
intercourse between States remote
from each other may be destroyed.
The produce of Western States may
thus be effectually excluded from
Eastern markets, for though it might
bear the imposition of a single tax,
it would be crushed under the load
of many. It was to guard against
the possibility of such commer-
cial embarrassments, no doubt, that
the power of regulating commerce
among the States was conferred
upon the Federal government.*’

In the twelve years that followed the
State Freight Tax decision, from the re-
mainder of 1873 through the end of 1885,
the Court invalidated sixteen state actions
in forty opportunities to do so, the highest
rate of invalidation of states’ laws for any
twelve-year period in the Court’s history
up to that time.’® The reasons laws were
either upheld or invalidated varied somewhat,
but in making its decisions the Court in-
creasingly looked to the Cooley framework
and to federal exclusiveness specifically. The
Court demonstrated a much greater inci-
dence of federal exclusiveness findings after
State Freight Tax. Of the sixteen invali-
dations, ten may be interpreted as having
been solely based upon principles of federal
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exclusiveness.’! Only three were based upon
preemption by federal law, while three others
can be considered hybrid, with a Commerce
Clause rationale coupled with some other
constitutional limitation on a state.’? Virtu-
ally as soon as Grant’s Republican voting
bloc was in place, the Court began to use
the Cooley framework to invalidate state laws
that touched on what they determined to be
exclusive national matters.

In 1875, in Henderson v. New York
and its companion case, the Court applied
Cooley to invalidate state taxes on incoming
ship passengers, finding that the matter of
admission of passengers from other countries
is “national in character” and, therefore, to be
regulated only by “a uniform system or plan”
put in place by the federal government.*
Applying Henderson eight years later, the
Court rejected yet another New York attempt
to tax incoming ship passengers in People
v. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique.’* In
cases such as these, according to Owen Fiss,
the Court rejected the Jacksonian notion that
simply because a state law was designed as
a police measure, it does not amount to an
impermissible regulation of commerce.>

In Welton v. Missouri, speaking through
Justice Field, the Court invalidated a Missouri
law that required a license only for dealers
in goods “which are not the growth, produce,
or manufacture of the State....””*® The Court
in Welton did not explicitly rely upon (or
even cite) Cooley, but the Court strongly
suggested a federal exclusiveness rationale
for its action, relied upon nationalist Marshall
Court decisions, and supported its decision
with the State Freight Tax case. For the Court
in Welton, congressional inaction concerning
the goods in question “is equivalent to a
declaration that inter-State commerce shall
be free and untrammeled.”’ Similarly, in
Guy v. Baltimore, the Court invalidated a
city fee charged for using a city wharf
that by its terms fell only on carriers of
products not originating from the State of

Maryland. The Court explained the general
rule:

{I]t must be regarded as settled
that no State can, consistently with
the Federal Constitution, impose
upon the products of other States,
brought therein for sale or use,
or upon citizens because engaged
in the sale therein, or the trans-
portation thereto, of the products of
other States, more onerous public
burdens or taxes than it imposes
upon the like products of its own
territory.>®

The Court found that the law was “in
conflict with the power of Congress over the
subject of commerce.”>® The Court used the
rationale of Welton to invalidate a Texas tax
on the sale of out-of-state liquors and beers
in Tiernan v. Rinker®® in 1880 and a Virginia
license on out-of-state goods in Webber v.
Virginia®' in 1881,

In Railroad Company v. Husen, the
Court invalidated a Missouri law prohibiting
the introduction of certain breeds of cattle
into the state, on the theory that the law
was “a plain intrusion upon the exclusive
domain of Congress.”®> The Court further
admonished that it was the “duty of the courts
to guard vigilantly against any needless
[state] intrusion” on interstate commerce.%3
For the Court, how a state characterized its
regulation was unpersuasive—the effect of
the regulation was the primary focus. Did the
regulation infringe upon national commerce,
such that a regulation of the type better fell
within the province of Congress?

In Foster v. Master and Wardens of the
Port of New Orleans, the Court found that a
state law that required all ships arriving in
the port of New Orleans to make a survey
of the hatches and of any damaged goods on
board violated the Commerce Clause.® The
Court found that these requirements were
“regulations of both foreign and inter-state



COOLEY V. BOARD OF WARDENS 19

Traveling salesmen were the subject of much discriminatory state legislation in the 1870s that allowed the Court
to advance the application of Cooley federal exclusiveness.

commerce” and a “clog and blow to all
such commerce in the port to which they
relate” whose “enactment involved a power
which belongs exclusively to Congress, and
which a State could not, therefore, properly
exercise.”®® Another Louisiana law, requiring
that all trains coming through the state not
practice racial segregation in their accom-
modations, was held to violate the Com-
merce Clause in Hall v. DeCuir.%® Because
the law required certain adjustments to be
made out of state in order to integrate the
passengers on board for purposes of travel
in Louisiana, the Court found that it placed
a “direct burden” on interstate commerce so
as to “encroach upon the exclusive power of
Congress.”®’

In an 1882 case, Telegraph Co v. Texas,
the Court struck down a Texas tax on any
telegraph message sent from the state, on
the finding that the tax burdened interstate
telegraph messages the same way that the tax
on freight burdened interstate coal shipments
in State Freight Tax.%® The Court further
relied upon principles of national supremacy

because the tax also applied to the federal
government’s messages.

Beginning with State Freight Tax in 1873
and continuing for twelve years thereafter,
in marked contrast to the first decades after
Cooley, one-fourth of all cases heard were
resolved primarily on federal exclusiveness
grounds. This rationale was the most fre-
quently occurring basis (62.5%) for an in-
validation. The Court was sharply increasing
its tendency to find in favor of federal exclu-
siveness at the expense of all other rationales
for rejecting state action. With the strong
language of the State Freight Tax opinion
setting an opening tone, this line of cases
must have sent a powerful, pro-national mes-
sage to lower courts to—in the Court’s words
in Husen—do their duty. Whereas inferior
courts and state legislators prior to 1873
might have found ample room to maneuver
in their decision-making given the Court’s
reluctance to invoke federal exclusiveness,
and its seeming tendency toward state exclu-
siveness, afterward, the Court made plain that
it was the duty of courts “to guard vigilantly”
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TABLE 2: Summary of the Period of Emerging Nationalism, 1873-1885

n %
Decisions Upholding State Laws
Outcome 1: State Exclusiveness 13 (32.5)
Outcome 2: Concurrent Rights 11 (27.5)
Decisions Invalidating State Laws
Outcome 3: Federal Exclusiveness 10 (25.0)
Outcome 4: Statutory Preemption 3 (0.075)
Other Constitutional Provisions/Hybrid 3 (0.075)
Total 40

against state regulations of interstate com-
merce using all of the tools that the Cooley
framework provided.

The trend in the Court’s decisions up-
holding a state law shifted as well. As in
the pre—State Freight Tax period, the highest
percentage of the cases favoring the state was
decided on the ground of state exclusiveness,
but that likelihood had fallen from one period
to the next. Concurrent regulatory right had
taken on relative parity with state exclusive-
ness, suggesting that the Court broadened
its notion of what is interstate commerce
for the purposes of whether state regulation
affected such commerce. This shift toward
a concurrent rights theory of commercial
regulation was significant in the development
of Cooley. It set the table for a more seam-
less transition in doctrine if circumstances
changed. Action deemed as permissible state
action because it merely “affects” interstate
commerce might more easily be recharacter-
ized as “burdening” interstate commerce as
the nature and extent of interstate commerce
continued to develop. Equally important, an
expansive notion of interstate commerce also
served as an invitation to Congress to pre-
empt such state regulations. It opened up the
field of federal action in a way that state
exclusiveness findings did not.

Federal exclusiveness aligned with the
preferences of the postwar Republican Party
in the same way that state exclusiveness had
fit the Jacksonian Democrats. While Jack-
sonians had preferred regulation of business
enterprise at the level closest to the people,

Republicans preferred no such regulation
by any level of government. Historians of
the era have noted the shift in Republican
policy priorities in the mid-1870s, away from
federal action protective of civil rights for
African Americans and toward federal pro-
tection of corporate interests.®® In their ap-
plication of Cooley, the timing of Republican
judicial behavior appears to be consistent
with this thinking. Moreover, it was the case
that a finding that some commerce was to
be exclusively regulated by Congress was,
for all practical purposes, tantamount to a
declaration that the commerce go unregulated
entirely. Republican members of Congress
were not eager to exercise federal control
over interstate commerce; except in the case
of liquor, they wanted commerce to be free of
all regulation.

Lastly, the statistical division between
upholding and invalidating decisions (60%-—
40%) remained the same from one period
to the next. Laws continued to come to
Court with a fairly strong presumption of
constitutionality—then, as now. State exclu-
siveness was still the rationale the Court used
most frequently, and it upheld 32.5% of all
challenged laws on that basis. Concurrent
rights was the second most frequent finding
at 27.5%. The Court’s judicial review of state
laws changed qualitatively—as the 40% of
state laws that failed to survive Court review
in the Period of Emergent Nationalism were
invalidated for entirely different reasons than
had been used by the Jacksonians—but not
necessarily quantitatively.
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Period Ill: Period of Nationalism
(1886-1891)

In October 1886, the Court issued one
of the truly landmark decisions of the
era: Wabash, St. Louis & Pacific Railway
Company v. Illinois.”® In 1871, the State of
IHinois had enacted a railroad regulation that
required a railroad to charge the same rate
per passenger or for freight regardless of the
distance of the route. The Supreme Court
of Illinois had upheld the law—which was
intended to prevent the notorious discounts
given by railroads to long-haul customers—
on the theory that the regulation could easily
segregate a route to cover only that part
within the state. When the railroad appealed
the ruling to the Supreme Court, counsel for
the state admitted that the statute affected
interstate commerce (as it applied, even if
apportioned, to routes originating in Illinois
but extending out to other states), and argued
that the regulation was of the type that might
be preempted by federal law but should be
permitted to exist until Congress acted. The
Court itself had said in many cases, the
state argued, that not everything a state does
that affects interstate commerce “regulates”
interstate commerce within the meaning of
the Constitution. Illinois relied primarily on
four rate-regulation cases from the 1870s
wherein the Court had upheld the regulations
at issue.

The Court, speaking through Justice
Miller, conceded that the Court had previ-
ously classified rate regulation as a concur-
rent state right—“as belonging to that class
of regulations of commerce which, like pi-
lotage, bridging navigable rivers, and many
others, could be acted upon by the states, in
the absence of any legislation by Congress
on the same subject.”’! At the same time,
Justice Miller deprecated these precedents.
In these cases, according to Justice Miller,
though “the question of the exclusive right of
Congress to make such regulations of charges
as any legislative power had the right to make,

to the exclusion of the states, was presented, it
received but little attention at the hands of the
Court and was passed over with the remarks
in the opinions of the Court which have been
cited.””? Miller made clear that if the Court
had these cases to do over again, it might
more closely consider the question of federal
exclusiveness.

Justice Miller, a Lincoln appointee,
noted that only three members of the Court’s
majority in those 1870s cases, himself in-
cluded, remained on the Court to hear
Wabash.” It was only fair that the Court’s five
newest Justices—all Republicans—be given
a chance to consider the question of federal
exclusiveness over rate regulations. Miller
expressed seeming remorse for his own role
in the 1870s precedents that Illinois had
relied upon and that the Court was about
to overturn. Justice Miller then moved to
two of the federal exclusiveness opinions of
the prior period pertinent to railroad activity:
State Freight Tax and Hall v. DeCuir. The
Court found that the federal exclusiveness
rationales in those cases—one concerning the
taxation of freight, the other the regulation of
rail passenger compartments—applied with
equal force to the Illinois rate law. The Court
held: “It cannot be too strongly insisted upon
that the right of continuous transportation,
from one end of the country to the other,
is essential in modern times to that free-
dom of commerce, from the restraints which
the states might choose to impose upon it,
that the commerce clause was intended to
secure.””* The Court continued:

And it would be a very feeble and
almost useless provision, but poorly
adapted to secure the entire freedom
of commerce among the states
which was deemed essential to a
more perfect union by the framers
of the Constitution, if, at every stage
of the transportation of goods and
chattels through the country, the
state within whose limits a part of
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this transportation must be done
could impose regulations concern-
ing the price, compensation, or tax-
ation, or any other restrictive regu-
lation interfering with and seriously
embarrassing this commerce.”

Three Justices dissented, arguing that
the regulation could be sustained on the
concurrent rights rationales offered up in
the precedents relied upon by the state of
Illinois. Among the dissenters was Justice
Bradley, who was among those responsible
for the revival of Cooley as a dissenter from
the state-centric views of the Jacksonians.
Bradley was not comfortable undoing the
supposedly careful balance struck between
federal and state power in the prior era—
Emerging Nationalism.

In this respect, Justice Bradley pre-
sciently sensed the near future. In repudiating
these very recent precedents, the decision in
Wabash seemed to mark a clean break from
the prior period, where federal exclusive-
ness had emerged with full force after State
Freight Tax but a good degree of deference
still had been given to states. In seeming to
overturn or at least diminish four such cases
that the state of Illinois had relied upon to
act, the Court was charting an even more pro-
national course for itself. The wide language
of Wabash seemed to speak preemptively
against any state impositions on railroads that
operated on an interstate basis. In fact, the
case had such federal exclusiveness force that
it prompted Congress to enact the Interstate
Commerce Act of 1887—the first federal
regulation of interstate commerce as such.”®

Wabash did indeed set the tone for a
new judicial dispensation under Cooley. In
the period beginning in 1886, the year of
Wabash, and for the five years following, the
Court heard forty-three cases on state regu-
lation of interstate commerce and overturned
the state law in more than half (55.8%).
Robert McCloskey has indicated that the
“tempo of [federal exclusiveness] decisions

increased still further” after Wabash, and
that “the states’ power to tax and regulate
business was more and more constrained by
the doctrine that national commerce must be
controlled nationally....””” But it was more
than a simple picking up the pace in applying
federal exclusiveness compared to the prior
era. Statistically, challenged state laws were
more likely than not to be invalidated in this
period. This rate of invalidation almost com-
pletely reversed the pattern of the previous
two periods, where, as has been indicated, the
proportion had been 60% in favor of states in
each era.

More importantly to the legacy of Coo-
ley, the Court relied upon the federal ex-
clusiveness principle in twenty-two of these
twenty-four invalidations. In fact, for the
first time, a federal exclusiveness invalidation
was statistically the most likely outcome in
any case of purported state regulation of
interstate commerce. Furthermore, the Court
was two times as likely to use federal exclu-
siveness to invalidate a state law (51.1%) as it
was to use state exclusiveness to uphold a law
(25.5%). The Court was not merely applying
federal exclusiveness more often, but most
often.

In only two of the invalidations did the
Court need to resort to a finding that the state
action in some way was preempted by the
exercise of federal power. The Congress of
this era was not busy legislating on matters
of interstate commerce. Notably, for the first
time in the eras examined in this study, the
Court did not resort to hybrid theories or
to other constitutional limitations on states
in order to achieve such a high rate of
invalidation. The most pro-national of the
Cooley-based outcomes, federal exclusive-
ness, dominated.

The Court continued in the Wabash,
State Freight Tax, and Hall v. DeCuir line of
cases prohibiting many, but not all, state im-
positions on railroads. In two cases, the Court
struck down state taxes on Pullman cars
involved in interstate commerce but in two
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During a period of nationalism, industries in the post-Civil War economy, such as railroads, were often specially

protected in the Court's application of Cooley.

other cases upheld taxes on railroad property
apportioned to cover only property falling ex-
clusively within the state.”® In all, the Court
invalidated five actions taken by states against
railroads on federal exclusiveness grounds,”
invalidated an additional one on statutory
preemption grounds,®” and upheld seven
other actions challenged by railroads.®' In the
seven upholding decisions, the Court found
in six of the cases that the state action was an
appropriate police measure (Outcome 1),
while in the one other the Court found the
regulation to be a proper local regulation of
interstate commerce (Outcome 2).%* In Smith
v. Alabama, for instance, the Court held that
a state could license locomotive engineers
as a police measure even if such engineers
were engaged in interstate commerce.®® In
Nashville, Chattanooga, and St. Louis Rail-
road v. Alabama, the Court held that the regu-
lation of a railroad employee’s conduct while
he was passing through the state was a proper
local regulation of interstate commerce.®
Beyond the railroad context, the Court
continued in the line of cases begun in the

decade before concerning state discrimina-
tions against out-of-state goods and mer-
chants. In thirteen cases after Wabash, the
Court found a particular state treatment of
out-of-state goods, corporations, or agents
to be discriminatory and, thus, in violation
of the Commerce Clause. This included in-
validating state inspection laws long thought
to have been within the state’s authority in
the shipping context.®® During this period,
in only three cases in which discrimination
against out-of-state interests was alleged did
the Court side with the state.®” In one, the
Court upheld a grazing ban that applied
only to “Texas cattle” as a proper local
police regulation of interstate commerce.®®
Two others involved the most contested ter-
rain of the era: liquor regulation. The Court
of the period was—despite its nationalist
tendencies—deferential to states in the mat-
ter of police power over liquor, holding that
the state may ban the manufacture or (re)sale
of all liquor, including that of out-of-state
origin.®? However, when a state attempted to
ban or tax out-of-state liquor while it was still
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TABLE 3: Summary of the Period of Nationalism, 1886-1891

n %
Decisions Upholding State Laws
Outcome 1: State Exclusiveness 11 (25.5)
Outcome 2: Concurrent Rights 8 (18.6)
Decisions Invalidating State Laws
Outcome 3: Federal Exclusiveness 22 SLD)
Outcome 4: Statutory Preemption 2 4.6)
Other Constitutional Provisions/Hybrid 0 0.0)
Total 43

in its original package, the Court invalidated
the law.*

Overwhelmingly, a finding of federal ex-
clusiveness was the most likely outcome in a
case of state treatment of out-of-state goods,
dealers, or corporations. The Court also used
federal exclusiveness to invalidate three reg-
ulations burdening telegraph companies. Two
of these laws involved unapportioned taxes
on a telegraph company’s gross receipts.’!
The third was a regulation that telegraphs
be sent “in a timely manner.”®? In another
case, the Court held that a state license
requirement placed on a telegraph company
conflicted with a company’s federal license
to operate.”® No state regulations of telegraph
companies per se were upheld in the period,
federal exclusiveness prevailed entirely in the
telegraph context.

Lastly, the traditional state regulations
of waterborne commerce continued to come
before the Court. The Court held that ship in-
spections and quarantines,” generally appli-
cable lock-and-dam tolls,” wharfage fees,’®
and fishing regulations,”” were all proper
local regulations of interstate commercial
carriers. The Court as late as 1885 held,
per precedent, that bridges could obstruct
navigable rivers so long as Congress had not
acted to protect the river’s commerce.”® In
fact, none of the invalidations of the Wabash
period involved waterborne commerce.

This points to an important observa-
tion. Republican use of federal exclusive-
ness primarily extended to the industries
dominant in the post-Civil War economic

order: railroads, the industries (like coal)
that were dependent on railroads, traveling
sales, multistate business arrangements, and
telegraphs. The Court was content to allow
Jacksonian rationales of state exclusiveness
or concurrent right to continue to govern
the commercial vestiges of the Jacksonian
economy. In fact, in vigorously protecting
railroads but not waterborne commerce from
state regulatory efforts, the Court put railroad
interests at a distinct advantage in the compe-
tition for freight business. Another interpre-
tation of these patterns would suggest that the
Republican Justices were merely using the
preexisting doctrine of Cooley to accom-
modate the new realities of an integrated,
commercial, and industrial economy.

Conclusion

Cooley’s doctrine was born of a desire
by Jacksonian Justices to provide a doctri-
nal pathway for states to regulate the com-
merce occurring within their borders. But,
ironically, the long-term legacy of Cooley
was its use to disempower states and to
free up economic actors from governmental
regulation. This legacy was the result of
Republican jurists exploiting the half of the
Cooley doctrine that allowed for exclusive
federal regulatory rights.

Regardless of the era, the Cooley doc-
trine did little to limit judicial discretion
in deciding which regulatory matters were
truly national and which were not. And
regardless of era, the Court often struggled
with this lack of any obvious line of de-
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marcation between incidents of commerce
that are exclusively national and those that
are not. When legal doctrine does not limit
judicial discretion, other factors such as ju-
dicial ideology and partisan loyalty typically
explain decision-making. This is evident in
the history recounted here. In the case of
Cooley, Jacksonian Democratic Justices—
even after the Civil War—tended to find
that almost all matters pertinent to interstate
commerce fell within the exclusive powers of
a state unless some part of the Constitution
expressly limited the state. The principle of
federal exclusiveness, despite its Jacksonian
origins, was avoided at all costs despite the
Court’s willingness to invalidate states’ laws
on other grounds. However, once Republican
Jjurists were added to the Court by Presidents
Lincoln and Grant, federal exclusiveness be-
came a viable principle and was explicitly
used—even embraced. A period of judicial
nationalism ensued and reached its peak by
1890, where federal exclusiveness became
the default finding in commerce cases, not a
result to be avoided.

Lastly, it could be argued that
Republican use of Cooley marks the
beginning of systematic judicial activism
in the Supreme Court. Beyond the outcome
of any one case or series of cases, this may
truly be the long-term legacy of Cooley. We
have in the Cooley framework of state versus
federal exclusiveness a doctrine entirely and
unambiguously of the Court’s creation—
much like the “substantive due process” of
later—that could be mobilized solely for the
purpose of judicial review of state laws and
that—also much like the “substantive due
process” of later—involved ultimately the
application of judicial values, not neutral
legal analysis. Better doctrine—from the
standpoint of neutrality—might have either
denied state powers over interstate commerce
altogether (extreme nationalism) or allowed
state power up to the point of statutory
preemption (extreme concurrent rights). But
to indulge in this second guessing of Cooley

is to wish for a history that did not occur, is
to deny the real intersection of politics and
law, and is to disparage the value of doctrinal
compromise in answer to a difficult, but
perennial, constitutional issue.
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Twenty-One Months of Hell and the
Supreme Court to the Rescue in
McLaurin v. Oklahoma State Regents

Under our federal system, which divides
power between a central authority in Wash-
ington, D.C., and the authorities in the fifty
states, conflicts are bound to arise. No matter
how carefully some powers are delegated to
the federal government and others assigned to
the states, there will inevitably be areas where
both the federal and the state governments
claim primacy and where each insists on
implementing its own policy. When it comes
to describing and analyzing such situations,
we are too often content merely to explore
the legal arguments marshaled by both sides
and the judicial decisions aimed at resolving
the conflict. Not enough attention is given to
the harrowing difficulties faced by those who
have to navigate between state and federal
dictates and who find themselves improvising
measures that they hope will satisfy the
opposing requirements imposed upon them.

Between October 1948 and June 1950,
officials at the University of Oklahoma were

DAVID W. LEVY

faced with just such a difficulty. In January
1948, a sixty-one-year-old African Amer-
ican named George W. McLaurin applied
for admission to the University. He was a
retired professor at Langston University, Ok-
lahoma’s all-black college, he had a master’s
degree from the University of Kansas, and
he hoped to earn a doctorate in Education.!
Langston offered no graduate work whatever,
but the University of Oklahoma, in all of
its fifty-six-year history, had never admitted
a black person. McLaurin and five other
African Americans had been encouraged to
apply by the Supreme Court’s ruling three
weeks earlier in Sipuel v. Board of Regents.?
In that case, the Court declared that be-
cause black Oklahomans had no access to
legal training at a state institution while
whites had studied law at the University for
decades, Oklahoma was obligated, under the
“equal protection” clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment, to provide Ada Lois Sipuel
Fisher the opportunity for a legal education
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substantially equal to that provided to whites.
Rather than admitting her to the University’s
law school, however, the state, desperate
to preserve segregation, flung together in
three weeks a bogus law school for blacks.
Fisher and her National Association for the
Advancement of Colored People (NAACP)
lawyers, led by Thurgood Marshall, returned
to the judicial system, arguing that the two
schools could not possibly be considered
equal. Meanwhile, the six African Ameri-
cans, each hoping to pursue graduate work
in a field not available to them at Langston,
saw in the Sipuel decision enough similarity
to their own circumstances to move them
to apply for admission. The NAACP chose
McLaurin to make the test case.

The segregation of blacks had a long
history in Oklahoma education. It was prac-
ticed in the schools of four of the Five Civ-
ilized Tribes and legalized by the Territorial
Legislature before statehood. Segregation in
schools was enshrined in Oklahoma’s consti-
tution in 1907> and then enforced by the state
legislature. In 1941, lawmakers fortified the
system by mandating harsh daily fines against
any administrator who enrolled a black stu-
dent in a white school (or vice versa),
against any teacher who taught in a mixed-
race classroom, and against any student who
willingly sat in such a classroom.* Never-
theless, McLaurin and his attorneys pressed
their demand for admission through the state
judicial system (unsuccessfully) and into the
federal courts. Finally, on September 29,
1948, the three-judge federal district court
for the western district of Oklahoma, citing
Sipuel, ruled that McLaurin was entitled to be
admitted to the graduate program he desired
as long as Oklahoma offered that program
to whites. The judges declared that those
sections of the 1941 law that levied fines
against administrators, teachers, and students
were unconstitutional in this case. But then,
they added a troubling sentence: “This does
not mean, however, that the segregation laws
of Oklahoma are incapable of enforcement.”

The judges obviously felt that—except in
a case like McLaurin’s, where those laws
infringed upon an individual’s constitutional
rights—overturning the segregation laws of
the sovereign state of Oklahoma was be-
yond their jurisdiction. Thus it happened
that officials at the University of Oklahoma
confronted a federal insistence that McLaurin
be admitted and, alongside it, a state insis-
tence that Oklahoma’s legal system of racial
separation be maintained. Reconciling these
two requirements would not be easy.

On Sunday, October 10, three days be-
fore McLaurin came to Norman to register
for classes, the University’s Board of Re-
gents held a special meeting in the office of
the school’s president, George Lynn Cross.®
There the Regents received for their con-
sideration one of the most bizarre reports
ever presented in any American university.
Cross had asked Roscoe Cate, his financial
vice president, to study and report on the
matter that was on everyone’s mind: how
could the University of Oklahoma admit an
African-American student and still maintain
segregation?

Cate’s report drew a crucial distinction
between “complete” and “partial” segrega-
tion and came quickly to an obvious conclu-
sion: the Regents could, if they wished, im-
plement the complete segregation of McLau-
rin by the second semester; but if he were
to be admitted for the present semester,
“only partial segregation will be possible.”
Complete segregation would entail setting
aside a classroom for his exclusive use and
hiring a qualified teacher at the associate or
full professor level. And even if that difficulty
were somehow overcome, complete segre-
gation would still be virtually impossible.
For example, white graduate students had
access to the book stacks in the University’s
library. To deny McLaurin that access was
to invite further litigation on the ground
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Law student Ada Lois Sipuel Fisher is pictured above with her attorneys Amos T. Hall (left) and Thurgood Marshall
(center), along with NAACP Regional Director Dr. W.A.J. Bullock (right). In January 1948, the Supreme Court ruled
that Oklahoma University must provide equal (yet still separate) facilities for Fisher to pursue her law studies. The
state established a vastly inferior law school for her, which she refused to attend.

that he was not being treated equally. But
how could he exercise that access and still
be separated? Moreover, graduate students
normally participated in seminars that were
deemed an essential part of their education.
How could McLaurin, the only black student
in the College of Education, attend a seminar
under conditions of complete separation?
Then there was the matter of the money.
Hiring a qualified teacher (if one could be
found) would cost $6,000 a year, with another
$1,000 needed to maintain separate facilities.
These expenses had not been anticipated in
the current budget. And then Cate raised the
most alarming possibility of all: “this cost
is for McLaurin only. If other Negroes are
enrolled in other departments, comparable
professors at comparable salaries would have
to be provided.” Cate’s report was almost
too much for the Regents to absorb. In the
end, they agreed that McLaurin be admitted
“under such rules and regulations as to seg-
regation as the president of the University
shall consider to afford Mr. G. W. McLaurin

substantially equal educational opportunities
. and that the president of the Univer-
sity promulgate such regulations.”” In short,
the Regents, unable or unwilling to grapple
with the intricacies of providing segregation,
threw the responsibility to George Cross.
Cross, who thought that the state’s seg-
regation laws were ludicrous, unjust, and em-
barrassing, set about arranging the “disagree-
able details.”® They were simple enough. All
of McLaurin’s classes were to be held in
a room that had an attached “alcove.” He
was to have a desk in the alcove where he
could see the teacher and the blackboard at
a forty-five-degree angle but where he would
be separated from the white students. He
could enter the library stacks at the same
time as white graduate students but was to
have his own table in the library where only
he could sit; he could sit at no other table
and no white student could sit at his. He was
similarly assigned his own table in the student
Union; he could sit nowhere else and no white
student could sit at his table. The “Jug,” a
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snack shop in the Union, was open to him
for lunch between noon and 1:00 PM., and no
white student could eat there during that hour.
A toilet on the first floor of the Education
building was set aside for his exclusive use.
Under such conditions did the University’s
first black student begin his studies.

McLaurin’s enrollment for the first
semester of the 1948-1949 academic year led
inevitably to the dire possibility mentioned in
Cate’s report. Other African Americans, un-
deterred by the grotesque conditions imposed
upon McLaurin, began to apply. By early
February 1949, the University received five
such applications for the second semester.
Each applicant was an Oklahoma citizen and
each was qualified for graduate work. Cross,
at the Regents’ directive, forwarded each case
to attorney general Mac Q. Williamson for
an opinion, and as a result, two additional
African American students joined McLaurin
for the second semester.

Cross regarded the procedure for ad-
mitting black students as “complex” and
“absurd,” and he was not alone in his crit-
icism. A Norman Transcript editorial called
the process “nonsense” and so technical
that “action by the Legislature ... is sorely
needed.”'® On January 29, the State Regents
for Higher Education urged lawmakers to
let qualified black students enter graduate
programs in white schools if those programs
were unavailable at Langston.!! By April,
even Mac Williamson, tired of acting as
the University’s virtual admissions officer,
urged the Legislature to modify the law.'?
Despite the mounting pressure, the politi-
cians delayed for as long as possible any
action that would ease the path of blacks
into white colleges and universities. Finally,
at the end of the session, a lawmaker intro-
duced legislation. In its original form, House
Bill 405 provided that qualified African-
American students desiring a field of grad-

uate study not available at Langston could
automatically enter a state (white) college
or university offering that field. It did not
change the segregation laws but only sus-
pended them in such cases. Although black
students could now enroll in white schools,
they were still to be taught on a segregated
basis. But importantly, the bill let authorities
at the white institutions decide exactly what
measures constituted “segregation.” Cross
left for a trip to Chicago just before the bill
was to be voted on. He was disappointed that
segregation was still required, but he thought
that if he and the Regents could determine
the actual arrangements, the University could
probably live with it.'?

When Cross returned, he learned to his
horror that at the last minute the Legislature
had disastrously amended the bill under pres-
sure from the Senate president. Instead of
letting each white institution define what ed-
ucation on “a segregated basis” required, the
amended bill defined the term to mean “class-
room instruction given in separate class-
rooms or at separate times.”'* The amended
bill was passed by both houses and signed
by the governor on June 11, 1949. Cross
saw instantly that it was unworkable. At
least twenty-five black students were coming
for the summer session. Finding separate
rooms and additional faculty for the dozens
of classes involved—most of them for only
one or two students—was simply impossible.
He told the press that to comply, the Univer-
sity needed $10,000 now and $100,000 by
September. !

A worried Cross turned first to law
professor John Cheadle, whose analysis of
the new law was somber and sarcastic. “I
assume that it will be construed to mean sep-
arate class facilities, separate living quarters,
separate eating provisions (Negroes may not
be eaten by lions or tigers which heretofore
have eaten only white people), and separate
rest rooms, etc.” The astute Cheadle summed
it all up in eleven words: “This 1949 act will
cause us a great deal of trouble.”'® Cross also
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A retired professor at Langston University, Oklahoma’s all-black college, George W. McLaurin had a master's
degree from the University of Kansas and he hoped to earn a doctorate from the Education Department at Oklahoma
University. Because of his race, he had to sit in this segregated alcove in the University's classroom.

wrote to attorney general Williamson for his
opinion: “In your interpretation, please indi-
cate what constitutes a ‘separate classroom.’”
He also asked about “eating facilities, li-
brary facilities, toilet facilities, University
housing, attendance at athletic contests, and
other campus activities.”!” Cross was to call
Williamson’s response “most helpful,”'® but
it was actually a life saver for the University.
Williamson affirmed that House Bill 405 re-
quired that blacks had to be taught in separate
classrooms or at different times. However,
he added, “what constitutes a ‘classroom’ ...
can be more accurately determined by the
governing board or other proper authorities of
said institution than by this office.”'® Cross
and his advisers promptly determined that
if you used ropes or railings to mark off
part of a room, you magically created two
separate rooms where only one had existed
before! Cross had his doubts about whether
the authorities would sit still for this ruse but,

believing that the University had no other
choice, he ordered that barriers and railings
and “Colored Only” signs be placed where
black students would be taking classes.?’ Two
weeks later, his actions were unanimously
approved by the Regents.?!

Senate president Bill Logan was not
fooled by this devious device of dividing
rooms with rails and ropes. On June 18,
a week after the law was signed, he wrote
Cross an angry letter denouncing the scheme
as an obvious “subterfuge,” revealing “scorn
and disrespect” for the Legislature.??> Logan’s
letter was unnecessary. It was clear to Cross,
his assistants, and probably to the Regents
that they were skating perilously on the
edges of legality. Dodging the law’s intent
by the pretense that dividing a room with
railings was enough to make two separate
rooms was a bold step, but as no funds
were forthcoming to implement the “different
times” option, Cross could see no alternative.
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As he remarked to a correspondent, we “have
been walking a ‘tight rope’ in an effort to get
the problem solved in a manner that would be
just and at the same time legal.”*3

v

The new law of 1949 encouraged a
steady stream of black students eager for
graduate work at the University. Some en-
rolled for study on the Norman campus,
while others took classes at the Graduate
Study Center in Oklahoma City. The Center,
part of the University’s Extension Division,
specialized in the various subfields of Educa-
tion, and students there tended to be women
teachers hoping to improve their professional
skills. Naturally, classes at the Center were
segregated.>* At the summer session of 1949,
there were around thirty African-American
students among the 5,100 whites. They were
enrolled in more than forty classes. Approx-
imately half of them did graduate work in
Education, while the others studied various
fields from English to Sociology, from En-
gineering to Home Economics. More than
half were from Oklahoma City, and the others
came from cities and towns across the state.?’
At the start of the 1949-1950 academic year,
there were around fifteen black students on
the Norman campus (among about 12,000
whites) with the same number at the Graduate
Center. By the second semester, at least sixty-
four black students were enrolled—forty-
one at the Graduate Center. The breakdown
by gender was significant: there were only
four men among the thirty-seven women at
the Center. In Norman, there were twenty-
three black students, seven men and sixteen
women. Of these, nineteen (including George
McLaurin) were taking Education courses.?
It was no longer a rare and startling thing for
white students to encounter a black face on
the campus of the University of Oklahoma.
From McLaurin’s entry in October 1948 to
the end of the 1949-1950 academic year,
the University enrolled close to 150 African-

American students—almost four times as
many women as men (118 to 32) and the vast
majority (probably around 100) in various
subfields of Education. There were as many
as 100 black students at the University in
the summer of 1950, and in the fall semester
of the 1950-1951 academic year as many
as sixty-four could be found on the Norman
campus. By October 1950, the University had
accepted for admission 231 African Amer-
icans, and by July 1951 that number had
reached 314, although many of those who
were accepted never actually enrolled. %7

The arrival of McLaurin and these
dozens of other black men and women forced
both those long-suffering students and the
University itself to face problems for which
there were no precedents. These problems
required hard decisions and produced em-
barrassing incidents; for the students they
led to discrimination, hardships, and needless
humiliations that it would be difficult to
overestimate. For twenty-one months, school
officials had to invent policies that steered
the University between demands of the state’s
segregation laws and those of the federal
courts for equal treatment of African Amer-
icans. The officials stumbled along as best
they could, improvising in areas so far-
ranging and unpredictable that no one in 1948
could have foreseen all the difficulties that
lay ahead or imagined the contortions that
would be required. One thing is certain. John
Cheadle’s remark to Cross (“this 1949 Act
will cause us a great deal of trouble”) had
been prophetic.

v

The basic physical adjustments that were
needed cost considerable effort and some
expense. “Will you please put a ‘Reserved
for Colored’ sign on one of the cubicles in
the women’s restroom in the basement of
the Administration Building,” vice president
Carl Mason Franklin wrote to the head of
the Physical Plant.?® Signs also had to be
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supplied to every department and every class-
room where a black student might be present.
In the rooms to be used by black students,
barriers, railings, ropes, and separated rows
of seats had to be arranged. Usually it was
the back row of the room that was separated
for this purpose, and usually only one student
could be found sitting back there alone.
Problems arose immediately upon the
admission of Orpherita Daniels, one of the
two African Americans joining McLaurin
for the second semester of the 1948-1949
academic year. Her classes were to meet
in a room in the library, but that was a
small seminar room seating “twenty students
around a large conference table,” and it would
be hard “providing segregation similar to
that used with Mr. McLaurin.”*® Some cases
were easier than others. In September 1949,
the dean of Arts and Sciences reported that
the situation in the English Department was
under control: “There is one [black] student
enrolled and he is seated on the back row” in
all his classes “with no white students in these
classes on these rows.” Zoology, however,
was “more complicated” because “there are
three negro students and laboratories are
involved.” In the lecture hall, “the negro
students sit in front on the right hand side
of the teacher with no white students on that
row.” The labs, however, were trickier. In
one of them “negro students [sic] sit on one
side of the laboratory desk with three white
students on the opposite side facing him.”
In the second “the negro student sits in an
area surrounded by the wall and two tables
forming an ‘U’ to separate him from the
white students.” And in the third, the desks
“are arranged around the room against the
wall with students facing the wall. The negro
student in this class is separated from other
students by the sink and a vacant seat.”°
Eating arrangements posed other diffi-
culties. By a curious fact, neither the state
constitution nor its statutory law required
the separation of races at places where food
was served. Legal advisor John Cheadle,

The responsibility for navigating the logistics and
expenses of segregated facilities fell to George Lynn
Cross, president of the University of Oklahoma. Cross
thought the state’s segregation laws were ludicrous,
unjust, and embarrassing, and spelled out the numerous
obstacles to enforcing them to the University’s board.

after a study of the state’s segregation laws,
concluded that “there are no provisions for-
bidding the mixing of races in dining rooms
and hotels.” This omission, Cheadle believed,
was “a sort of blind spot in our law.”3! Evi-
dently, Cross and the Regents were unaware
of this, simply assuming that the mixing
of races in eating places was forbidden.
In January 1950, this error was called to
Cross’s attention by a white undergraduate.
In a note to her, Cross confessed that “I
find that, after investigation, you are right in
your statement that there is no state law in
regard to segregation in public eating places.”
Nevertheless, he wrote, “it was thought best,
apparently, to provide segregation in regard
to all activities associated with education,
and not merely segregate with respect to
classroom activities.”?

The plan that was devised for McLaurin
to have lunch during his first semester was
continued for the second, when he was joined
by the two other African-American students
present. They were to eat at the “Jug” in the
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Union from noon to 1:00 PM. No whites
could use the place during that hour, and the
African Americans could not use it at any
other time. That arrangement was maintained
during the summer session of 1949, but start-
ing on June 30, two tables in the “Jug” were
set aside for black students. At first, the tables
were separated by a chain, but after “constant
publicity regarding rails and chains,” the
chain was removed and signs indicating that
the tables were reserved were added.®? In
early 1950, the “Jug” was closed, and black
students were allowed to eat either at the
Union cafeteria or at the cafeteria at the Wil-
son Center dormitory. At both places, they
could go through the lines with the whites,
but then they had to carry their trays to des-
ignated tables, at which no whites could sit.

Anyone who thought that this simple
arrangement would settle the matter of pro-
viding food for African Americans was naive.
A string of incidents soon complicated the
business of human beings eating food. On
April 16, 1948, Roscoe Cate got a nervous
letter from the director of University Hous-
ing. The woman in charge of the dormitory
cafeteria reported that W. H. Smith of the
Art Department brought into the cafeteria
“a negro man as his guest today.” Luckily,
“there was no incident or undue excitement”
by the students eating there. Nevertheless, the
superintendent “was considerably perturbed
over the affair since she hardly knew what to
do about the matter.” The director begged for
a “definite statement of policy” because he
thought (erroneously) that “it is entirely pos-
sible that the segregation laws of Oklahoma
would prohibit our serving white people and
colored people in the same room.”>* The
problem was referred to Cheadle, who replied
that the Legislature prohibited the mixing
of students, “but if the negroes are merely
visiting the school or are there not as students
but as invitees ... that prohibition does not
apply.”3’

The hair-raising emergency caused by
Smith and his guest occurred on school prop-

erty. Most of the trouble, however, involved
use of the Memorial Student Union. That
building had been erected by a massive fund-
raising campaign in the mid-1920s and no
public money had been used. The Union was
governed by a nonprofit corporation sepa-
rate from the University. Union policy was
made by a board of governors consisting of
prominent alumni living all over the country,
with the day-to-day affairs of the building
entrusted to a board of managers.3®

There was strong sentiment on the part
of some important alumni, whether or not
members of the Union’s Board of Governors,
to resist desegregation and keep things the
way they had always been. The Governors
knew that there would be black students
on the campus, but some of them felt that
those students should be “furnished only such
facilities as are necessary for ... obtaining
an education.”®” Tom Carey, a respected
leader of the alumni association and twice
its president, ventured an opinion on blacks
using the Union in a letter written the same
week as McLaurin’s arrival for his first class.
As access to the Union depended on paying
annual fees, Carey wrote, “I would simply
refuse to permit the collection or to accept
fees collected for the use of these premises
by any persons other than white students
or students of Indian blood.” Carey insisted
that the absolute ban he was proposing arose
“not from any animosity of the Negro,”
but “because I believe the usefulness of the
Union facilities will cease if it is opened to
the Negro race.”®

On December 11, 1946, long before
McLaurin’s arrival, the University hosted a
short course at the Union on the classroom
use of audio-visual equipment. Among those
attending were three faculty members of
Langston’s Education Division. A dinner was
planned to conclude the course and the three
from Langston bought tickets. The Union
refused to serve them. It was, of course,
humiliating to the three teachers but also
to authorities at the University. When Cross
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learned of the incident, all he could do was
tell the director of short courses that in the
future he should “frankly explain ... that the
Oklahoma Memorial Union will not serve
Negroes and that there are some luncheon or
dinner meetings included in the conference to
which Negroes cannot be invited.” He also
told the director to be more careful about
selling dinner tickets to black guests and
advised trying to find locations other than the
Union where black people might be allowed
to eat.’’

In November 1948, the Student Senate
hosted a statewide conference of student
governments. A reception was scheduled for
the end of the conference, and the Union
was advised “that there was a possibility
of both colored and white delegates being
present at the reception.” The lounge was
“tentatively” reserved while the opinion of
the Board of Governors was sought. The
majority of the seventeen Governors voted no
and the reservation was cancelled. Moreover,
“this is official notification that facilities of
the Oklahoma Memorial Union are not to be
booked for assembly of white and colored
students, under present regulations.”® Then
in May 1949, Lawrence Rogers of the Health
Education Department held a conference
called “Spotlight on Health.” After booking
the Union, he told the manager that one
of the participants would be a professor
from Langston. Rogers was told “that the
colored professor would be required to take
a seat aside from the white delegates at the
conference.” But that was not the end of it.
What if Rogers wanted to serve coffee or
refreshments? Would it be possible for the
black professor to be served at a separate
table in the conference room?*' The answer
returned to the manager of the Union was yes.

Finally, on October 11, 1949, the Union’s
Board of Governors gathered in Oklahoma
City for the purpose of “dealing with the
colored student matters.” They arrived at
some definite decisions. The first involved the
campus YMCA and YWCA, both of which

had offices in the Union. The question was
“do negroes have access” to these offices for
“mixed conferences” and counseling [sic]?”
The Governors ruled that “they do not. A
colored student may go to the YM or YW
offices ... but not in mixed groups.” It
was next decided that black students who
wanted to hold a luncheon or a banquet
at the Union could do so “providing they
meet the same priority, minimum number
participating, etc., as do white students.” The
apparent benevolence of that concession was
somewhat mitigated by the Governors’ next
decision: “It was definitely decided that rest
room facilities could not be provided for
colored students in the Union Building.” In
other words, they could have their banquet
but anyone needing to use a bathroom would
have to leave the Union and scurry to another
building. The Governors naturally decreed
“that colored students could not attend social
functions with white students” in the Union.
It was, however, grudgingly conceded, and
grudgingly expressed, “that in case the ne-
groes insist on participating in the use of the
lounge facilities,” a marked chair or divan
could be set aside for them.*?

Vi

Other areas of University life were also
problematic. What about use of the library?
The arrangement made when McLaurin was
the only black student at the University might
serve for one student or even for half a dozen,
but as the black population grew, it was no
longer adequate. Blacks were then allowed to
study in the reference room, but in November
1949, some of them complained that the
noise and confusion inhibited their ability to
study. The librarian said he was aware of the
situation and that “the complaint was justi-
fied,” but limited space and the segregation
policy meant that there was little he could
do. Cross weighed several options and then
ordered that black students could study in the
main reading room at tables marked for their
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In the 1940s, the Oklahoma legislature had mandated harsh daily fines against any administrator who enrolled a
black student in a white school (or vice versa), against any teacher who taught in a mixed-race classroom, and
against any student who willingly sat in such a classroom. Although the law did not specify segregated library
facilities, the University felt it necessary to reserve a separate table in the library for McLaurin.

use, even though reserving places for blacks
would worsen already crowded conditions.*?

What about black students who wanted
to live on campus? The problem was
complicated because virtually no landlord
in town would rent to them. No African-
American student requested campus housing
during the summer of 1949.4 In September,
however, Cross told the Regents that a
black male had done so, and the issue “was
fully discussed.” Once again, the Regents
were at a loss about what to do, and once
again they threw the task to Cross, directing
him to “take such steps as necessary” to
provide housing for black students in units
“substantially equal” to those for whites “but
on a segregated basis.” The Board also asked
Cross to explore the costs for two black
dormitories—one to house fifty men and
one for fifty women.* For the present, black

students were assigned to the prefabs that
had been built just south of the main campus
to take care of the flood of veterans flocking
to the University after the war.*

Black students had arrived at the start of
the legendary football era of Bud Wilkinson,
who was appointed head coach in 1947. His
fabled teams were beginning their astounding
string of fourteen consecutive conference
championships, and enthusiasm for football
reached a fevered pitch, even before the team
won the national championship in 1950. It
was hardly surprising that black students,
like their white counterparts, would want to
attend the games. But how on earth would
it be possible to keep the races separated in
the stadium? Cross raised the matter with the
Regents on July 13, 1949. Admitting that the
problem was difficult because “people are in
much closer proximity to each other in the
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stadium than in classrooms,” he made his
recommendations. Black graduate students,
like whites, were entitled to sit on the fifty-
yard line and each of them was allowed to
purchase a ticket for a spouse. The president
proposed that “a row or rows beginning at
the top of the stadium ... be designated as
required by [the segregation] statute.” These
rows should be separated from those for the
white students, either by leaving empty a
few rows in front of the black section or by
“erecting a temporary solid ‘wall’ behind the
first top row of white students; such wall to
be as high as a person’s head when seated on
the row in front of the ‘wall.”” The Regents
voted for the wall. Cross noted that separate
restrooms in the stadium would be needed.
He also thought it would be a good idea to
“privately instruct the colored students that
they should plan to arrive early and in this
manner try to avoid the surging crowds.”*’

Cross and the Regents knew they were
doing a disreputable and embarrassing thing
in the stadium. This was clear from another
provision that read, “Provide for markers with
adhesive backs that may be put up the morn-
ing of the game and taken down soon after
the game and in this manner avoid as much
as possible publicity and photographs.” Cross
hoped for the “the least possible adverse
publicity.”*® By mid-October, the “wall” had
been pushed back by whites in the row in
front of it by using it as a back rest. Blacks in
the first row complained (justifiably accord-
ing to vice president Franklin, who walked
to the stadium to look) that it had become
extremely uncomfortable for them. Because
there had been “no trouble whatsoever with
respect to Negroes attending football games,”
Franklin favored removing the barrier and
just marking the reserved rows, but as the
Regents had expressed a preference for the
wall in July, the plywood was straightened
and braced.*’

African Americans who wanted to study
medicine or nursing at the University’s
School of Medicine or School of Nursing

in Oklahoma City were simply out of luck.
They could have attended lectures under
the same segregated arrangements as on the
Norman campus, but how could separation
be maintained during such required aspects
of their training as going on rounds or
observing in the operating room or doing the
required number of “scrubs” or participating
in clinical assignments? In the case of stu-
dent nurses, the difficulties, thought the dean
of the Medical School, would be ‘“almost
insurmountable.” Nurses had to live and
take meals in a dormitory, where providing
segregation was next to impossible given the
resources available. Moreover, only thirty-six
beds were reserved for black patients at the
University Hospital. This meant either that
only a few black students could be admitted
to the School or that black nurses would have
to be assigned to care for white patients, and,
according to the dean, “a repercussion by
white patients who were attended by colored
student nurses” might be expected.’® In ad-
dition, as the Hospital provided no outpatient
care for blacks, black student nurses would
necessarily have to serve white patients.’! As
a consequence of these obstacles, no black
student was admitted to medical or nursing
studies until after the Supreme Court had
spoken.>

Vil

Some of the difficulties University ad-
ministrators confronted and some of the
questions they had to decide were so bizarre
and unforeseeable as to defy classification.
They came with the steadiness of hammer
blows:

e November 1946: The American Veterans
Committee, a recognized student group,
wanted to bring the African-American
editor of The Black Dispatch to speak
on campus. Could this be permitted? Yes.
Authorized student groups could hold
meetings and invite speakers and, besides,
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The NAACP chose McLaurin to be a test case “because
he was old and married and dignified and always in a
suit and tie,” says the author. The aim was to mitigate
racist arguments that black men were attempting to
access college campuses to prey on white women.

state law did not prohibit black speakers
from using University facilities.>®

e October 1948: The director of the Guid-
ance Service asked if he could “give the
aptitude test for the American Council on
Education to negroes” in school build-
ings. Yes, provided the test was adminis-
tered on a segregated basis.>*

e QOctober 1948: The director had a second
question. The Guidance Service (with
the State Mental Hygiene Society) ran
a “mobile psychological service.” Black
institutions asked for help. Could they
comply? Yes. Cross approved use of the
psychological service at two all-black
towns.>

e March 1949: A black janitor from Tulsa
asked if he could audit University classes
there. Yes. But he would need to talk to the
Tulsa authorities about classroom seating
or field trips.>

e March 18, 1949: While Orpherita Daniels
was eating lunch in the “Jug,” three
friendly white men and a woman entered
the snack bar and asked for coffee and
milk. They were told that the place was

closed to whites from noon to 1:00 PM.
One of the men was allowed to buy a
sandwich but was told not to eat it there.
He complied, but the group then sat down
and “remained at the table with Mrs.
Daniels throughout the lunch period.” If
this should happen again, how should it
be handled?®’

August 1949: A professor about to teach
a class for black teachers in Oklahoma
City asked whether the regular application
form “would suffice for members of this
class as it does for white enrollees,” or
whether he needed the special form for
blacks as before. He was told that after
House Bill 405, the regular form would
suffice as graduate work in Education was
not available at Langston.’®

May 1949: The Summer Institute for Lin-
guistics held annual sessions in Norman.
Could black students be enrolled for these
courses? Yes, but only if they found living
quarters in Oklahoma City and commuted
to Norman. “The Student Union build-
ing is prepared to provide segregated
food service, but there is no provision
in Norman for segregated housing for
Negroes.”’

October 1949: The University’s American
Legion branch hired Lionel Hampton, the
famous jazz musician and composer, for a
concert and dance after the homecoming
game on October 29. The event was to be
held at a University building south of the
main campus. Ela Mae Reynolds, a black
student who knew Hampton personally,
wanted to attend the event. Could she?
There were three options. One was to
“exclude colored people from attending
the concert.” A second was to “rope off
a section of the floor for them and allow
them to participate in the dancing.” The
third was to admit blacks to the balcony as
“listeners.” The last option was chosen.®
November 1949: The chair of the Psy-
chology Department reported that a black
student wanted to take the Graduate
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Record Exam. “Will you please indicate
how I may handle this situation?” Yes,
the student could take the GRE along
with white students provided that “as
much segregation as possible be provided
consistent with existing personnel and
facilities.”®!

November 1949: Thirty-nine-year-old
Malcolm Whitby, the first black naval
veteran of World War II to enter the
University, was an experienced musician
and bandmaster. He wanted to play in
the University’s marching band. Was this
possible? No. Cross told him that “your
qualifications to participate in this activity
are not questioned ... but the state laws
specify that instruction must be given
to white students and Negroes under
conditions of segregation which cannot
be provided with respect to a marching
band.”6?

December 1949: Mauderie Wilson, one of
the University’s first black students, was
ready to undertake her student teaching.
She applied to the University School and
was told that “at the present time we are
unable to send you a favorable reply.” The
director pledged that she would be told
when it would be possible to accommo-
date her.%?

February 1950: A professor who taught
a popular course in Professional Writing
reported that a black student, already en-
rolled at the University, wanted to take his
course. The course, however, was listed at
the undergraduate level although graduate
students also enrolled. “Am I correct in
believing that negro students are admitted
only for graduate work, and if so what
action should I take on his application?”
Also, if the student is admitted, is segre-
gation still required? The professor was
advised that the student could be admit-
ted. True, black students are admitted onty
for graduate work, but “in a few areas,
undergraduate work has been certified by
the Higher Regents” because such work

is not offered at Langston. It is also
required of black enrollees that the course
in question be directly related to their
desired graduate degree. Of course, “they
should be given specially assigned seats
in order to provide as much segregation as
is consistent with the facilities available.”
Usually, “colored students are seated ei-
ther in the back or to one side.”®*

® April 1950: Prior to McLaurin’s admis-
sion, the Graduate Center gave non-
credit Education classes for black teach-
ers. Back then, the students “were more
interested in the courses than they were in
the credits.” Now, however, some of those
students were enrolled and they wanted
credit in those courses taken before the
University admitted blacks. Can this be
allowed? Yes. “Under the circumstances
... credit should be given if the work done
fully justifies it.”®

e June 1950: If black visitors come for short
courses or conferences, can the University
feed and house them? Yes, it was once
possible only to feed but not to house
them. But as a result of a new judicial
case, they may now be housed in Univer-
sity buildings north of the campus.®®

Vil

Only thirty hours after George McLau-
rin’s very first class—isolated in his “alcove”
and separated from his fellow students in the
library and the Union—Thurgood Marshall,
the lead attorney for the NAACP, boarded
a plane from New York City to Oklahoma
to see what could be done. Ten days later,
McLaurin and his NAACP attorneys returned
to the three-judge federal district court to
request a modification of their order requiring
McLaurin’s admission to the University.®’
They asked only that their client be treated
the same way as any other student. This time,
however, on November 22 the judges decided
against McLaurin because, they said, he was
being afforded the same educational facilities
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as other students. The lawyers announced
immediately that they would appeal to the
U.S. Supreme Court.

The Justices agreed to hear the case, and
they coupled it with other NAACP litigation
arising out of Texas. There Heman Marion
Sweatt wanted entry to the University of
Texas law school. Rather than granting his
wish, the state created a decidedly inferior
law school for black Texans.®® To these
two cases, the Justices joined a third, not
connected to the NAACP, involving segre-
gation and discrimination against a black
passenger in the dining car of an interstate
railroad.®® The Justices heard arguments in
all three cases on April 3-4, 1950, and two
months later, on June 5, they announced their
decisions on all three. In all three, segregation
suffered defeat and in all three the Justices
were unanimous. Jack Greenberg, a young
attorney with the NAACP, called it “a clean
sweep.”’® Across the nation, the foes of
segregation were ecstatic. “June 5, 1950,”
proclaimed the New Republic, “should be
celebrated from now on as a banner day in
the history of American democracy. On that
day, segregation, the greatest social injustice
in America was condemned by the Supreme
Court.”"!

In one way, the decisions were less
than entirely satisfying. The NAACP had
hoped, especially in the McLaurin case, for
an explicit reversal of Plessy v. Ferguson
(1896) and a clear statement declaring that
segregation based on race was unconstitu-
tional even if, as in McLaurin’s arrangements
at the University of Oklahoma, the treatment
of blacks was substantially “equal.” Instead,
the Court chose to decide the issues narrowly,
and in the case of George McLaurin, Chief
Justice Vinson’s opinion appeared somewhat
strained. The Court ruled that once a student
was admitted to a college or university, that
student could not be treated differently from
other students solely on the basis of race.
However, the Court reached that conclusion
not because Plessy was wrong, but because

McLaurin’s separation from the other stu-
dents violated the equal protection of the laws
mandated by the Fourteenth Amendment.
By setting him apart, he was “handicapped
in his pursuit of effective graduate instruc-
tion. Such restrictions impair and inhibit his
ability to study, to engage in discussions
and exchange views with other students, and
in general, to learn his profession”’? The
reluctance of the Court to go all the way
therefore might have occasioned a small tinge
of disappointment in the midst of the wild
victory celebration.

Among the administrators at the Uni-
versity of Oklahoma, however, the sigh of
relief was almost audible. They were mirac-
ulously released from the contortions, the
embarrassing compromises with decency and
justice, that they had been forced to per-
form for nearly two years. Those degrading
“Colored Only” signs that had not already
been removed by sympathetic white students
disappeared within a day or two. Suddenly
black students found that they could sit
wherever they pleased in their classrooms, in
the cafeteria, and at the library. There would
no longer be any question about their right
to University housing. The offensive wall
in the stadium was gone before the season
opener. Ada Lois Sipuel Fisher, after 1,251
days of waiting, had finally been admitted
to the School of Law a year earlier in June
1949. For the ensuing year, she had been
confined to a marked seat in the back row of
the classroom. On June 6, 1950 she marched
to a seat in the first row. “I have not sat in
the back ever since,” she was later to write.
“McLaurin made that possible.”"

The black students on the campus, who
had, of course, been the chief victims of
Oklahoma’s humiliating and unjust segre-
gation laws, were now freed from those
legal restrictions. However, for them and the
thousands of African Americans who would
follow there was still a long way to go.
Informal exclusion and social isolation would
be a part of campus life for many years
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to come, especially in such social activities
as dances, and in the fraternity and sorority
system on campus, but that was a different
matter from state-required separation. It was
not a small thing that, thanks to the nine
Justices of the Supreme Court, black students
and white students could now find their own
ways toward improved social relations and
better understanding.
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Taking Note: Justice Harry A.
Blackmun’s Observations from
Oral Argument about Life, the Law,
and the U.S. Supreme Court

AMANDA C. BRYAN, RACHAEL HOUSTON,

Introduction

On November 4, 1992, the U.S. Supreme
Court heard oral arguments in Bath Iron
Works v. Workers’ Compensation Programs.!
As attorneys presented their arguments, Jus-
tice Harry A. Blackmun, like the entire
nation, had a lot on his mind because the
night before William Jefferson Clinton had
been elected the first Democratic President in
twelve years. While the political implications
of the Clinton victory would be undoubtedly
vast, Blackmun was more concerned with
how it would affect him personally. It was just
days until Blackmun'’s eighty-fourth birthday,
and it suddenly seemed viable for him to
depart and allow the new President to make a
politically and ideologically suitable replace-
ment.

and TIMOTHY R. JOHNSON

Thus, while Blackmun took his (usual)
notes on Christopher Wright’s arguments for
the federal government, Blackmun’s mind,
and his pencil, wandered to how his life might
quickly change. Writing in his characteristic
green pencil, he mused about the implica-
tions of the election, “What do 1 do now.
[R]etire at once, 6/30/93, 6/30/94.” He added,
perhaps nostalgically, “33 years ago today, I
went on the fed bench! Seems like yesterday.
What a privileged experience!”

We know what was going on in Black-
mun’s mind that day only because he was a
habitual note-taker. In fact, as he did in Bath
Iron Works, in almost every case Blackmun
took copious notes about what transpired
during oral arguments. As Linda Greenhouse
wrote in Becoming Justice Blackmun, he
seemed to keep these notes out of “an
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Figure 1. Harry A. Blackmun’s oral argument notes in Bath Iron Workers vs. Workers’

Compensation Programs (1993)

impulse to order [his] world ... It was a
deep impulse that reappeared throughout his
long life.”? While his notes (written with
a traditional gray graphite pencil) focused
mainly on the substance of the arguments,’

Blackmun also wrote in green pencil to indi-
cate comments outside of the legal and policy
substance of the arguments themselves, in-
cluding his musings about politics, personal
life, and a plethora of other thoughts that



46 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

occurred to him while the attorneys argued
their cases.

Blackmun’s oral argument notes con-
tinue to be a treasure trove for scholars,*
Court watchers,” and interested citizens.®
However, his “green notes,” the name we
have given to these more personal reflections,
have been paid far less attention. Our goal
is to provide a better understanding of them
while also providing readers with insights
about the gray notes. Both are of particular
interest for several reasons.

First, they offer a rare glimpse of the
world through the eyes of a Justice who
sat on the Court through some of its (and
the nation’s) most interesting and tumultuous
years of the late twentieth century. Indeed,
Blackmun’s personal insights are one of the
only opportunities scholars have ever had to
peek into the mind of a U.S. Supreme Court
Justice and, as such, they open the Court in a
way our least publicly observable institution
has not yet been open. Second, these notes
add to our understanding of how Justices
reach decisions. For decades, scholars have
used Court outcomes (who wins, who loses,
and why) to infer the factors that influence
Justices’ decisions, particularly their motives
that are the quintessential black box of the
decision-making processes. In a sense, then,
Blackmun’s notes allow us to open that box to
explore his motivations. Third, the notes add
a dimension to scholarly understanding of
the Court in a way that even most historians
cannot provide because these insights come,
quite literally, from Blackmun’s own hand as
he watched law, politics, and history develop
around him over the nearly quarter century he
sat on the bench.

In the crux of the article we utilize
Blackmun’s oral argument notes to elucidate
how he viewed the courtroom proceedings
unfolding in front of him, including his
assessment of the attorneys who appeared
before the Court and his insights about his
colleagues’ behavior. We first explore his
graphite notes (although sometimes his green

notes as well) to better understand Black-
mun’s assessment of the arguments presented
to the Court; we do so to determine whether
these arguments were persuasive to him and
his colleagues and to detail how he thought
his colleagues would decide each case. From
there, we turn more specifically to what
Blackmun’s green notes teach us about the
Court’s oral arguments, its inner workings,
the dynamics between the Justices on the
Burger and Rehnquist Courts, and American
cultural and political history.” Finally, we
utilize Blackmun’s notes as evidence that the
Justices, while certainly the top legal minds
in the nation, are not particularly different
from typical U.S. citizens. For instance, while
listening to arguments, Blackmun sometimes
thought about his favorite baseball team (the
Minnesota Twins), entertained himself and
his colleagues by playing games on his note
paper, and reflected about his health and
impending retirement. These are insights we
believe serve to humanize Blackmun and his
colleagues in an important way. Indeed, law
is made by actual humans who possess fears,
concerns, hobbies, and interests. Blackmun’s
notes therefore help us understand the human
side of the Marble Palace.

Before completing these related anal-
yses, however, we begin by highlighting
the general historical period during which
Blackmun built his legacy, from the history
he lived through beyond the Court to the
transformations he witnessed within the wall
of the nation’s highest court.

Justice Blackmun: Witness to History
Within and Beyond the Marhle Palace

While Justice Blackmun will always be
remembered for his abortion jurisprudence,?
he has left a much less appreciated legacy as
a keen observer and record taker. His archival
papers, publicly available at the Library of
Congress, provide a wealth of insight into
life, law, and the inner workings of the U.S.
Supreme Court.” For more than fifteen years,
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now, they have been an invaluable source of
data and information that have enriched how
political scientists, legal scholars, and histo-
rians understand the inner workings of the
Court. Our goal in this section is not to pro-
vide a comprehensive recap of Blackmun’s
life but, rather, to highlight the extraordinary
events that took place within and outside the
Court during his twenty-four years on the
bench.

Blackmun’s tenure from 1970 to 1994
was a time of great international tumult for
the United States. He joined the bench several
years before the end of the Vietnam War
and stayed long enough to witness the first
Persian Gulf War. He also had a front row
seat to the end of the Cold War and ultimate
downfall of the U.S.S.R. Thus, his years on
the bench were a time of important and
transformative foreign policy for the United
States.

Domestically, Blackmun sat on the High
Court through six presidential elections, in-
cluding the reelection of the President who
appointed him and the election of the Pres-
ident who would ultimately replace him. In
addition, he watched as scandal led to the
resignation of Vice President Spiro Agnew
and as Watergate led to the resignation of
several Attorneys General and ultimately to
the downfall of President Richard Nixon.
Closer to his own bailiwick, Blackmun was
front and center for two of the most hotly
contested Supreme Court nomination battles
in U.S. history: those of Judge Robert Bork
and Justice Clarence Thomas.

Inside the Marble Palace, Blackmun ob-
served a number of historically significant
developments in the law, transformations
of personnel on the bench, and changes
in relationships among his colleagues. His
tenure covered major jurisprudential devel-
opments on a host of landmark issues includ-
ing reproductive rights,'® gender and racial
equality,'! the free exercise and establish-
ment of religion, '? the reinterpretation of the

Court’s long-standing obscenity standard,'?
campaign finance,'* and the death penalty.!>

Beyond legal changes, Blackmun wit-
nessed considerable ideological transforma-
tion on the bench and he often took notes
about these dramatic shifts. During his first
five terms, he watched the retirements of Jus-
tices Hugo L. Black and William O. Douglas,
the final remaining New Deal appointees of
President Franklin D. Roosevelt. As Douglas
and Blackmun sat together in the Courtroom
during their final day as colleagues and
for Douglas’s final oral argument, Blackmun
wrote, “WOD retires today.”'® He then added,
“My last day on this seat,”!” meaning that
he would be moving to a new seat closer
to the center of the bench because more
senior Justices sit nearer the center while new
Justices sit nearer the wings.'®

After Black and Douglas retired, only
two of the Court’s stalwart liberals remained,
Justices William J. Brennan and Thurgood
Marshall.
Douglas’s replacement, John Paul Stevens,
joined the bench. As he sat for Stevens’s first
argument just two months after Douglas’s
departure on January 12, 1976, Blackmun
wrote, “January 1976 Session. JPS #1.71°
This nomination was particularly important
because, while a Republican President (Ger-
ald Ford) nominated Stevens, Stevens, like
Blackmun, moved well to the ideological left
during his long tenure on the bench.?

Maybe more important than Stevens’s
nomination was President Reagan’s first
nomination just six years later. In 1981,
Blackmun watched as the first woman, Jus-
tice Sandra Day O’Connor, donned the black
robe. Oddly, despite Blackmun’s penchant
for noting historically significant events, he
made no mention of O’Connor’s ascen-
sion to the bench.?! Two days later, how-
ever, he did note that she was missing at
arguments.”> While he may have missed
recording O’Connor’s first argument, toward
the end of her first term, Blackmun made

Blackmun also remarked when
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Harry Blackmun ate lunch with Hugo Black (facing backward) on a sunny day in the courtyard at the Supreme Court
shortly before the Alabama Justice stepped down from the bench. When a colleague retired, Blackmun carefully

jotted down the event in his notes.

a prophetic notation about his newest col-
league, predicting in Union Labor Life Insur-
ance Company v. Pireno® that, “This case
may well depend on SOC’s vote.” Of course,
as is now clear, many cases depended on how
she decided.?*

While the ascension of Stevens and
O’Connor did not fully signify a shift of the
Court’s ideological makeup, the movement
toward a more conservative bench took its
most obvious turn when Chief Justice Warren
Burger made it clear that he was retiring after
the 1985 term. His decision became official
on September 26, 1986 when the Senate
confirmed William H. Rehnquist as the new
Chief Justice. Ten days later, on the first
Monday of October, Blackmun kept record
of the change, “OT 1986 WHR, CJ.”*® At
the same time, perhaps the most conservative
Justice to date—Antonin Scalia—joined the
Court in the seat left vacant when Reagan
elevated Rehnquist to Chief. Again, Black-
mun did not mention Scalia’s first day but,

as with O’Connor, he noted the first time
Scalia missed an argument, writing in Meese
v. Keene,2 “AS out.”

Two years later, Justice Anthony
Kennedy became Reagan’s fourth appointee
to the Court after Justice Lewis Powell
retired. It was clear from the very beginning
that Blackmun had a special relationship
with Kennedy. What he and Blackmun had
in common was ostensibly being the third
choice of the appointing President. In fact,
Blackmun often called himself “old number
three” and then suggested to Kennedy—
upon his arrival to the Court—that they were
both “number 3%.”?7 Again, Blackmun did
not make specific note of Kennedy’s first
argument but did write “AK is quiet” during
proceedings on February 22, 1988.%%

The transition to perhaps the most ide-
ologically conservative Court in U.S. history
was complete with the confirmation of Jus-
tice Thomas in the fall of 1991. Thomas took
the bench for the first time on November
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4 and this time Blackmun noted the arrival
of his new colleague. In his shorthand he
wrote, “CT first on bench.”?® During the
second case that day, beginning at 11:05
AM., Blackmun also noticed what would
soon become conventional wisdom about
Thomas. Specifically, he noticed, “No? yet
from CT?% Of course, neither Blackmun
nor anyone else would predict that Thomas
would only ask twelve questions in the time
they sat with each other or that, up until this
point, he would ask a total of just thirty-three
questions (1991-2019).

Now, a quarter-century after his de-
parture from the bench, we take a closer
look at Blackmun’s oral argument notes that
show how, amid these historic events and
Court transformations, Blackmun assessed
what transpired during these proceedings.
We begin, in the next section, by analyzing
how Blackmun assessed the attorneys who
appeared at the nation’s highest court.

Attorney Performance During Oral
Arguments

Before entering into private practice
and ultimately ascending to the federal
bench, Blackmun was an adjunct professor
at St. Paul College of Law (now Mitchell
Hamline School of Law) and for a time at
the University of Minnesota Law School.?!
Perhaps this early career teaching experience
stuck with Blackmun when he joined the
Court because he certainly acted like
a professor in one respect: he regularly
evaluated the oral arguments presented by
each attorney. These grades provide insights
into a number of fascinating questions, such
as the criteria Blackmun used for his grades,
whether these grades indicate who provided
better arguments in a case, whether the
grades indicate who would win, whether
famous attorneys earned higher grades than
their less experienced counterparts, and who
earned the best and worst grades.

Initially, it is important to gain a sense
of how, and on what basis, Blackmun
graded counsel. Throughout many Court
terms, the grades themselves changed as he
employed three different scales: A-F from
1970 to 1974; 1-100 from 1975 to 1977,
and 0-8 from 1978 to 1993.? Ninety-five
percent of Blackmun’s notes discuss the
substantive legal and policy arguments made
by counsel, while only five percent focus
on presentation style or on the Justice’s
personal views of the attorneys.>* Blackmun
was not simply giving grades because he
liked or disliked a particular attorney making
the argument or because he agreed with
the ideological rationale of an argument.
Rather, the correlation between his notes
and the final grades makes it relatively clear
he was grading the substantive arguments
presented.

Blackmun’s own notes support our
claim. Consider what he wrote of former So-
licitor General, Kenneth Starr, “What a Boy
Scout goodie-goodie.”** While this comment
indicates Blackmun may not have thought
much of him personally, Starr still earned
a relatively high grade of 6 on the eight-
point scale.® Blackmun also did not let
his subjective evaluations of the attorneys’
descriptive characteristics influence his grad-
ing. Although he described Vernon Teofan
as “plump” and “loud””*® and Archibald Cox
as “hoarse” and “deaf,”®” both received 6s.
In short, Blackmun seems to have been
genuinely interested in determining whether
an attorney presented a good argument, even
if he wrote less-than-flattering personal notes
about them.

Further, as a supplement to his grades,
Blackmun often commented about the
strength or weakness of each attorney’s
specific arguments. For example, in Florida
Department of State v. Treasure Salvors,*®
he wrote ten substantive comments about
the argument by respondent’s attorney Paul
Horan, who earned a 6, and then noted, “He
makes t most with a thin, tough, case.”*
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Similarly, in First National Maintenance
Corp. v. NLRB,*® Blackmun indicated of
Norton J. Come, the petitioner’s attorney,
who was assigned only a 5, “The argument
has persuaded me to reverse.”*!

While the preceding analysis focuses on
good grades attorneys earned, at times he
also offered harsher evaluations. Of Nebraska
Assistant Attorney General Terry R. Schaaf’s
argument in Murphy v. Hunt*? he noted
“very confusing talk about Nebraska’s bail
statutes.” Schaaf then earned a grade of 4.
Cal Johnson Potter III’s argument in Godinez
43 received a 1.5, with Blackmun
claiming it to be “one of the worst argu-
ments” he had ever heard. Arthur Joel Berger,
Assistant Attorney General of Florida, earned
a 65 out of 100 for his argument in Maness v.
Wainwright** with Blackmun noting, “This
guy for me is a bust.”

It was one thing for Blackmun to have
graded the arguments presented to the Court.
The important question is to what end did
he do so. Did his grades assess who was
the better attorney during argument and does
being the better attorney equate with winning
a case? The answer to both queries is yes;
Blackmun’s oral argument grades correlate
highly with Justices’ final votes on the
merits. Examining the votes of all Justices
who sat with Blackmun, Johnson, and his
colleagues demonstrates that a Justice who
is ideologically predisposed to vote against
the petitioner has a 32.2 percent chance of
supporting the petitioner when the respon-
dent attorney presents oral advocacy that in
Blackmun’s estimation is considerably better
than the petitioner’s argument. By contrast,
the likelihood of voting for the petitioner’s
position increases to 47.6 percent when the
same Justice encounters a petitioner who
outmatches the respondent’s attorney at oral
arguments.*’ It is important to note that John-
son and his colleagues analyzed the votes of
all the Justices who sat on the Court with
Blackmun—rather than just Blackmun’s own
votes. In short, Blackmun’s colleagues were

v. Moran

picking up the same sense of attorney quality
or lack thereof that Blackmun noted privately.
The magnitude of the effect of oral
advocacy is even more pronounced for jus-
tices who are ideologically supportive of an
attorney with the stronger oral argument. A
justice who favors the petitioner ideologically
in a case in which the respondent offers
better arguments has a 64.4 percent chance
of voting for the petitioner but, when the
petitioner provides better oral arguments, this
increases to 85.2 percent.*® The bottom line
is that, just as he did when grading his law
students, decades before joining the bench,
Blackmun had a good eye for arguments.

Flipping the Bench: Attorneys’ Attempts to
Persuade

Blackmun’s copious oral argument notes
certainly indicate he was a very good listener
and that he knew well the attorneys’ positions
in each case he heard. Thus, it is no wonder
the students sometimes persuaded the teacher
to change his mind about a case. While our
focus is on Blackmun, the persuasiveness
of oral arguments is not limited to him,
as other justices have been quite clear that
they sometimes changed how they viewed a
case after argument. Indeed, Rehnquist once
wrote that, “In a significant minority of the
cases in which I have heard oral argument, I
have left the bench feeling differently about
a case than [ did when I came on the
bench.”*’ Systematically, one recent study
reveals that Blackmun actually changed his
votes in some cases based on the arguments
counsel presented,*® doing so just over ten
percent of the time. That he switched at all
suggests that attorneys can, and sometimes
do, utilize their thirty minutes to persuade
justices to change their positions.

Blackmun’s notes provide specific insta-
nces of how he was persuaded by counsel’s
arguments. For example, during respon-
dent’s argument in Allied Chemical & Alkali
Workers of America, Local Union No. 1
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v. Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co.,** he wrote,
“I was on board here B/4 argument but
now definitely lean toward +.”°° Even when
he was “on board” in a case, sometimes
argument helped him rethink his position.
In a 1983 term case, the argument by re-
spondent’s attorney led Blackmun to write,
“I am shifting my view.”! Likewise, in
Ford Motor Co.,%* he wrote, “I think I have
turned around on this case, at least in part.”
At other times Blackmun seemed to have
been fully persuaded to change his vote.
Consider First National Maintenance Corp.
v. NLRB, where he wrote, “The argument has
persuaded me to +.” Again, during the 1989
term Blackmun indicates that then Assistant
Solicitor General John Roberts may have
persuaded him to change his view of the
case. During Roberts’s rebuttal he noted, “Am
I turned around in this case?”** Similarly,
during Fuentes v. Shevin,>* Blackmun penned
that, “He persuades me but will he persuade
all the others?”

Remembering Persuasive Attorneys

While Blackmun was probably familiar
with many attorneys who argued before the
Court, he could not have known them all—
even those whom scholars might consider
relatively famous. His notes, then, indicate
that he had ways to remember who argued.
Specifically, he wrote down characteristics
of the attorneys including his (possible) es-
timates about their age and what they looked
like at the rostrum. As with the other aspects
of his notes, Blackmun was nothing if not
meticulous in this area. Each description was
made on the right-hand side of his lined
paper and always appeared on the same
lines as he wrote counsel’s name, the time
each argument began, and the grade he had
assigned. These descriptors are exemplified
in a single line about James Strain in CTS
v. Dynamics Corp.:>* “young, beard, 42, dull,
Hastings, WHR Clerk like Jim Brudney.”®

Physical cues were particularly impor-
tant to Blackmun. For instance, he described
attorney Frank Whalen, who argued in Sarno
v. Illlinois Crime Commission,”” as “gravel
voice, frowny, widow’s peak, sclerotic.” Mar-
tin Wald, who argued Firestone Tire Co.
v. Bruch® was “short, grey, glasses, 54,
blunt.” In contrast, Robert Fishell, arguing
for the petitioner in Owen v. Owen,” was
“large, soft spoken ... Pretty dull, slow.”
Blackmun even notated the appearance of
attorneys with whom he was clearly familiar.
He described the outfit of future Justice Ruth
Bader Ginsburg in Califano v. Goldfarb,*°
even though it was not her first case before
the Court, “in red and red ribbon today.”

Possibly the most important information
for Blackmun was attorneys’ experience. In
fact, his notations often focused on where
attorneys attended law school, whether they
clerked for the Court earlier in their career, or
how they practiced law. These factors parallel
research that suggests such factors may have
an impact on who is likely to win a case.®!

Consider, first, where attorneys attended
law school. In Firestone, Blackmun re-
marked that petitioner attorney Wald at-
tended “Chicago.” Other times he used his
prototypical shorthand when mentioning law
schools. Thus, while Kathi Drew argued for
the state of Texas in Texas v. Johnson,”
Blackmun noted she was from “SMU.”®3
In McCarthy v. Bronson,® he indicated
Christopher Cerf was from “Colum.”®> In
Reed v. United Transportation Union,%® he
pointed out that John Gresham was from
BU (Boston University) and in Northwest
Central Pipeline Corp. v. State Corp. Com-
mission of Kansas,®” Blackmun noted that
Harold Talisman was from OSU (The Ohio
State University). In other cases, he wrote
that Nina Kraut was from “Vt” (presumably
Vermont), even though she actually attended
law school in the neighboring state of New
Hampshire. Similarly, he noted that Rex E.
Lee and Chris Hansen attended “Chicago,”
David Soloway went to “Emory,” and
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Raymond K. LaJeunesse, Jr. attended “W &
Lee” (Washington and Lee University).

Beyond where they obtained law de-
grees, Blackmun also categorized attorneys
based on whether (and where) they taught
law. In Milton v. Wainwright,%® he wrote that
Neil Rutledge was a “Duke Prof” and “(son
of Wiley?).” In Buckley, Ralph K. Winter
was a “Yale prof” and in White v. Weiser,®
Charles L. Black was a “Yale professor.”
During other arguments, Blackmun wrote
that Lewis B. Kaden was a “Colum prof,”""
Vivian Berger was a “Columbia prof,””!
and Gerald Lopez was a “Stan prof.”’? He
also noted professors without mentioning
specific institutions, as he did with William
Burnham, Edwin Bradley, George Colvin
Cochran, Barry Nakell, and Archibald Cox.

Finally, whether an attorney clerked at
the Court signaled experience to Blackmun.
Thus, in Firestone he wrote that Mr. Sullivan
was a “TM clerk.” Interestingly, Blackmun
initially noted when Christopher Cerf argued
Carella v. California”™ in 1989 that he was
a “CJ clerk,” but there was a problem. Cerf
never clerked for Rehnquist. However, when
Cerf argued McCarthy in 1991, Blackmun
properly identified that he had been an “SOC
clerk.”” During arguments in the landmark
Buckley v. Valeo, Ralph Winter, Jr. was a “for-
mer TM Clerk.” In CTS v. Dynamics Corp.,
James Strain “was a WHR clerk like Jim
Burway.” Marsha Berzon in International
Union v. Johnson Controls™ was a “former
WIJB Clerk.”"®

It is interesting that Blackmun was so
attuned to these details because research
suggests the grades we discuss above are
based on the quality of the attorneys who
appear before the Court. Thus, attorneys who
were former clerks or who taught at elite law
schools were more likely to make winning
arguments to the Court.”” Combining this
insight with cues in Blackmun’s notations,
it is intuitive that he would remember those
who made the best (or sometimes the worst)
arguments.

Blackmun’s Judgment of His Colleagues’
Oral Argument Behavior

Blackmun also spent much time lis-
tening to, and making notes about, his
colleagues’ actions, interactions, questions,
comments, and general oral argument be-
havior. In this section, we analyze how he
responded to his colleagues’ behavior and
what such behavior taught him about how a
case may be decided.

Assessing Colleagues’ Verbosity

Initially, we note that during Blackmun'’s
tenure on the bench, there was a relatively
major change in how Justices acted dur-
ing oral arguments. There was a massive
increase in the number of times Justices
spoke during the mid-1970s, followed by a
clear decline through the early 1980s (See
Fig. 2). In particular, during the 1979 term
each Justice spoke on average about twenty
times per argument session; this decreased to
twelve times per session in 1985. In addition,
contrary to the conventional wisdom that
Justices began to speak much more once
Justice Antonin Scalia joined the bench in
1986, the increase happened prior to his
ascension to the bench, with the Justices
speaking more throughout the decade be-
fore Scalia’s appointment. The substantial in-
crease in the number of times Justices spoke
while Blackmun was on the bench changed
the dynamic of how they interacted with one
another.”®

While scholars debate how such prolific
questioning affects case outcomes, Black-
mun’s own notes suggest he was often an-
noyed by his colleagues’ behavior. Perhaps he
would have preferred a return to the Marshall
Court era (1801-1835), when attorneys were
more likely to orate before the Court rather
than engage in a fast-paced debate with the
Justices.” We know this because Blackmun
frequently commented on how often or how
little his colleagues spoke, occasionally even
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Figure 2. Average number of Justice utterances per case by term of the Court.

tallying their number of turns. For instance,
in Harris v. Forklift Systems,*® he counted
the questions asked by three of his col-
leagues whom he often thought asked too
many questions: Justices Ginsburg, Scalia,
and Souter.®’ The upper right-hand corner of
Figure 3 shows that these three colleagues
spoke often during the proceedings: Ginsburg
twenty-seven times, Scalia twenty times, and
Souter eight times.

However, these notes do not tell the full
story of the day Harris was argued. During
the October 13, 1993, session, Blackmun
kept an additional tally of how often his
colleagues spoke across both cases argued
that day.®? In this note, Ginsburg, Scalia,
and Souter spoke twenty-seven, fifteen, and
eleven times, respectively. In the second
case, Landgraf v. Usi Film Products,® they
spoke twenty-one, eighteen, and seven times,
respectively. In short, Blackmun often kept
track of those colleagues he viewed as “going
over the line” in speaking most often.

As his tenure wore on, Blackmun be-
came increasingly annoyed at the number of
questions asked by some of his colleagues.
Consider the last years he spent on the

bench, from 1986 to 1994. In the October
1986 term, the Court heard arguments in
a highly salient establishment clause case,
Edwards v. Aguillard.®* During Jay Topkis’s
argument for Aguillard, Blackmun noted that
“He jumps on AS—good!” Making clearer
that Blackmun may have been less upset
with Scalia’s view of the case than with his
verbosity is the fact that the next sentence
says, “Why ds AS n shut up?”

Of course, while Blackmun often
showed disdain for Scalia’s verbosity, Scalia
was not the only colleague about whom
Blackmun complained. In United States v.
R.L.C..% Blackmun wrote that “CJ mentions
JPS and AS are talking too much.”®® Not
only was he often annoyed by his colleagues’
loquaciousness, he was also sometimes
unhappy when questions were asked. At the
outset of the petitioner’s argument in Davis v.
U.S..¥” Blackmun noted that “As usual, SOC
has the first [question].”%8

The key is that Blackmun was quite
sensitive about his colleagues’ behavior
during oral argument. While this may not, in
itself, be interesting, there is evidence that
the number of times Justices speak affects
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Figure 3. Harry A. Blackmun’s oral argument notes in Harris v. Forklift Systems (1993).

case outcomes.®® As a result, Blackmun’s
knowledge of who was asking how many
questions, and to which side, probably helped
him determine who would win the case.
This is also evidenced by the fact that he
also noted the frequency with which his
colleagues posed hostile questions to the
attorneys.

Because Blackmun was unhappy with
the verbosity of some of his colleagues,
what about his relationship with the Justice
who is most famous for not speaking during
oral arguments? Late in his career Black-
mun formed an ideologically improbable re-
lationship with Justice Thomas. Perhaps an
early reason was that Thomas shared his
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view of questions from the bench, or lack
thereof.”® Indeed, Thomas is notorious for
asking almost no questions, and he actually
went more than a decade without asking a
substantive question of the attorneys.”! This
is not much different from how he acted
when he joined the Court, when he asked so
few questions during his time with Blackmun
(eleven questions in three full terms) that
Blackmun kept track of almost every time
Thomas spoke. Interestingly, it took almost
two full weeks for Thomas to first speak and,
when he did so, Blackmun reacted by writing,
in Collins v. Harker Heights Texas,” “T asks
his 1st? 1:43 PM.”

While Thomas spoke four more times
during his inaugural term, Blackmun noted
none of them. However, he did record when
Thomas asked his first question a month into
the following term. On November 9, 1992,
Blackmun indicated that “T asks his 1st? o
t Fall.”® Finally, he seemed to realize, well
before Courtwatchers and the press did, that
Thomas was probably not going to ask many
questions during his tenure. Indeed, during
the last case argued in the 1993 term, also the
last case for which Blackmun sat, he wrote,
“CT asks no? all term.”* His sense of history
was certainly prescient.

Predicting Colleagues’ Votes”

However annoyed Blackmun may have
been with how often his colleagues spoke
during oral arguments, each speaking turn
provided him with key insights into the
positions each Justice would take in a case. In
fact, recent work demonstrates that, overall,
Blackmun predicted eight percent of his
colleagues’ votes but made at least one vote
prediction in nineteen percent of the cases
he heard.”® What did he predict and how
successful was he in doing so?

In Spallone v. United States,”” a hous-
ing desegregation case, the Court focused
its attention on a key procedural question.
The City of Yonkers, New York, planned

7

to build subsidized housing projects in an
area already predominately populated by mi-
nority groups and litigation ensued under
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act. The lower
court ordered the city and council members
(Spallone was one) to desegregate the res-
idential housing and, after extensive delay
by the council, they were held in contempt
and received major sanctions. Each member
remaining in contempt was fined $100 the
first day with the fine doubling for each
consecutive day of noncompliance; failure by
any member to comply by August 10, 1998,
resulted in commitment to the custody of the
United States Marshall. The Supreme Court
examined whether a District Court could
impose such draconian sanctions on specific
council members.

Blackmun’s oral arguments notes in
Spallone provide an example of how oral
argument may provide a road map for the
Court’s action. In this case, he correctly
predicted seven of his colleagues’ votes
and made clear how he would vote.”® (See
lower left part of Fig. 4 for Blackmun’s
predictions.) Yet he was uncertain about how
O’Connor would vote, which he indicated by
the “O?” This is important because she was
the crucial fifth vote and Blackmun could
not get a handle on which way she would
vote based on oral arguments. In addition,
and perhaps surprisingly, on the very bottom
line, in green pencil, Blackmun notes “CJ
will assign to himself.” “CJ” in this case was
Chief Justice Rehnquist and he, indeed, wrote
the majority opinion. Thus, in Spallone at
least, Blackmun gleaned more information
from oral argument than simply the probable
final voting pattern. Our point is that, while
it was most common for Blackmun to predict
the final merits vote and composition of the
voting coalitions, he would also, on occasion,
offer predictions about who would craft the
majority opinion.

Unlike Spallone, Blackmun’s predic-
tions in Cruzan v. Missouri Department of
Health®® were perfect.!® In other cases,
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Figure 4. Harry A. Blackmun’s oral argument notes in Spallone v. United States (1990).

he was less sure about how his colleagues
would decide. Tower v. Glover'®! provides an
example, as he wrote “— 54, I would guess
or + 5-4.”192 More specifically, he predicted
that Brennan, Marshall, and White would
join in affirming while Burger, Rehnquist,
and O’Connor would reverse but he was

unsure about Stevens and Powell. This case
indicates that Blackmun did not attempt to
predict the ultimate position of every single
colleague in every case and, even when
he did, he sometimes expressed uncertainty
about individual votes or the ultimate case
outcome.
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Even when Blackmun was uncertain
about votes, he occasionally ventured an
educated guess as to how a case would end.
In Barnes v. Glen Theatre Inc.,'® concerning
whether a state prohibition against complete
nudity in a public place violated the First
Amendment, Blackmun correctly predicted
there would be five votes to reverse and four
to affirm, but he placed question marks next
to four of the votes. This uncertainty was
well-founded as he made two mistakes: he
predicted Scalia would be in the minority to
affirm and White would be in the majority to
reverse (the other two question marks were
O’Connor and Souter).

In other cases, Blackmun seemed espe-
cially confident in the signals he obtained
from oral argument. During its 1991 term,
in Smith v. Barry,'® he wrote, “Justices
telegraph their posit[ions] — CJ — A — K.’
Similarly, in Williams v. Zbaraz'% and Harris
v. McRae,"% abortion cases decided during
the 1979 term, Blackmun noted, “All Justices
in their questions telegraph their attitudes.
Result will be 6-3 or 54 to reverse.” He
proved prophetic as, by a 5—4 vote, the Court
reversed and held that the Hyde Amendment,
which prohibited the use of Medicaid funds
to pay for discretionary abortions, was con-
stitutional.

Overall, these examples indicate that
during oral argument Blackmun often at-
tempted to predict case outcomes as well
as how some or all of his colleagues would
vote.!%7 However, there is significant varia-
tion in the frequency with which he made
such predictions. During the Rehnquist Court
(1986-1993 terms), he made predictions for
twelve percent of the participating Justices,
while he predicted at least one of his col-
leagues’ votes in nearly thirty-four percent
of those cases. As to how successful he
was, seventy-six percent of Blackmun’s pre-
dictions were correct and he was slightly
more successful when he noted more of his
colleagues’ questions and comments. Indeed,
when he recorded only one notation about a

colleague’s comments, he successfully pre-
dicted that Justice’s final vote seventy-four
percent of the time, but if he noted more
than one reference, his success increased to
eighty percent,'®® which is greater than the
predictive power of the conventional political
science models that predict how Justices
votes.!%?

Blackmun’s Thoughts Beyond the
Substantive Arguments

Certainly, as he sat for oral arguments,
Blackmun was most focused on the argu-
ments, substance, and possible outcomes of
each case. However, Justices, like anyone
else, may sometimes allow their minds to
wander. In this section, we complete our
journey through Blackmun’s notes as we ex-
amine his thoughts about history, his career,
and his place on the Court. We also show
what happens when a Justice becomes bored
during argument, as anyone might. We begin
with history—as we did in the introduction.

As we read, coded, and transcribed his
notes, it became clear that Blackmun thought
about historic (and historical) points in U.S.
history that occurred on or around the day
of a given argument, even if the events were
not in any way related to the case at hand. In
particular, Blackmun’s mind often wandered
to thinking about Presidents and presidential
elections. For instance, during Weinberger v.
Rossi,"'0 a case that hinged on the definition
of the word “treaty,” Blackmun remembered
the first President’s birthday, “George Wash-
ington 250th birthday.” While the case did
not fall on the actual anniversary, it was only
five days after the actual date.

Blackmun also took note of upcom-
ing presidential elections. In Edwards v.
Arizona,''! he knew he and his colleagues
were more concerned with the battle between
Republican nominee Ronald Reagan and in-
cumbent Jimmy Carter than they were with
the arguments, “White has not listened to a
word of this argument—election; who is in
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Figure 5. Harry A. Blackmun’s oral argument notes in Ross v. Oklahoma (1988).

the courtroom? The Brethren is so excited by
the election!” Blackmun likewise commemo-
rated the 1992 election of President Bill Clin-

ton when he wrote “Day after election.”!

Relatedly, during a day on which he must
have been particularly bored at argument,

Blackmun’s notes make him seem more like a
distracted student, doodling in a classroom to
pass time, than like an engaged adjudicator.
During argument in Ross v. Oklahoma,''* he
tried to remember the order of the Presidents
in the twentieth century (see Fig. 5). He
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used the bottom corner of his page to write
the initials of the Presidents in a reverse
order, starting with Ronald Regan “RR” and
ending with Theodore Roosevelt “TR,” but
he missed the four Presidents who served
between Herbert Hoover and Theodore Roo-
sevelt.

Beyond his notes about Presidents, the
most interesting historical notations in Black-
mun’s notes focus on the anniversary of Pearl
Harbor—the infamous 1941 attack that took
place when he was just thirty-three years
old. The first time he referred to it was in
Jones v. Rath Packing Co.,'** where he wrote,
“35 years ago Pearl Harbor.” It remained
on his mind as six years later he wrote,
“Pearl Harbor Day 41 years.”''> Again, the
next year he penned, “Pearl Harbor Day 42
years.”''® And he continued to document the
anniversary until 1992—in United States v.
McDermott et al.'’

While Blackmun had the image of
being rather stodgy,''® he had a lighter side
as well. In fact, his thoughts often turned
from important dates beyond the Court, to
his favorite pastime (baseball), to his work
environment, and to entertaining himself
when arguments became boring. As to the
first, he knew when it was “[iJncome tax
day”!'® and he noted when an argument fell
on “Ash Wednesday”'?° or “Halloween.”'?!
Perhaps revealing his love of the winter hol-
iday season, he liked to count the days until
Christmas, “8 months hence is Christmas
[e]ve.”1?2

More important to his life than these
hallmark dates were his beloved Minnesota
Twins baseball team and his broader love
for baseball. During argument in Rufo v.
Inmates of Suffolk County Jail,'** Blackmun
wrote, “Twins 5 Blue Jays 4” about a close
game against Toronto. He also exchanged
notes with Justice Potter Stewart, who was
also a baseball fanatic. The news of Vice
President Agnew’s resignation, on October
10, 1973, should have been (and was) a
major news story for the Justices but it

only slightly trumped the National League
Championship Series (NLCS) Game five
score of Stewart’s Cincinnati Reds. Stewart
passed a note to Blackmun from one of his
clerks that read, “V.P. AGNEW JUSTICE
RESIGNED!! METS 2 REDS 0.” While the
Court heard multiple cases that day, we know
this note (and a few others about the game
and resignation) were sent during arguments
in Department of Game of Washington v.
Puyallup Tribe'?* as they began (according
to Blackmun’s notes) at 1:23 Eastern Time,
just twenty-three minutes after the start of
the Reds’ game.

Why both pieces of news in the same
note? Perhaps because, while a resigning
Vice President is important news, it was also
the deciding game of the NLCS. Sadly, for
Stewart, the Mets eventually won, sending
them to the 1973 World Series. A couple
of years later during a 1975 argument,
Stewart and Blackmun bet on which team
they thought would win the World Series.
Blackmun waged $2.50 for the Red Sox,
while Stewart felt a bit more confident,
betting $4.00 for his Cincinnati Reds.
Stewart’s confidence ended up working in his
favor, as the Reds won the series. He then
graciously wrote to Blackmun two days after
the game on October 23, 1975, “Dear Harry,
Many thanks. It was a great season, and the
Reds were darn lucky to win. P.S.”1%°

On matters closer to the Court, Black-
mun noted important changes to his work-
place scenery. In Jefferson v. Hackney'?® after
Chief Justice Burger carried out his plan to
curve the courtroom bench, Blackmun wrote,
“New bench separates Brennan and White,
hurrah!” to express his excitement that the
curve might help prevent their chitchat during
argument.!?” More personally, in Carter v.
Stanton,'”® he began his notes for the day
by excitedly writing, “My new chair is here
today!” Finally, Blackmun was a keen ob-
server of changes or abnormalities in the
courtroom. Such notes included when “the
room [was] very dark,”'? when the “electric
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speaker [went] off,”!** and when it was “very
quiet in the courtroom.”!3!

Amusingly, Blackmun sometimes poked
fun at his colleagues. For instance, during a
case argued in the midst of a 1984 winter
storm, Blackmun wrote, “These old men
panic about the snow.”'3? He also noted that
his colleagues “get so excited,”!3? and, at
times, are “very excited! Like children!”!34
Blackmun was also amused in Codd v.
Velger,'*> when Rehnquist “says these 2
attorneys deserve each other.”

Mostly, however, when arguments lulled,
Blackmun reflected on his own work life.
He expressed frustrations on the bench in
two ways: through contemplating whether
he should be hearing a case and by noting
when he was not paying as much attention
to argument as he thought he should. He
questioned whether he should have recused
himself in some cases and also why he
had voted to grant certiorari in others. For
instance, in Memorial Hospital v. Maricopa
County'®® and Cantor v. Detroit Edison
Company,”®” he asked himself “Shd I re-
cuse?” and “Do I recuse?” and in other cases,
he specifically questioned whether he should
recuse himself because of his connections
to the parties. For example, in Diamond v.
Bradley,'® on whether computer firmware
is patentable, Blackmun wrote, “Should I
recuse because IBM?” referring to a possible
financial interest in the company.!** In
Roberts v. United States Jaycees,"™ a case
about whether women should be admitted
as full members to Jaycees in Minnesota, he
asked himself “I sat but shall I recuse?” and
ultimately he did decide to recuse because
he was a former member of the Minneapolis
Jaycees.

As he grew older and his health began
to deteriorate, Blackmun seemed to listen
less to cases because he was losing his
hearing and his ability to focus. In Middlesex
County Ethics Committee v. Garden State
Bar Association'*! in 1982, he first became

frustrated with his hearing problem by writ-
ing “Hard for me to hear. I may as well stay
home.” Similarly, in Pope v. Illinois,"** he
wrote that it was “hard for me to hear.” As
time proceeded, he had increasing difficulty
hearing the arguments. In one case he noted,
“My h aid has gone out”'** during Voinovich
v. Quilter'** in 1992,

In addition to his hearing, it appeared
that as Blackmun spent more time on the
bench, he was increasingly “having trouble
with drowsiness,”'* as he was sometimes
“sleepy and drifted off’'*® because he “did
not sleep well”'#’ the prior night. At one
point, he was sleeping so much that he
seemed thrilled that he “stayed awake this
week!”!48 This too distracted him from prop-
erly listening to oral arguments. As he drifted
off, he sometimes made pen marks on his
notepad and, as he indicated in Mertens v. He-
witt Associates,'*® he knew what they meant,
“these marks are a result of my dozing. I hope
it is not too noticeable.”

It was clear that Blackmun’s drowsiness
made him self-conscious and he hoped it was
not “noticed by spectators or Rehnquist.”!>
During argument in Edenfield v. Fane,'*! he
wrote, “My goodness, I struggle—Hope it
is not too noticeable.” In Wright v. West,'>?
he nicely summarized his tiredness on the
bench as he wrote, “Here again I am sleepy.
Growing old and less fun. A year from now
I should be out of this!” He also documented
similar struggles with illnesses, writing when
he felt “lousy today with a cold”'>® or when
it had “been a long day for I feel lousy.”!3

Blackmun became increasingly worried
that he was too old or infirm to continue
doing the work on the Court, asking himself
during Hustler Magazine, Inc. v. Falwell,'>
“Here I am again, what am [ doing here?”
He repeated this question during Hadley
v. United States,'>® writing both “What
really am I doing here?” and “What am I
doing here?” a second time with the years
“1970-1992-1993” attached, as he seemed to
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contemplate (as he approached his eighty-
sixth birthday) his twenty-three years as a
federal judge.

Blackmun also documented his own
history as a federal judge by noting his work
anniversaries. In 1973, during argument in
National Railroad Passenger Corporation
v. National Assn. of Railroad Passengers,'’
Blackmun wrote, “14 years ago, first sat!”
to record the anniversary of his first appoint-
ment as a judge to the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Eighth Circuit. He later wrote about
this anniversary more than a decade later
in New York v. Class'*® and United States
v. Paradise.’ In 1991, he began to see the
end of his career when he wrote in Edenfield
et al. v. Fane, “Am I nearing the end of all
this business? 33 years on the federal bench!”
More specifically, he bookmarked his time
spent exclusively on the High Court when he
wrote “My first Supreme Court argued case”
in the landmark case Swann v. Charlotte-
Meclklenburg Board of Education.'®® Many
years later, during argument in Beecham v.
United States,'®! he enthusiastically wrote
“11 more day of my hearing cases here!”

As Blackmun thought about what he was
still doing on the Supreme Court in his early
eighties, he thought more and more about
retirement, asking himself, “When do I retire
and how?”” and “What do 1 do now—retire at
once?” during arguments Urited States Dep 't
of Treasury v. Fabe'®? and Bath Iron Works.
When he started the 1992 term, he wrote,
“OT 1992—here we go again.”!®® Finally, in
Darby v. Cisneros,'®* a case argued in 1993,
he wrote “A year from now?” as he ques-
tioned himself about when he would retire.
Blackmun seemed to know his retirement
was within sight and it came the following
year.

Conclusion

Harry A. Blackmun'’s copious oral argu-
ment notes provide the public and judicial
scholars alike a rare opportunity to explore

the mind of a Supreme Court Justice. Indeed,
it is virtually impossible to know what goes
on in the Justices’ minds as they decide
some of the most important legal questions
facing the nation. Here, we provide a rare
glimpse inside Blackmun’s mind from the
time he ascended the Supreme Court bench
in 1970 until his eventual retirement in June
1994.

Several conclusions stand out for us.
First, Blackmun was very observant of his
surroundings and, as a result, he documented
important events happening within the Court
and beyond its walls. Second, Blackmun
carried to the High Court the critical insight
he developed during his time as an adjunct
law professor. Indeed, he was quick to write
down and grade what he saw unfolding in
front of him, including insights about the
attorneys who appeared before the Court and
his colleagues’ behavior. According to the
data, Blackmun was fair and objective when
it came to his assessments of the attorneys.
That is, he graded every attorney based solely
on the quality of their arguments.'®> Third,
Blackmun was reflective and held himself
accountable to uphold his responsibilities as
a Justice. He was also honest with himself,
seen in his observations about dozing during
argument.

Arguably, the most important contribu-
tion of this article is the evidence that while
Blackmun was one of the top legal minds in
the nation, in a number of ways he was not
particularly different from typical citizens of
the United States. His mind (like everyone
else’s) sometimes wandered as he reflected
about history transpiring around him, his
emotions, and his health. As anyone would,
Blackmun sometimes grew bored with argu-
ments, became annoyed with his colleagues
at times, was frustrated with the aging pro-
cess, and contemplated his retirement (for
several years) before deciding to do so.
However, what is most notable about Harry
A. Blackmun is that he was a Justice who
liked to have fun, had a good sense of humor,
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and enjoyed the simple pleasures of life and
his job. He joked around with the attorneys
and his colleagues during argument, played
games using his pen and paper, and had a
passion for baseball. As a Justice on the High
Court, he was still himself, “even a little
sentimental, [and] possessed of a sense of
humor and a sense of humility...”!%®
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Protecting Individual Rights: A Broad

Public Dialogue

Books and articles on constitutional law
generally focus on Supreme Court decisions
as though actions by elected officials and
pressures from the general public are of little
importance. Yet a broader look highlights
how nonjudicial forces often identify indi-
vidual rights and provide protection through
the regular political process. Lord Radcliffe
advised that “we cannot learn law by learning
law.” Instead, law must be “a part of history,
a part of economics and sociology, a part of
ethics and a philosophy of life. It is not strong
enough in itself to be a philosophy in itself.”!
In a recent study, David Cole explains that
when we look behind any significant litiga-
tion on constitutional law, we “will nearly
always find sustained advocacy by multiple
groups of citizens, usually over many years
and in a wide array of venues.”?

By examining more deeply the shap-
ing of constitutional law, one discovers that
disputes are generally settled by all three
branches and the general public. Even after
the Supreme Court issues a constitutional
decision, the elected branches and the general

LOUIS FISHER

public are at liberty to consider policies con-
trary to what the Court has decided. Although
it may take decades, nonjudicial forces can
prevail. There is a general belief that courts
are reliable guardians of individual rights,
but history does not support that claim. The
record demonstrates that Congress and state
legislatures often protect minority rights and
civil liberties with much greater care. The
subjects in this article cover the Bank of
the United States, the rights of Blacks and
women, regulating commerce, privacy rights,
religious liberty, and the Japanese-American
cases.

All three branches make mistakes. Time
allows for corrections. Alexander Bickel
noted in 1962 that the process of develop-
ing constitutional principles in a democratic
society “is evolved conversationally not per-
fected unilaterally.”> When appearing before
the Senate Judiciary Committee on July 20,
1993, as nominee to be Supreme Court Jus-
tice, Ruth Bader Ginsburg explained, “Jus-
tices do not guard constitutional rights alone.
Courts share that profound responsibility
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with Congress, the president, the states, and
the people.”

Early Precedents

In a 1989 study, Robert Lowry Clinton
analyzed two widespread beliefs about Mar-
bury v. Madison: (1) it established the insti-
tution of judicial review in the United States
and (2) that power enabled the Supreme
Court “to issue final interpretations on con-
stitutional questions generally.”> He regarded
both propositions as “flatly false” and treated
them as “the Marbury myth.”® Ronald Ro-
tunda stated that John Marshall “created ju-
dicial review in Marbury v. Madison.”” How-
ever, judicial review had been established
before Marshall joined the Supreme Court as
Chief Justice. In a study published in 2005,
William Michael Treanor identified thirty-
one cases before Marbury where American
courts invalidated a statute.’

Marbury is at times described as a de-
cision by which Chief Justice Marshall de-
clared the Court “the final arbiter of the Con-
stitution’s meaning.”® In fact, the decision
had many political complications. William
Marbury and those who joined him in the
lawsuit insisted on their right to positions as
justices of the peace. They had been nomi-
nated for that post and the Senate confirmed
their selections. However, in the remaining
weeks of the John Adams administration,
their commissions were never delivered to
them. The person who failed to do that was
John Marshall, at that time Secretary of State.
Given his involvement in the dispute, how
could he later not only participate in the case
but issue the ruling?

It would be difficult to select a case more
political than Marbury. Marshall understood
that he lacked the power to order Presi-
dent Thomas Jefferson or Secretary of State
James Madison to deliver the commissions
to Marbury and the other plaintiffs. Marshall
realized that any order he issued to that effect
would be ignored by Jefferson and Madison.

Chief Justice Warren Burger remarked in
1985, “The Court could stand hard blows, but
not ridicule, and the ale houses would rock
with hilarious laughter” had Marshall issued
a mandamus that the Jefferson administration
ignored.'?

Marshall ruled that the statutory author-
ity relied on by Marbury and his colleagues
(Section 13 of the Judiciary Act of 1789)
was unconstitutional, the first instance of
the Supreme Court striking down legislation
enacted by Congress. But that result was not
required. Marshall could have told the liti-
gants, “You have misinterpreted the statute.
It provides you with no authority to bring
this issue directly to the Supreme Court.
You must begin in district court.” However,
Marshall chose to use the case to expound on
the independent authority of the Court. He
decided to act not only in a judicial manner
but in a political one as well.

The political record during this period
underscores that Marshall did not believe the
Supreme Court provided the final word on
legal or constitutional issues. With the im-
peachment hearings of Judge John Pickering
and Justice Samuel Chase, it was evident
that Marshall understood that constitutional
questions needed to be shared with Congress
and the President. He issued Marbury on
February 24, 1803. The House impeached
Pickering on March 2, 1803, and the Senate
convicted him on March 12, 1804. After
the House impeached Pickering it took aim
at Chase. Had Chase been impeached and
convicted, Marshall understood he was likely
to be the next target.

Under this pressure, Marshall wrote to
Chase on January 23, 1805, suggesting that it
was not necessary for members of Congress
to impeach judges whenever they disagreed
with their rulings. Congress could simply
reverse objectionable decisions through the
regular legislative process. After the Supreme
Court declared “what the law is,” Congress
could come along and change it. Marshall’s
letter might have referred to congressional
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reversals of statutory interpretation, not con-
stitutional interpretation, but he did not make
that distinction. Given the marked hostility at
that time between the Supreme Court and the
elected branches, he most likely meant both
types of interpretation.

Consider what Marshall wrote to Chase:
“I think the modern doctrine of impeachment
should yield to an appellate jurisdiction in the
legislature. A reversal of those legal opinions
deemed unsound by the legislature would
certainly better comport with the mildness
of our character than {would] a removal of
the Judge who has rendered them unknowing
of his fault.”!' Nothing in that language
implies judicial superiority or finality. Fol-
lowing Marbury, Marshall never struck down
another congressional statute. He upheld the
power of Congress to exercise the commerce
power, create a Bank of the United States,
and discharge other legislative responsibil-
ities, whether express or implied. To that
extent, the Marshall Court acted jointly with
Congress rather than superior to it.'?

Marshall was well aware that constitu-
tional decisions by the Supreme Court could
be reversed by the elected branches. Con-
sider the history of the Bank of the United
States. In McCulloch v. Maryland (1819), the
Supreme Court upheld the implied power of
Congress to create a national bank. Writing
for a unanimous Court, Marshall in his ini-
tial paragraph appeared to promote judicial
finality. Of the various questions presented
to the Court, he said that if the case had to
be decided “by this tribunal alone can the
decision be made.” On the Supreme Court,
“has the constitution of our country devolved
this important duty.”!?

With regard to federal courts that would
be true, but a decision to uphold the con-
stitutionality of the Bank did not prevent
members of Congress or the President from
reaching a different conclusion. Lawmakers,
after reviewing the record of the Bank, could
use their own independent judgment whether
to reauthorize it. If Congress at a later date

supported renewal of the Bank, the President
could exercise his own judgment and veto the
bill. If Congress failed to override the veto,
the “last word” would be with the President.
That is what happened on July 10, 1832,
when President Andrew Jackson vetoed a bill
to incorporate the Bank. He reviewed the
checkered history of the Bank, with Congress
favoring it in 1791, voting against it in 1811
and 1814, and reviving its support in 1816.'4
As to McCulloch, Jackson said that even if
the decision “covered the whole ground of
this act, it ought not to control the coordinate
authorities of this government.” Congress,
the President, and the Supreme Court “must
each for itself be guided by its own opinion
of the Constitution.” Each public officer in
taking an oath to support the Constitution
“swears that he will support it as he un-
derstands it, and not as it is understood by
others.” The opinion of judges “has no more
authority over Congress than the opinion of
Congress has over the judges, and on that
point the president is independent of both.”!3
Aware of this veto, Marshall fully appreciated
the degree to which the elected branches
could reverse constitutional decisions by the
Supreme Court. He died on July 6, 1835.
Scholars and Supreme Court Justices
continue to offer conflicting positions on
whether the Court possesses the last word
on the meaning of the Constitution. A good
example is Justice Robert H. Jackson, who
wrote in a 1953 decision: “We are not final
because we are infallible, but we are infallible
only because we are final.”!® Perhaps a clever
and amusing sentence, but the Court has
never been final or infallible. Jackson spoke
more thoughtfully and realistically in a 1943
decision, saying, “There is no reason to doubt
that this Court may fall into error as may
other branches of the Government. Nothing
in the history or attitude of this Court should
give rise to legislative embarrassment if in
the performance of its duty a legislative
body feels impelled to enact laws which may
require the Court to reexamine its previous
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judgments or doctrine.”'” The issue of ju-
dicial supremacy continues to add spice to
Supreme Court rulings, scholarly discussion,
and confirmation hearings for Supreme Court
Justices.'®

Rights of Blacks

As Justice Thurgood Marshall remarked
in 1987, the Constitution “was defective from
the start, requiring several amendments and
a civil war.”’!” Progress in protecting the
rights of Blacks came mainly from public
pressure and the elected branches, not from
the courts. The balance between free states
and slave states was challenged by land
acquired through the Louisiana Purchase in
1803. The Missouri Compromise Act of 1820
admitted Missouri as a slave state but prohib-
ited slavery in future states north of the 36° 30
line. Congress passed the Compromise Act of
1850 followed by the Kansas-Nebraska Act
of 1854. The issue of slavery now shifted to
new territories and future states by adopting
the policy of “popular sovereignty.” The
decision of whether a new territory would
be slave or not was left to voters in those
regions.

Much of the pressure against slavery
came from private citizens who viewed slav-
ery as repugnant to fundamental political
and constitutional principles. In expressing
their views on constitutional issues, citizens
deferred neither to Congress nor to the
judiciary. Americans of the mid-nineteenth
century “were not inclined to leave to private
lawyers any more than to public men the
conception, execution, and interpretation of
public law... . Like politics, with which it
was inextricably joined, the Constitution was
everyone’s business.”?’

In Dred Scott, Chief Justice Roger Taney
addressed the issue of whether Congress
possessed constitutional authority to prohibit
slavery in the territories. He acknowledged
that Congress had full power “to expand the
territory of the United States by the admis-

sion of New States,” a question reserved “for
the political department of the Government,
and not the judicial.”?' Yet he concluded
that “the act of Congress which prohibited a
citizen from holding and owning property of
this kind [slaves] in the territory of the United
States north of the line therein mentioned,
is not warranted by the Constitution, and is
therefore void.”??

The decision in Dred Scott, formally
overturned by the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and
Fifteenth Amendments, met political repudi-
ation long before. In his inaugural address
in 1861, Abraham Lincoln said he did “not
forget the position by some that constitutional
questions are to be decided by the Supreme
Court.”?® But regarding the claim of judicial
finality, he spoke forcefully: “the candid
citizen must confess that if the policy of the
Government upon vital questions affecting
the whole people is to be irrevocably fixed by
decisions of the Supreme Court, the instant
they are made in ordinary litigation between
parties in personal actions the people will

The author argues that progress in protecting the rights
of Blacks came mainly from public pressure and the
elected branches, not from the courts. For example,
the Dred Scott decision was repudiated long hefore
the Supreme Court overturned it in the Civil Rights
Amendments. Above is Scott, the former slave who sued
for his freedom in the 1857 case.



70 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

have ceased to be their own rulers, hav-
ing to that extent practically resigned their
Government into the hands of that eminent
tribunal.”?* With legislation enacted the fol-
lowing year, Congress asserted its indepen-
dent constitutional authority by prohibiting
slavery in the territories.?> What the Supreme
Court in Dred Scott said Congress had no
authority to do, it did.

In 1875, Congress passed legislation to
provide Blacks with equal access to public fa-
cilities. All persons in the United States were
entitled to the “full and equal enjoyment of
the accommodations, advantages, facilities,
and privileges of inns, public conveyances
[transportation] on land and water, theaters,
and other places of public amusement.”?®
This advance for the rights of Blacks was
soon abolished by the Supreme Court in the
Civil Rights Cases of 1883, which declared
the public accommodations statute an en-
croachment on the states and an interference
with private relationships.2’ That judicial
hurdle was finally overcome by the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, which included a section
on public accommodations.??

From 1865 forward, the Supreme Court
issued other decisions that undermined the
promise of the Civil War Amendments. With
Plessy v. Ferguson (1896), the Court upheld
a Louisiana law that required railway com-
panies to provide separate-but-equal accom-
modations for White and Black passengers.?’
Plessy remained in force until the Supreme
Court decided Brown v. Board of Education
in 1954.3° Credit for this reversal goes to
civil rights activists who spent decades chal-
lenging segregated education in law schools
and graduate schools.’! As John Denvir has
pointed out, the issue of school desegregation
was “overturned because a group of citizens
refused to accept the Supreme Court’s inter-
pretation of the Fourteenth Amendment and
engaged in a long, arduous, and ultimately
successful struggle to have the Court correct
its error.”3?

Rights of Women

Following the Civil War, women also
discovered that their efforts to gain personal
rights were better protected by legislative
bodies than by the courts. Insight into this
reality comes from the experience of Myra
Bradwell. After studying law, she applied
for admission to the Illinois bar in 1869.%3
She needed permission from a panel of all-
male judges to practice law in the state. They
rejected her application solely because she
was a woman. Her appeal was rejected by
the Supreme Court of Illinois.** Although
the court had “no doubt” of her qualifica-
tions, it leaned heavily on British law and
customs.*® Female attorneys “were unknown
in England” and the thought of a woman
entering a court as a barrister would have
provoked “hardly less astonishment” than a
woman ascending the bench of Bishops or
being elected to the House of Commons.>

The Illinois court reached even higher
for guidance: “That God designed the sexes
to occupy different spheres of action, and
that it belonged to men to make, apply and
execute the laws, was regarded as an almost
axiomatic truth.”3” Axiomatic means some-
thing self-evident and taken for granted. No
need for further analysis or evidence. How-
ever, the court concluded that if change was
necessary “let it be made by that department
of the government to which the constitution
has entrusted the power of changing the
laws.”® The legislative branch could decide
whether permitting women to “engage in the
hot strifes of the bar, in the presence of
the public, and with momentous verdicts the
prizes of the struggle, would not tend to de-
stroy the deference and delicacy with which
it is the pride of our ruder sex to treat her.”>

Bradwell took the court’s advice and
turned to the state legislature, which passed
a bill in 1872 stating that no person “shall be
precluded or debarred from any occupation,
profession, or employment (except military)
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When Chicago lawyer Myra Bradwell (above) petitioned
the Supreme Court to allow women a national right to
practice law, the Justices held that the right to regulate
the granting of a license to practice law in a state court
was not a power vested in the national government.
Bradwell lobbied the lllinois legislature instead.

on account of sex.”” That statute provided
some limitations. Nothing in it was to be
construed “as requiring any female to work
on streets or roads, or serve on juries.”*!
Bradwell and other women had the right to
practice law within the state.

At that point, Bradwell decided to take
the issue to the U.S. Supreme Court to gain
for women a national right to practice law. In
a brief opinion, the Court analyzed her claim
that the Privileges and Immunities Clause
of the Fourteenth Amendment included a
woman’s right to practice law. The Court
acknowledged that certain privileges and im-
munities belong to citizens of the United
States but “the right to admission to practice
in the courts of a State is not one of them.”*?
The Court agreed that many individuals who
were not U.S. citizens or of any state had been
allowed to practice in federal and state courts.
Nevertheless, it concluded that the right to
regulate the granting of a license to practice
law in a state court was not a power vested in
the national government.*® In a concurrence,
Justice Joseph P. Bradley discussed other

reasons why women should not be permitted
to practice law. The civil law, “as well as
nature herself, has always recognized a wide
difference in the respective spheres and des-
tinies of man and woman.” Echoing the views
of William Blackstone, he concluded that
man “is, or should be, woman’s protector and
defender.” The “natural and proper timidity
and delicacy” of women made them “unfit”
for many occupations including law. Reach-
ing to an even higher source, Bradley as-
serted that a “divine ordinance” commanded
that a woman’s primary mission in life is
centered in the home. While some women
do not marry, he nonetheless concluded that
a general rule imposed upon women the
“paramount destiny and mission” to fulfill the
role of a wife and mother. To Bradley, this
was “the law of the Creator.”*

Women continued to insist on their right
to practice law. An 1875 case involved a
request by Levania Goodell to engage in
law before the Wisconsin Supreme Court.
It denied her motion, explaining that the
“law of nature” destined women to bear and
nurture children and love and honor their
husbands.*® The Court agreed that some jobs
were “not unfit for female character,” but
law was not one of them. The “peculiar
qualities of womanhood, its gentle graces, its
quick sensibilities, its tender susceptibility,
its purity, its delicacy, its emotional impulses,
its subordination of hard reason to sympa-
thetic feeling, are certainly not qualifications
for forensic strife.”*® The Court identified
various “unclean issues” that find their way
into the courtroom: sodomy, incest, rape,
seduction, fornication, adultery, pregnancy,
bastardy, legitimacy, prostitution, lascivious
cohabitation, abortion, infanticide, obscene
publications, libel and slander of sex, impo-
tence, and divorce. Handling those issues “is
bad enough for men.” Discussions that enter
the courtroom “are unfit for female ears.”*’

In the 1870s, the Supreme Court de-
cided to adopt a rule that prohibited women
from practicing before it. Belva Lockwood,
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admitted to the District of Columbia bar in
1873, decided to take steps to challenge that
rule. Instead of trying to succeed through
litigation she turned to Congress, drafting
legislation in 1876 to overturn the rule. Her
bill provided that any woman admitted to
the bar of the highest court of a state, or
of the D.C. Supreme Court, qualified with
three years of practice, and being a person of
good moral character, might be admitted to
practice before the U.S. Supreme Court. Her
bill became law in 1879.48

Women continued to gain rights by
seeking legislative relief. A contemporary
example involves the issue of receiving equal
pay. In 2007, the Supreme Court split 5-
4 in deciding Lilly Ledbetter had filed an
untimely claim against Goodyear Tire for
pay discrimination.*’ In her dissent, Justice
Ruth Bader Ginsburg remarked, “Once again
the ball is in Congress’ court.” Two years
later, Congress passed legislation to allow
women at any time to challenge an unlawful
employment practice. Discriminatory actions
carry forth with each paycheck, allowing
women to file a timely complaint for relief.>!

Regulating Commerce

Under Article 1, Section 8, of the Con-
stitution, Congress is empowered to provide
for the “general Welfare of the United States”
and to “regulate Commerce with foreign
Nations, and among the several States, and
with the Indian Tribes.” Legislative efforts
have led to many collisions with the Supreme
Court, but the Court remarked in 1946 that
“the history of judicial limitation of congres-
sional power over commerce, when exercised
affirmatively, had been more largely one of
retreat than ultimate victory.”?

An early example of judicial-
congressional conflicts over the commerce
power concerns the Wheeling Bridge
that Virginia built over the Ohio River.
Pennsylvania complained in 1849 that the
bridge was so low that it prevented ships

from passing under it.>> Several years later,
the Supreme Court agreed that the bridge
was “an obstruction and nuisance” and that
Pennsylvania “has a just and legal right
to have the navigation of the said river
made free.”>* By issuing its position on this
constitutional matter, did the Court have the
last word? Not at all.

On August 12, 1852, the House of
Representatives began debate on a bill that
would make the Wheeling Bridge “a law-
ful structure.”>® Lawmakers pointed out that
boats should not be allowed deliberately
to construct artificially high chimneys that
could not clear the bridge. Instead of tearing
down the bridge, boats should lower their
chimneys.® Legislation passed by Congress
declared that bridges across the Ohio River
were “lawful structures in their present posi-
tion and elevation.”’

The Court had acted without congres-
sional guidance. How would it respond to this
clear statutory direction? The Court now held
that the bridge was a lawful structure.*® In the
first of several dissents, Justice John McLean
objected that the “judicial power cannot
legislate, nor can the legislative power act
judicially.”*® However, this type of judicial-
legislative collision happens frequently with
Congress prevailing. There are many exam-
ples of a state losing a case but turning
successfully to Congress for support. As the
Supreme Court noted in 1946, whenever the
judgment of Congress “has been uttered affir-
matively to contradict the Court’s previously
expressed view that specific action taken by
the states in Congress’s silence was forbid-
den by the Commerce Clause, this body
has accommodated its previous judgment to
Congress’s expressed approval.”®

A good example of this judicial-
congressional dialogue occurred in 1890
when the Supreme Court ruled that Iowa’s
prohibition on intoxicating liquors from out-
side its borders could not be applied to
original package or kegs.®! Yet the Court
clearly recognized that Iowa acted without
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congressional permission. The final word
would depend on what Congress decided
to do. Justices Horace Gray, John Marshall
Harlan, and David J. Brewer filed a thirty-
five-page dissent, pointing out that states
have an inherent police power that enables
them to safeguard the inhabitants against
disorder, disease, poverty, and crime. They
understood that Congress could have the last
word. Less than a month after the Court
issued its opinion, the Senate reported a bill
granting states authority to regulate incoming
intoxicating liquors.®?> As debate continued,
lawmakers offered remarks about the Court’s
capacity to decide constitutional issues. Sen-
ator George Edmunds described the Court as
“an independent and co-ordinate branch of
the Government” empowered to decide cases,
but “as it regards the Congress of the United
States, its opinions are of no more value to us
than ours are to it. We are just as independent
of the Supreme Court of the United States as
it is of us, and every judge will admit it.”%>

Congress enacted remedial legislation
on August 6, 1890, slightly more than three
months after the Court’s decision.®* The
statute made intoxicating liquors, upon their
arrival in a state or territory, subject to the po-
lice power of a state as though the liquors had
been produced in the state or territory. The
constitutionality of that statute was upheld
unanimously by the Supreme Court.®> The
reputation of the Supreme Court for consti-
tutional interpretation was severely damaged
in 1918 by a decision that struck down a con-
gressional effort to regulate child labor.%® In
1941, after Congress passed new legislation
to regulate child labor, a unanimous Court not
only apologized for its earlier decision but
also said that the 1918 ruling had no basis in
the Constitution.®” Details of this legislative-
judicial dispute will provide insights into how
constitutional interpretation can depend on
a lengthy and complex dialogue among the
branches and the general public.

By the turn of the twentieth century, pri-
vate organizations and political parties began

to lobby Congress to eliminate the harsh and
unhealthy conditions of child labor. Initial
efforts began at the state level until it became
clear that national legislation was needed.
Congressional legislation in 1916 prohibited
the shipment in interstate or foreign com-
merce of any article produced by children
within specified age ranges: under the age of
sixteen for products from a mine or quarry
and under the age of fourteen from any mill,
cannery, workshop, factory, or manufacturing
establishment.®® Two years later, the Supreme
Court declared the statute unconstitutional.
Divided 5-4, it claimed that the steps of
“production” and “manufacture” of goods
were local in origin and therefore not part
of commerce among the states subject to
congressional control.’ Under that analysis,
efforts to deal with child labor would have
to be left to individual states. Members of
Congress did not consider the Court’s deci-
sion as the final word. They passed legislation
to regulate child labor through the taxing
power.”® This time, an 8-1 Supreme Court
declared that statute to be unconstitutional.”!

Yet Congress pressed ahead with efforts
to regulate child labor, passing a constitu-
tional amendment in 1924 to support its
authority. By 1937, only twenty-eight of the
necessary thirty-six states had ratified it.”? In
1938, Congress decided to pass legislation to
regulate child labor and returned to the Com-
merce Clause for authority.” By that time,
the composition of the Supreme Court was
undergoing substantial change. Hugo Black
had replaced Willis Van Devanter, Stanley
Reed replaced George Sutherland, William
O. Douglas replaced Louis D. Brandeis, Felix
Frankfurter replaced Benjamin Cardozo, and
Frank Murphy replaced Pierce Butler.

In 1940, a federal district court held
the child-labor statute unconstitutional by
relying on the 1918 decision in Hammer v.
Dagenhart.”* Yet a year later, a unanimous
Supreme Court upheld the statute. To Justice
Harlan Fiske Stone, the 1918 ruling “was
novel when made and unsupported by any
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When the Supreme Court struck down a congressional effort to regulate child labor in 1918, activists turned to
state legislatures to protect children’s welfare. Above is a young West Virginia miner in 1908.

provision of the Constitution.”” His state-
ment repudiated both the doctrine of judicial
finality and the claim of judicial infallibility.
Judgments on what goods to exclude from
interstate commerce considered injurious to
the public health, morals, or welfare were
reserved to the elected branches, not to the
judiciary.’®

Privacy Rights

A zone of personal privacy is implicit
in the Framers’ support for individual rights
and limited government. The Supreme Court
often handles cases that deal directly with
privacy in cases involving mandatory steril-
ization, obscenity, use of contraceptives, and
a woman’s right to abortion.”” With little
precedent to guide the Court, these decisions
are extremely controversial in the political
arena with little expectation of judicial fi-
nality. On a regular basis, the Court finds
itself engaged in a dialogue with the elected
branches, various states, and the general
public.

During the early 1900s, courts began to
examine state laws that required the vasec-
tomy of criminals twice convicted of a felony.
For example, an lowa law counted as “felons”
those who broke an electric globe and unfas-
tened a strap on a harness.”® A state court in
1914 regarded such laws as cruel and unusual
punishment, deprivation of due process, and
a full bill of attainder (legislative acts that
inflict punishment without conviction in ju-
dicial proceedings).”” State law authorized
the surgical operation of vasectomy to induce
sterility on “idiots, feeble-minded, drunkards,
drug fiends, epileptics, syphilitics, moral and
sexual perverts, and made mandatory as to
criminals who have been twice convicted of
a felony.”%?

The lowa court expressed concerns
about vague categories and procedural defi-
ciencies: “There is no actual hearing. There
is no evidence. The proceedings are private.
The public does not know what is being done
until it is done.” Witnesses were rarely called.
If they were, they were not subject to cross-
examination. “What records are examined is
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not known. The prisoner is not advised of
the proceedings until ordered to submit to
the operation.”®! To the court, the procedures
belong “to the Dark Ages.”%?

In 1918, a Nevada court expressed con-
cerns about mandatory sterilization. State
law allowed a trial court to subject certain
criminals to a vasectomy. To the court, such a
procedure would amount to cruel and unusual
punishment. State policy covered individual
convicted of rape, carnal knowledge of a
female under the age of ten, and those
adjudged to be a habitual criminal.®3 To the
court, vasectomy itself “is not cruel,” but
when ordered as a punishment “it is igno-
minious and degrading, and in that sense is
cruel.”84

Highly damaging to the Supreme Court’s
reputation was its decision in Buck v. Bell
(1927), upholding Virginia’s policy of steril-
izing certain individuals. The case involved
Carrie Buck, who had been committed to
the State Colony for Epileptics and Feeble-
Minded at the age of seventeen. Her mother
was committed to the same institution. Car-
rie had given birth to an illegitimate child
claimed by the state to be of defective men-
tality. An 8-1 majority affirmed the state law.
In the opinion for the Court by Justice Oliver
Wendell Holmes Jr., which amounted to only
three pages, he reasoned that society “may
call upon the best citizens for their lives when
called into combat.” If society could require
that sacrifice it seemed strange to him that a
state could not call “for these lesser sacrifices

. in order to prevent our being swamped
with incompetence.” In his judgment, a state
should be allowed to resort to mandatory
sterilization to prevent those “manifestly unfit
from continuing their kind.” As to Carrie
Buck: “Three generations of imbeciles are
enough.”®

The case lacked any adversarial quality.
Had the regular judicial process been fol-
lowed, the Court would have learned that
school records indicated that Carrie was a
normal child and that she became pregnant

when raped by the nephew of the foster par-
ents she lived with.®¢ There was no evidence
that Carrie’s child was feebleminded. She
lived barely eight years but in two years of
schooling performed well and earned a spot
on the school’s “Honor Roll.”%’

Although never formally overruled, the
reasoning and results of Buck v. Bell have
been discredited by the elected branches
and the general public. In 2002, Governor
Mark Warner of Virginia formally apolo-
gized for the state’s policy on eugenics,
under which some 8,000 people were in-
voluntarily sterilized from 1927 to 1979.
Nationwide, the practice affected an esti-
mated 65,000 Americans. Other states that
apologized for their eugenics policy include
California, Georgia, Indiana, North Carolina,
Oregon, and South Carolina. In 2012, a North
Carolina task force investigated the state’s
record of mandatory sterilization from 1929
to 1974 and recommended financial compen-
sation for each living individual. In 2014,
Governor Jerry Brown of California signed
legislation to prohibit forced sterilization in
prison.®® '

The Supreme Court has had gréat dif-
ficulty in deciding First Amendment issues
volving obscenity. At what point, and for
what reason, are books, movies, and artwork
obscene? A 1957 decision by the Supre;me
Court faced the que.s'ti'on of whether statutes
prohibiting obscenity violate the constitu-
tional freedom of speech or press. It ruled
that obscenity is not protected by either the
speech or press clauses. After stating that
sex and obscenity “are not synonymous,”
the Court said that obscene material dealt
with sex “in a manner appealing to prurient
interest.” A footnote explained that “pruri-
ent interest” applies to material having a ten-
dency to “excite lustful thoughts.” According
to one dictionary, prurient meant “Itching;
longing; uneasy with desire or longing; of
persons, having itching, morbid, or lascivious
longings; of desire, curiosity, or propensity;
lewd... .” Justices would vary on how they



76 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

reacted to such materials. In this case, the
trial judge offered his guidance: “Ladies and
gentlemen of the jury, you and you alone
are the exclusive judges of what the common
conscience of the community is... "% Under
that procedure, the “final word” would go not
to the judiciary or to legislative bodies but to
members of the community.

Over a period of decades, the Supreme
Court was quite active in trying to provide
guidance on what is and is not obscene, fre-
quently dividing 5-4 in that task.®' Justices
became deeply at odds over the meaning
of obscenity and their capacity to provide
helpful, coherent, and consistent guidance.
Obscenity law suffered because those stan-
dards were unavailable. Manners and tastes
varied over time and from place to place.
Books previously banned could become “re-
quired high-school reading.”> Under those
pressures and realities, the judiciary shifted
issues of obscenity to legislative bodies and
the general public.

Another area of privacy concerns the
use of contraceptives. At times the Supreme
Court avoided these cases by holding that
a plaintiff lacked standing or a case lacked
ripeness.”® By 1965, the Court was prepared
to decide the constitutionality of a Connecti-
cut statute that empowered the state to convict
an administrator and a physician for giving
a married couple information and medical
advice on how to prevent conception includ-
ing prescribing a contraceptive device for
the wife’s use. Divided 7-2, the Court held
that appellants had standing to successfully
assert a constitutional right of marital privacy.
To the Court, the First Amendment “has a
penumbra where privacy is protected from
government intrusion.”® On what grounds
was the Court divided? A dissent by Justice
Potter Stewart, joined by Justice Black, de-
scribed the statute as “uncommonly silly” and
said that the use of contraceptives in a mar-
riage “should be left to personal and private
choice, based upon each individual’s moral,
ethical, and religious beliefs.” In terms of so-

- woman.

cial policy, they thought professional counsel
about birth control “should be available to
all.”® Then why dissent?

The constitutional right of a woman
to abort her pregnancy led to Supreme
Court rulings that divided—and continue
to divide—the nation, requiring substantial
changes from one decade to the next. In
deciding Roe v. Wade (1973), the Court
attempted to find middle ground by rejecting
both abortion on demand and the absolute
right to life. With a 7-2 majority, it held
that state laws permitting abortion only to
save a mother’s life violated due process. It
then held that states could protect a pregnant
woman’s health but also the potential life of a
fetus. For the first three months, the decision
to abort would be left to the woman and
her physician. Once the fetus became viable,
states could prohibit abortion except when
necessary to preserve the life or health of the
96

Roe v. Wade was widely criticized as
the work of a legislative body for having
adopted the trimester analysis. The Court
also noted that its ruling depended on “the
light of present medical knowledge.””’The
point of “viability” could vary depending
on medical competence and technology. As
the Court acknowledged three years later,
viability 1s “a matter of medical judgment,
skill, and technical ability, and we preserved
the flexibility of the term.”®

In 1985, in an article while a judge
on the D.C. Circuit, Ruth Bader Ginsburg
described Roe v. Wade as “a storm cen-
ter” that provoked public opposition and
academic criticism “because the Court ven-
tured too far in the change it ordered and
presented an incomplete justification for its
action.” At the time the Supreme Court
issued its decision, abortion law “was in a
state of change across the nation.” There
was a distinct trend in the states, noted by
the Court, “toward liberalization of abortion
statutes.”'® To Ginsburg, the Court “ven-
tured too far in the change it ordered. The
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In 1976, President Gerald Ford issued a proclamation apologizing for the treatment of Japanese Americans during
World War Il. The Supreme Court's decisions in the Japanese internment and curfew cases, issued in the heat of

war, have since been repudiated as unconstitutional.

sweep and detail of the opinion stimulated the
mobilization of a right-to-life movement and
an attendant reaction in Congress and state
legislatures.”'”! She further noted: “Heavy-
handed judicial intervention was difficult to
justify and appears to have provoked, not
resolved, conflict.”!%?

Seven years later, in another article,
Ginsburg cautioned that judges “play an
interdependent part in our democracy.” They
do not “alone shape legal doctrine.” Instead,
they “participate in a dialogue with other
organs of government, and with the people
as well.”!®* She described Roe v. Wade as
“breathtaking,” with the Court choosing to
“fashion a regime that displaced virtually
every state law then in force.” The decision
“halted a political process that was moving
in a reform direction and thereby, I believe,

prolonged divisiveness and deterred stable
settlement of the issue.”'*

After the Court issued Roe v. Wade,
abortion opponents began to apply pressure
on elected officials at the state and national
levels. Extreme actions included the bombing
of abortion clinics, sending letter bombs
through the mails, murdering physicians, and
other tactics to intimidate women and their
doctors. A major funding issue appeared
with the Hyde Amendment, first passed
by Congress in 1976. The language that
reached the Supreme Court, which upheld
it,'” prohibited the use of federal funds
to perform abortions “except where the life
of the mother would be endangered if the
fetus were carried to term; or except for
such medical procedures necessary for the
victims of rape or incest when such rape
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or incest has been reported promptly to a
law enforcement agency or public health
service.”'% A 5-4 Court upheld the Hyde
Amendment. '’

In 1992, seven Justices voted to dis-
card Roe’s trimester framework.'%® Justices
continued to warn against claims of judicial
supremacy.

In a book published in 2003, Justice San-
dra Day O’Connor argued that if one looks
at “the history of the Supreme Court, the
country, and the Constitution over a very long
period, the relationship appears to be more
of a dialogue than a series of commands.”'%
The Constitution “is not—and could never
be—defended only by a group of judges.”!'?
The system of separation of powers “per-
mits, and indeed requires, each branch of
government to act as check against possible
overreaching by another branch.”!!!

Religious Liberty

We are often advised that legislative
bodies, operating by majority vote, can be
insensitive and unresponsive to minority in-
terests including those of religious beliefs.
Yet after examining the historical record, one
finds little to demonstrate that judicial rulings
regularly favor individual rights or religious
liberty. For more than two centuries, Ameri-
can legislatures, both national and state, pro-
tected many minority rights. Judicial bodies
during that same period were far less reliable.
Some scholars claim it “advances the cause
of realism in American constitutional law to
say that the Constitution is what the judges
say it is.”!'? Such generalizations advance
illusion and misunderstanding.

For the first century and a half in
America, individual rights and liberties were
often promoted and protected by the elected
branches. During that period, federal judges
were more likely to advance the interests
of the national government and corporations
rather than individuals and minorities.!'® A
good example of an elected official protecting

religious minorities can be seen in President
Abraham Lincoln. During the Civil War, he
was urged to force Quakers, Mennonites, and
other conscientious objectors into military
service. His response:

No, I will not do that. These people
do not believe in war. People who do
not believe in war make poor sol-
diers. Besides, the attitude of these
people has always been against slav-
ery. If all our people held the same
views about slavery as these people
there would be no war.... We will
leave them on their farms where
they are at home and where they will
make their contributions better than
they would with a gun.'**

The Supreme Court did little to advance
the jurisprudence of religious freedom un-
til 1940.''> The case concerned Jehovah’s
Witnesses who solicited money, sold books,
and played records on a portable phonograph.
Some of those recordings included attacks
on Roman Catholics. A unanimous Court
struck down a state law that prohibited any
person from soliciting funds for a religious
cause unless they received approved from
a designated official.’'® Two weeks later,
however, the Supreme Court issued a de-
cision that upheld a compulsory flag-salute
in Pennsylvania. Jehovah’s Witnesses, relying
on their interpretation of the Bible, objected
that saluting a secular symbol violated their
religious beliefs and express language in
the Ten Commandments not to bow down
to a graven image. Yet an &1 majority
rejected their position on this constitutional
issue.!'” The Court’s decision was subject
to heavy criticism by the press, religious
organizations, and law journals. Moreover,
state courts in New Hampshire, New Jersey,
Kansas, and Washington rejected the Court’s
analysis.!®

In 1942, Justices Black, Douglas, and
Murphy publicly apologized for their deci-
sion to be part of that majority and announced
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that the case had been “wrongly decided.”!"
Two members of the 1940 majority retired
and were replaced by Wiley Rutledge and
Robert H. Jackson, who joined with four
Justices to produce a 63 majority in 1943
striking down the compulsory flag-salute.'2°
Credit for the reversal belongs to those who
refused to accept the Court’s 1940 decision
and the constitutional reasoning that accom-
panied it. Citizens and organizations around
the country advised the Court it did not
understand the Constitution, minority rights,
or religious freedom.

A contemporary example of the polit-
ical process offering greater protection to
religious liberty than the judiciary is the
congressional response to a 1986 Supreme
Court decision that upheld an Air Force
regulation that prohibited an observant Jew
in the military from wearing his skullcap
(yarmulke) while on duty. Lower federal
courts upheld the ban but several judges
on the D.C. Circuit, including Ruth Bader
Ginsburg and Antonin Scalia, objected that
the military order suggested “callous indif-
ference” to religious liberty and ran counter
to the American tradition of accommodating
spiritual needs.'?!

The Supreme Court accepted the case
for review. A brief submitted by Solicitor
General Charles Fried supported the Defense
Department regulation, but during oral ar-
gument Kathryn Oberly of the Justice De-
partment advised the Court to stay out of
the conflict and let the dispute be handled
by the elected branches.!?? Divided 5-4, the
Court held that the First Amendment did not
prohibit the Air Force regulation, held to be
a reasonable method of assuring uniformity,
hierarchy, unity, discipline, and obedience.!
However, Congress proceeded to pass leg-
islation requiring the Air Force to change
its regulation, relying on its constitutional
authority under Article I, Section 8, to “make
Rules for the Government and Regulation of
the land and navai Forces.” The bill, allowing
the military to wear neat and conservative

religious apparel while in uniform, was
signed by President Ronald Reagan.!?*

Japanese-American Cases

In two decisions in 1943 (Hirabayashi)
and 1944 (Korematsu), the Supreme Court
upheld a curfew placed on Japanese Amer-
icans (two-thirds of them U.S. citizens) and
their relocation to detention camps.'?®> What
followed in subsequent decades were schol-
arly attacks on the decisions, an apology
more than thirty years later by President
Gerald Ford, congressional legislation to ac-
knowledge error, actions by lower courts to
vacate the convictions of two Japanese Amer-
icans, and a 2018 admission by the Supreme
Court that the second decision was wrong the
day it was handed down, a very lengthy and
insightful constitutional dialogue.

On February 19, 1942,
Franklin D. Roosevelt issued an executive
order that led to a military curfew covering
all persons of Japanese descent within a
designated military area, requiring them to
“be within their place of residence between
8:00 PM. and 6:00 A.M.”!?® A month later,
Congress passed legislation that ratified the
executive order,'?” The following year, a
unanimous Court upheld the constitutional
power of Congress and the President to
prescribe the curfew order, stating that it “is
not for any court to sit in review of the wis-
dom” of the elected branches “or substitute
its judgment for theirs.”1?® Writing for the
Court, Chief Justice Harlan F. Stone claimed
that the decision by General John L. DeWitt,
who established the curfew, “involved the
exercise of his informed judgment.”'?
DeWitt’s action was not informed. As a
district judge noted in 1986, he believed that
all Japanese, by race alone, are disloyal.'*

President Roosevelt’s executive order led
to the transfer of Americans of Japanese
descent to detention camps. Divided 6-3, the
Court in Korematsu upheld this action.'3! In
one of the dissents, Justice Murphy protested

President
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that the exclusion order marked “the le-
galization of racism.”!'*? He objected to an
“erroneous assumption of racial guilt” found
in DeWitt’s report, which referred to all indi-
viduals of Japanese descent as “subversives”
belonging to “an enemy race” whose “racial
strains are undiluted.”"*3

On that same day, the Court released a
ruling on Mitsuye Endo, an American citizen
of Japanese ancestry who had been placed
in a detention camp but who, the Justice
Department acknowledged, “is a loyal and
law-abiding citizen.” There was no claim that
she was detained on any charge or “even
suspected of disloyalty.”'** Her case helped
puncture DeWitt’s claim that all Japanese by
race alone are disloyal. The administration
found her to be loyal and for that reason could
not be detained.

Scholars had immediately begun to un-
dercut the reasoning of Hirabayashi and
Korematsu. In a lengthy critique in 1945, Eu-
gene Rostow described the wartime treatment
of Japanese aliens and citizens of Japanese
descent as “hasty, unnecessary, and mistaken.
The course of action which we undertook
was in no way required or justified by the
circumstances of the war.” The administra-
tion’s policy “was calculated to produce both
individual injustice and deep-seated social
maladjustments of a cumulative and sinister
kind.”'3> He also said the Supreme Court
“chose to assume that the main issue of
the cases—the scope and method of judicial
review of military decisions—did not exist.”
By deciding against overruling the govern-
ment, the Court “weakened society’s control
over military authority.”!3¢ It gave “prestige
of its support to dangerous racial myths
about a minority group, in arguments which
can be applied easily to any other minority
in our society.”!¥” Rostow insisted that the
Court had a duty to require evidence and
cross-examination. DeWitt’s motivation “was
ignorant race prejudice, not facts to support
the hypothesis that there was a greater risk
of sabotage among the Japanese than among

residents of German, Italian, or any other
ethnic affiliation.”'33

In an article published in 1962, Chief
Justice Earl Warren reflected on the quality
of the Japanese-American decisions, which,
in his judgment “demonstrate dramatically
that there are some circumstances in which
the Court will, in effect, conclude that it is
simply not in a position to reject descriptions
by the Executive of the degree of military
necessity.”!>® He offered this remarkable sen-
tence: “To put it another way, the fact that
the Court rules in a case like Hirabayashi
that a given program is constitutional, does
not necessarily answer the question whether,
in a broader sense, it actually is.”'*" Put
more directly, the Court in Hirabayashi and
Korematsu announced that the government’s
action was constitutional when it was not.

On February 20, 1976, President Gerald
Ford issued a proclamation apologizing for
the treatment of Japanese Americans during
World War II. The evacuation and detention
were “wrong” because Japanese Americans
“were and are loyal Americans.” He urged
that the public “affirm with me this American
Promise—that we have learned from the
tragedy of that long-ago experience forever
to treasure liberty and justice for each indi-
vidual American, and resolve that this kind
of action shall never again be repeated.”'*!
In 1980, Congress established a commission
to gather facts and determine the wrong done
by Roosevelt’s order.'#?

The commission’s report, released in De-
cember 1982, concluded that the order “was
not justified by military necessity, and the
decisions which followed from it—detention,
ending detention, and ending exclusion—
were not driven by analysis of military condi-
tions.” The principal values that shaped these
decisions “were race prejudice, war hysteria,
and a failure of political leadership.” As a
result, a “grave injustice” was done to Amer-
ican citizens and resident aliens of Japanese
ancestry. In the commission’s judgment, the
Court’s decision in Korematsu “lies overruled
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in the court of history.”'** Congress passed
legislation in 1988 to implement the recom-
mendations of the commission. It apologized
for the evacuation, relocation, and internment
of Japanese Americans and provided a public
education fund to inform the country about
this internment and to prevent its recurrence.
It also made restitution to individuals of
Japanese ancestry who had been interned.'#4

In the 1980s, Gordon Hirabayashi and
Fred Korematsu returned to court after newly
discovered documents revealed the extent
to which executive officials had deceived
federal courts and the general public. A 619-
page document called the “Final Report”
contained erroneous claims about alleged
espionage efforts by Japanese Americans. As
a result of this litigation, uncovering fraud
against the courts by the executive branch,
the convictions of both men were vacated.'*’
Peter Irons provided important research for
them. Acting through the Freedom of In-
formation Act, he gained access to many
documents in Justice Department files that
uncovered the suppression of evidence and
numerous “lies” and “intentional falsehoods”
presented to the Supreme Court. 46

On May 20, 2011, Acting Solicitor
General Neal Katyal publicly acknowledged
that in the Japanese-American cases Solicitor
General Charles Fahy had failed to share
with the Supreme Court and lower courts
evidence that undermined the justification
for internment. Because of those failures,
Katyal announced: “Today, our Office takes
this history as an important reminder that
the ‘special credence’ the Solicitor General
enjoys before the Supreme Court requires
great responsibility and a duty of absolute
candor in our representations to the Court.
Only then can we fulfill our responsibility to
defend the United States and its Constitution,
and to protect the rights of all Americans.”'*’

On June 26, 2018, the Supreme Court
upheld a travel ban ordered by President Don-
ald Trump. Writing for a 5—4 majority, Chief
Justice John Roberts pointed to Justice Sonia

Sotomayor’s dissent that repudiated Kore-
matsu. After explaining the difference be-
tween Korematsu and the travel ban case,
Roberts then said: “The dissent’s reference
to Korematsu, however, affords this Court the
opportunity to make express what is already
obvious: Korematsu was gravely wrong the
day it was decided, has been overruled in the
court of history, and—to be clear—‘has no
place in law under the Constitution” 323 U.S.,
at 248 (Jackson, J., dissenting).”!*8

Conclusion

Expecting courts to protect individual
liberties regularly is not supported by the
historical record. Writing in 1962, Chief
Justice Warren concluded that the American
political system requires the judiciary to
play a limited role: “In our democracy it is
still the Legislature and the elected Execu-
tive who have the primary responsibility for
fashioning and executing policy consistent
with the Constitution.”!” He also cautioned
against excessive dependence on the elected
branches: “The day-to-day job of uphold-
ing the Constitution really lies elsewhere. It
rests, realistically, on the shoulders of every
citizen.”'”® Reconciling constitutional law
with self-government requires broad public
participation. An open dialogue between the
elected branches and the courts has been the
general pattern from 1789 to the present time.
Just as we generally do not accept the con-
centration of legislative power in Congress
or executive power in the President, there
is no reason to believe that constitutional
interpretation resides only in the courts.

J. Harvie Wilkinson, III, a judge on
the Fourth Circuit, offered this judgment
about the relative performances between the
judiciary and the elected branches: “The
elected branches succeeded far more in at-
tacking invidious racial discrimination than
the Court had on its own.”’*! Women dis-
covered that their constitutional rights were
protected far better by elected officials than
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by the courts. Wilkinson noted that “good
sense is more often displayed in collective
and diverse settings than in a rarified appel-
late atmosphere.”'>? Moreover, courts “are

less adept than legislatures at assessing the

precise content of society’s values.”!>
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DONALD GRIER STEPHENSON, JR.

Reflecting about a century ago on elec-
tions in the United States, James Bryce
observed in The American Commenwealth
that Europeans “are struck, by the faults
of a plan which plunges the nation into
a whirlpool of excitement once every four
years, and commits the headship of the state
to a party leader chosen for a short period.”
However, he continued,

there is another aspect in which
the presidential election may be re-
garded, and one whose importance
is better appreciated in America
than in Europe. The election is a
solemn periodical appeal to the na-
tion to review its condition, the way
in which its business has been car-
ried on, [and the] conduct of the two
great parties. It stirs and rouses the
nation as nothing else does, forces
everyone not merely to think about
public affairs but to decide how he
judges the parties. It is a direct
expression of the will of voters, a
force before which everything must
bow.!

As the quadrennial “whirlpool of excite-
ment” began to swirl well in advance of the
2020 elections, Americans were reminded
of a notable silence in the Constitution:
While the framers were careful to include
methods for electing representatives (by the
people), senators (by state legislatures), and
the President (by the virtual assembly of what
has come to be known as the Electoral Col-
lege), they included nothing about selecting
candidates for those offices.

Elections have thus given rise to vari-
ous devices to supply names for the ballot.
At the presidential level, early nominating
procedures were vastly different from what
one sees today. By 1800, party caucuses
in Congress recommended presidential nom-
inees to the state legislatures, which in
most states directly chose members of the
Electoral College. In 1832, the new Anti-
Masonic party tried an alternative nominat-
ing device—the convention. In this instance,
necessity was truly the mother of invention
in that with no substantial congressional
representation, Anti-Masonics resorted to a
meeting outside Congress and convened in a
Baltimore saloon. Members of the new Whig
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party did the same thing and even met in
the same saloon. A gathering composed of
state party delegates who had been selected
by local party leaders impressed many as
an ideal way of choosing a candidate who
could in turn command widespread support.
Democrats were convinced and so also con-
vened in Baltimore to re-nominate Andrew
Jackson for a second term.?

Although the convention as a nominating
device has persisted, it has been only since
the 1970s that ordinary voters in most states
have had a major say in the selection of
presidential nominees. By the 1860s, for ex-
ample, delegates to the national conventions
were selected by state party chieftains, a
practice that persisted into the early twentieth
century, It was in reaction to this situation
that the presidential primary emerged. Pro-
gressive era figures such as Senators Robert
La Follette of Wisconsin and Hiram Johnson
of California demanded a larger role for the
people in the nomination process, whereby
the voters would be empowered to select
delegates to the national party convention and
in the process to express a preference for their
party’s presidential nominee.

The idea was contagious. As early as
1912, nearly one-third of the states provided
for some kind of popular election of con-
vention delegates. By 1916, half the states
had a Democratic or Republican presiden-
tial primary, and a few had both. In that
year, among Democrats, fifty-four percent
of the convention delegates were chosen by
primaries—a figure that would not be sur-
passed until 1972. For Republicans, fifty-nine
percent of the delegates were the products
of primaries, a proportion not exceeded until
1976.3 However, popular participation went
only so far in that most primaries did not
generate binding results, as party leaders
often dictated how delegates voted.

As the Progressive movement itself de-
clined nationally after 1920, states began to
abandon the primary as a delegate-selection
device, so that, by 1936, only forty percent

of the convention delegates of the two ma-
jor parties were chosen in primaries. Thus,
during the first two-thirds of the twentieth
century, primaries were a route to the nom-
ination but by no means the route. They
were no substitute for careful cultivation of
state party leaders. Instead, the strategy for
presidential aspirants became one of picking
and choosing primaries carefully. In 1960, for
example, John Kennedy entered and won the
primary in West Virginia, an overwhelmingly
Protestant state, as a way of refuting the
conventional wisdom that a Roman Catholic
could not be elected President.* Until the
1970s, primaries mainly were seen by both
candidates and state party leaders as devices
to confirm consensus within a party. Few
viewed the primary as a tool to forge such
a consensus. That had to be done before
primary season.

An entirely different world of nomina-
tion politics emerged after 1968, when Vice
President Hubert Humphrey, the Democratic
nominee, became the last presidential candi-
date of either major party who did not enter a
single presidential primary in the year he was
nominated. The ensuing controversy among
Democrats witnessed the speedy rebirth and
expansion of the notion of popular control
of the candidate-selection process. While
presidential and vice-presidential candidates
would still be nominated in conventions,
rules adopted first by Democrats and then
by Republicans transformed the nomina-
tion process into one in which candidates
competed for convention delegates in state
presidential primaries (or in caucuses, lowa
holding the first one in 1972) across the
land. What had begun in the Progressive era
as a device to empower voters swept the
nation.

Under the arrangement that had existed
for most of American political history after
1800, party elites narrowed choices for the
electorate. Today, that order of influence
has become exactly inverted: the electorate,
speaking through primaries and caucuses,
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narrows the choices for party elites. Thus, as
this extra-constitutional process has evolved,
an American presidential election now en-
compasses two very distinct phases. First, the
delegate selection phase, where the struggle
is within a party, followed by the general
election phase, where the struggle is between
parties.

While the Supreme Court has sometimes
been an issue in presidential elections—
one thinks of 1936, 1968, and 1980 as
especially prominent examples—it has been
less common for the Court to be a focus
in the nomination stage of the process. Yet,
even months before any votes were cast in
the primaries and caucuses in 2020, some
Democratic presidential wannabes pointed to
decisions by the Court that they abhorred
and reminded party faithful of the impact
the next President might have on the nation
through appointments of Justices. Some even
advocated enlarging the size of the Court or
abolishing life tenure. The rhetoric once more
served as a reminder, if one were needed, that
the Court is never very far from the center of
politics, a reality confirmed by recent books
about the Justices and their work.

If 1968 was notable because the Demo-
cratic nominee had not entered a single
primary, 1952 remains significant as the last
time at least as of 2020 the presidential nom-
inee of either party (again, the Democrats)
was not chosen on the first ballot. Democrats
eventually coalesced around Adlai Steven-
son in July, barely weeks after Republicans
had picked Dwight Eisenhower in the same
Chicago arena. The latter’s victory in Novem-
ber later had enormous consequences for the
Supreme Court and the nation because of
the new President’s choice of Governor Earl
Warren of California to head the Court. It is
the sometimes strained relationship between
the thirty-fourth chief executive and the four-
teenth Chief Justice of the United States that
forms the subject of Eisenhower vs. Warren
by James F. Simon, dean emeritus of New
York Law School.’

An author hardly unfamiliar with the
Supreme Court, Simon has written eight
additional books on the judiciary, including
a biography of Justice William O. Dou-
glas. Significantly, five of these volumes are
conspicuously constructed around conflict,
suggesting that Simon prefers a research
and writing focus on what might be called
“great antagonists.” One is therefore not
surprised to find titles on Franklin Roosevelt
and Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes;
Abraham Lincoln and Chief Justice Roger B.
Taney; Thomas Jefferson and Chief Justice
John Marshall, as well as one on Justice Hugo
L. Black and Justice Felix Frankfurter. Even a
sixth and very early title (In His Own Image:
The Supreme Court in Richard Nixon’s
America) is hardly tension-free.

Along with a prologue and an epi-
logue, Simon’s twelve chapters organize the
Eisenhower-Warren story by attention to their
lives before and after the impactful events of
1952 and 1953. With the period before Eisen-
hower’s election, Simon provides engaging
mini-biographies of the pair, who were born
about six months apart (Eisenhower in Octo-
ber 1890, Warren in March 1891).° Readers
already familiar with Warren’s life will find a
detailed account of Eisenhower’s upbringing
as well as his military, diplomatic, and ed-
ucational accomplishments, and, as to War-
ren, his childhood, adolescence, and early
professional years but also his administrative
and political achievements in California that
included election as governor three times.’
For Eisenhower, Simon makes ample use
of Eisenhower’s four volumes of published
memoirs as well as personal and official pa-
pers. For Warren, he draws from biographies,
Warren'’s published memoirs, decisions of the
Court, and the Warren papers at the Library
of Congress as well as the papers of Justices
who served with him.

The period of the public lives of the
two beginning with 1952 comprises the major
part of the book. It is here that the reader
realizes that while Warren might never have
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become Chief Justice without Eisenhower, it
is entirely believable that Eisenhower might
never have become the Republican nominee
in 1952 without Warren. When Republicans
opened their convention in Chicago, Eisen-
hower and Ohio’s Senator Robert Taft seemed
assured of the most delegates, but each was
short the necessary number of 604. Warren,
who had been his party’s vice-presidential
nominee in 1948, headed the California del-
egation, whose members were committed to
Warren as a “favorite son,”® even as most in
that delegation preferred Eisenhower to Taft.
Meanwhile, the Minnesota delegation was
committed to its favorite son, former gover-
nor Harold Stassen. Had Warren released the
California delegation at the outset, accord-
ing to Simon® the added votes would have
clinched the nomination for Eisenhower, thus
ingratiating Warren with the general. How-
ever, it turned out to be the votes from the
Minnesota delegation that ultimately pushed
Eisenhower over the top.

Yet the nominee already had reason
to appreciate Warren, if in a less obvious
way. Early in the convention, the strug-
gle between Taft and Eisenhower centered
on contested delegations from three states:
Georgia, Louisiana, and Texas. Taft support-
ers dominated the credentials committee and
voted to seat the Taft delegates from those
states, moving the Ohio senator close to the
number needed to nominate. When Eisen-
hower supporters challenged the action of
the credentials committee, Herbert Brownell,
Jr., Eisenhower’s “chief strategist”!® at the
convention (and later Attorney General dur-
ing the future President’s first term) proposed
an amendment that would require a floor
vote on the seating of any contested delega-
tion. Defeat of the amendment was seen as
greatly advantaging Taft, while passage was
expected to shift the momentum to Eisen-
hower. Attention then focused on the vote
of the sizable delegation from the Golden
State. Its senior senator, William Knowland,
urged that the delegation split its vote on the

amendment, while Warren supported a unit
vote in favor, as did the state’s junior senator,
Richard Nixon. Warren’s insistence on a
unified vote from his delegation assured the
amendment’s adoption by the full convention,
an outcome that assisted Eisenhower because
it disfavored Taft.

Moreover, on the day before the con-
vention voted on the presidential nomina-
tion, Warren indirectly boosted Eisenhower’s
chances when he rebuffed Taft’s offer of
“the cabinet position of his choice”!! if the
governor released his delegation—already
pledged to him on the first ballot—in favor
of Taft. According to Simon, Eisenhower
replied firmly, “No, Senator, we will go ahead
as promised,”'? the promise being that the
delegation would back its governor, perhaps
on the outside chance that a convention
deadlocked between Taft and Eisenhower
might turn to him. Surely, by the time the
convention adjourned, the nominee realized
that the leader of the California delegation
had had a hand in his victory.

Ironically, Taft had passed up an oppor-
tunity that might well have delayed Eisen-
hower’s entry into national politics until
well past 1952, thus smoothing the way for
Taft’s own ambitions. While still Columbia
University’s president, Eisenhower was asked
by President Harry Truman to step back
into uniform to head the fledgling North
Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). NATO
had been formed by a treaty that Taft had
opposed. Convinced that NATO required
solid bipartisan support in Congress if it
was to succeed, Eisenhower sought to change
Taft’s mind in terms of favoring sufficient
numbers of American troops to make the
alliance viable. Expecting Taft’s unqualified
approval, Eisenhower had even drafted a
statement indicating his decision to abandon
any pursuit of the presidency and to remain
at NATO. However, Taft’s unexpected refusal
to agree to Eisenhower’s insistence on the
need for collective security led the general
to tear up his statement in the presence of



THE JUDICIAL BOOKSHELF 89

staff, thus leaving open the pursuit of elective
office.

With Eisenhower already viewing his
work at Columbia as a burden,'® there was
now in his mind no professional impediment
to pursuing presidential aspirations. These
aspirations dated from at least 1948, when
Eisenhower, who refused to say publicly if
he identified as a Republican or Democrat,
was courted by activists from both parties
after polls indicated he was more popu-
lar than either President Truman or several
Republican presidential hopefuls. Indeed, in
carrying four southern states, Eisenhower
as a candidate in 1952 proved to have far
greater national appeal than the most recent
Republican presidential nominees. However,
in describing Eisenhower’s campaign that in-
cluded events in southern states, Simon is in-
correct in writing that “the South ... had been
solidly Democratic since Reconstruction.”'*
While this statement is generally true, Ten-
nessee voted Republican in 1920, but the
prominent exception came in 1928 when five
states of the old Confederacy (Florida, North
Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia)
deserted Democratic nominee Governor Al
Smith of New York in favor of Republican
nominee and former Secretary of Commerce
Herbert Hoover. For the same reason, Simon
is off the mark in stating that Eisenhower’s
dominance in four southern states in 1952
represented “the best showing of a Republi-
can presidential candidate in that section of
the nation since Reconstruction.”!?

After votes had been cast in November,
most observers expected that Warren would
have some role in the new administration,
a prospect understandably shared by the
governor himself. What that role might be,
however, remained very much in doubt.
Simon explains that Warren and Eisenhower
had different understandings of a purported
promise of an appointment to the Supreme
Court.'® Besides, no vacancy existed, and
there had been no talk of a retirement."”
Moreover, Eisenhower notified Warren that

no cabinet post would be available for him,
given that the most obvious one, Attorney
General, had plausibly been handed to
Brownell. Brownell in turn approached
Warren to see whether he would consider
leaving California, where Warren had been
governor since 1942, to accept the post of
Solicitor General. Accordingly, by early
September Brownell had assured Warren that
the position was his, and Warren announced
on September 3, 1953, that he would not seek
a fourth term as governor.

Chief Justice Vinson’s sudden death five
days later after seven years of service and
only nine months into Eisenhower’s presi-
dency presented the new chief executive with
a rare opportunity: While all of his thirty-
three predecessors save three'® had appointed
at least one Justice, only ten had appointed
a Chief Justice.!” Simon’s account of the
search and the thinking in which the new
President engaged leaves the reader with the
impression that the selection of Warren was
the product of a methodical procedure that
one hopes is not rare, but one that in its
thoroughness and scope stands as a model
for any future President. Indeed, the series of
considerations that led the President to nom-
inate Warren seems akin to one Eisenhower
plausibly might have used in selecting a
key staff member or army group commander
during World War II.

Simon emphasizes that for a person
“with no training in law or the history of
the Court, Eisenhower held strong opinions
on the qualities he was looking for in a
chief justice.”?® In a letter to his brother
Milton, then president of Pennsylvania
State University, the President indicated
that he sought “a man (a) of known and
recognized integrity, (b) of wide experience
in government, (¢) of competence in the law,
(d) of national stature in reputation so as to be
useful to restore the Court to the high position
of prestige it once enjoyed.”?! He added that
he thought the Court’s prestige had been
diminished by the appointments of Frank
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Murphy, Wiley Rutledge, “and a few others.”
Accordingly, he indicated he wanted to
avoid an appointment motivated by politics,
but he insisted that such a disqualifying
consideration did not exclude persons with
political experience, citing specifically Chief
Justices such as Charles Evans Hughes and
William Howard Taft. Eisenhower’s brother
Edgar, an attorney in Seattle, Washington,
appeared to be among those advocating Chief
Justice Arthur Vanderbilt of the New Jersey
Supreme Court. Yet above all, Edgar warned,
the President was to avoid politicians. “I
have such a low regard for the legal ability
of most politicians, including governors, that
I naturally strike them off any list of judicial
appointments,” noting in particular that ap-
pointment of Warren “would be a tragedy.”?

With the Senate out of session until
January, Eisenhower announced his recess
appointment of Warren at a press conference
on Wednesday, September 30, in time for
the Chief Justice to be present for the
Court’s new term, scheduled to open the
following Monday, October 5. Explaining
to reporters that he was impressed with
the governor’s honesty, experience in law
and government, and moderate philosophy,
Eisenhower predicted that his choice would
make a “Great Chief Justice.” Writing
to Edgar, Eisenhower insisted what “you
consider to be tragedy, I consider to be a
very splendid and promising development....
Here is a man of national stature (and I ask
you when we have had any man of national
stature appointed to the Supreme Court), of
unimpeachable integrity, middle-of -the-road
views, and with a splendid record during
his years in active law work.” Moreover, the
president insisted, “he is a statesman. We
have had too few of these.”?3

In his diary, Eisenhower listed further
considerations  driving  his  selection,
observing that he had eliminated well-
qualified judges over the age of sixty-four
(Vanderbilt was sixty-five, Warren sixty-two)
and had looked for someone who would

serve long enough to leave a legacy. He
expressly mentioned that he passed over a
prominent Republican like Governor Thomas
Dewey of New York so that the appointment
would not appear to be a political payoft,
suggesting perhaps that he did not by then
consider Warren’s assistance at the Chicago
convention essential for his nomination. As
for Dewey in particular, he “is so political
in his whole outlook that I could scarcely
imagine him as a federal judge.... Earl
Warren, on the contrary is very deliberate
and judicial in his whole approach to almost
any question.”* Thus Warren, who had
acquired a reputation as a politician who
did not appear intensely partisan, seemed a
perfect choice for a President who for many
seemed also not intensely partisan.

Without question, Eisenhower had pro-
ceeded not merely in search of a Justice
for the Court but in search of a Chief
Justice in that he wanted this nominee to be
someone who could lead the Third Branch.
Compared to other Presidents in the post—
World War II era, Eisenhower made a choice
that fit what might be called a political
rather than a judicial model of selection.
Although presidents since Lyndon Johnson,
with few exceptions, have looked to those
with judicial experience,?® that criterion ini-
tially seemed unimportant to Eisenhower,
who instead looked for someone with broad
experience in public affairs. Of Eisenhower’s
four Supreme Court nominees after Warren,
however, each had judicial experience.

Yet all Eisenhower’s efforts would come
to naught without eventual confirmation by
the Senate. The election of 1952 had pro-
duced a closely divided upper house of forty-
eight Republicans, forty-seven Democrats,
and one Independent. Despite the close party
division, Eisenhower expected eventual ap-
proval, although his attitude was defiant: “If
the Republicans as a body should try to repu-
diate him,” read a diary entry, “I shall leave
the Republican party and try to organize an
intelligent group of independents, no matter
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President Eisenhower wrote his brother that to replace Fred Vinson he sought to appoint as Chief Justice “a man
(a) of known and recognized integrity, (b) of wide experience in government, (c) of competence in the law, (d)
of national stature in reputation so as to be useful to restore the Court to the high position of prestige it once
enjoyed.” James Simon's new book examines the relationship between Eisenhower and his eventual appointee,
Earl Warren, who had car campaigned for “lke” in California.

how small.”?® Following a favorable 12-3
recommendation by the Judiciary Commit-
tee, the full Senate confirmed Warren in a
voice vote on March 1, 1954.%

Because Warren had already occupied
the center chair for seven months, the focus
of most observers of the Court by this time
was probably not on the new Chief Justice
but on what he and his colleagues would
do with a group of racial segregation cases
that came to be known as Brown v. Board
of Education*® (Brown I) and for which the
Court had heard arguments twice: first on
December 9-11, 1952, when Chief Justice
Vinson was still alive, and then again on
December 7-9, 1953, with Warren in the
center chair.

On May 17, a unanimous bench through
an opinion by Warren declared government-
mandated racially segregated public schools
unconstitutional. Leaping far ahead of the of-
ficial civil rights positions of both Democrats
and Republicans as expressed in their party
platforms in 1952, the Court called for
revolutionary change in the pattern of educa-
tion for eight million white and 2.5 million
black public school students not only in
the seventeen states, mainly southern and
border plus the District of Columbia®® where
laws required racial segregation but also in
four other states that permitted segregation
by local option. Moreover, if segregation in
public schools was incompatible with the
Constitution, then, by implication, any other
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form of race-based public policy was also
unacceptable. An entire social system and
decades-old way of life were pronounced il-
legitimate or at least called into question by a
single decision. Never had the Court directly
touched so many Americans in matters of
child-rearing and association. Brown in no
small measure further energized the modern
civil rights movement in all its dimensions,
from continued legal attacks on racism to the
direct action of marches, sit-ins, and other
forms of mass protests.

It was this civil rights litigation along
with a round of civil liberties decisions
during Eisenhower’s second term that led the
President to question the wisdom of his first
Supreme Court appointment and for Warren
soon to look dimly upon Eisenhower. For
Simon, the “disintegration of their profes-
sional relationship™! began at a dinner on
the evening of February 8, 1954, where the
Chief Justice, as honored guest, was seated
next to the President. Seated close by was
John W. Davis, who in the re-argument of the
Brown cases had represented South Carolina.
Already having told Warren that Davis was
a great man, Eisenhower “compounded what
Warren considered an unpardonable ethical
lapse by taking him aside and assuring him
that white southerners were not ‘bad people’
but only concerned that their sweet little girls
are not required to sit in school alongside
some big overgrown Negroes.”"*?

At a press conference after the May
17 ruling, the President’s comment on the
historic decision was “conspicuously brief,”
in which he said little more than that the
decision was now law and should be obeyed.
In the following year, after the Court handed
down its unanimous implementation order
in Brown I1,* directing the dismantling of
public segregated school systems with “all
deliberate speed,” the President’s support
again remained minimal. While stating again
that the law should be obeyed, he called
for understanding of the white South, where
both custom and law had been turned upside

down. “Law alone, he said repeatedly, could
not change people’s hearts or minds.”** For
Eisenhower, the Court had needlessly dis-
rupted the social order on his watch.

Yet it was after the second Brown de-
cision dealing with the crucial matter of
implementation that presidential support, or
its absence, would be determinative, particu-
larly in the context of the resistance to Brown
that emerged in several southern states. The
Court’s 1955 ruling that embodied a gradual-
ist approach had created ample opportunities
for its opponents to delay. Although border
states showed a disposition to comply with
the Court’s mandate, states in the deep South
began a campaign of active and passive
resistance, adopting various legal tactics and
devices that hindered implementation. Sev-
eral legislatures passed resolutions declar-
ing the desegregation decisions “unlawful.”
Almost all southern senators and represen-
tatives joined in 1956 in issuing a “Decla-
ration of Constitutional Principles” (the so-
called “Southern Manifesto”) and advocated
resistance to compelled desegregation by “all
lawful means.”*

Without question, the story Simon re-
counts of the relationship between Eisen-
hower and Warren reached a precarious point
in Simon’s suspense-filled chapter 11 on
“Little Rock,” as local defiance to a federal
court in Arkansas attempting to implement
Brown dramatically demonstrated the conse-
quences of the absence of unequivocal and
continuous presidential support for judicial
decisions. On September 24, 1957, Pres-
ident Eisenhower felt compelled to order
units numbering about 1,000 troops of the
101st Airborne Division to be dispatched
to Little Rock, so that, in conjunction with
federalized units of the Arkansas national
guard, African-American students could be
peacefully admitted to the city’s Central High
School on September 25, after negotiations
with Governor Orval E. Faubus had broken
down. “It was the first time that an Amer-
ican president had used federal troops to
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compel equal treatment of Black Americans
in the South since Reconstruction.” The
action prompted South Carolina’s governor
(and former U. S. Supreme Court Justice)
James Byrnes to declare that “civil war exists
and that the United States Government has
declared war on Arkansas.”®® This clash
resulted in a powerful unanimous per cu-
riam decision in Cooper v. Aaron®’ by the
Supreme Court on September 12, 1958. In
what was probably an unprecedented for-
mat, the opinion was signed by each Jus-
tice, asserted both constitutional and judicial
supremacy, and was perhaps the Court’s most
forceful, forthright, and succinct statement
on its role in the political system since
Marbury v. Madison*®

If Eisenhower was distressed with the
Court in the school cases, his displeasure was
hardly lessened by a series of decisions in
cases that pitted freedom of speech and as-
sociation against national security interests.
The Cold War litigation posed the dilemma
every democracy faces sooner or later: what
to do about antidemocratic forces, which, if
they were to come to power, would surely
destroy democratic politics as one of the first
orders of business. Was the government to
wait until subversive elements had committed
particular overt criminal acts, or could it pre-
emptively take steps to protect the nation and
its political processes because of the noxious
ideas that suspected subversives and their
organizations preached? The Vinson Court
had already upheld convictions of avowed
communists.>® Warren’s Court, however, lim-
ited the authority of both state and federal
governments to investigate and to punish
suspected subversives.*?

What followed was the most intense
national debate on the Supreme Court since
1937, outside as well as inside Congress.
Alongside protests by right-wing groups
were mainstream attacks on Warren and the
Court, as happened at a London meeting
of the American Bar Association (ABA)
in 1957 to which the Chief Justice had

been invited, Warren was so embarrassed
and offended by the ABA action that he
resigned his long-standing membership. An-
other unprecedented rebuke followed in 1958
when the Conference of State Chief Justices
adopted six resolutions that highlighted ques-
tionable decisions. Members of the House
and Senate joined the chorus of naysayers,
with measures introduced to withdraw the
Court’s jurisdiction in certain categories of
national security cases, although only one rel-
atively mild rebuke actually passed.*! While
Eisenhower himself was not publicly critical,
he fumed privately and some of his negative
remarks found their way to Warren.

Simon draws extensively from Warren’s
memoirs that were published in 1977 in
describing a conversation between the two
principals in 1965 when, at President Lyndon
Johnson’s request, they were on a plane to
attend the funeral in London of Winston
Churchill. Warren wrote that Eisenhower
told him that he had been disappointed
in Justice Brennan and Warren, mistakenly
thinking they were moderate when appointed,
but eventually concluding otherwise. When
Warren asked Eisenhower which decisions
in particular he had in mind, the reply was,
“Oh, those Communist cases.” When the
Chief Justice pressed as to which cases,
the former President replied, “All of them.”
When Warren asked, what he would do with
Communists in America, Eisenhower was
said to reply, “I would kill the S.0.B.s.”#?

For Simon, Warren’s inclusion of this
conversation in the first chapter of his mem-
oirs indicated the importance the Chief Jus-
tice assigned to what Eisenhower said, that
he probably intended to portray “the former
president as hopelessly naive in his under-
standing of the court’s work,” a characteri-
zation Simon believes is both “unflattering
and unfair.” The depiction was unfair, Si-
mon maintains, both because of the qualities
Eisenhower displayed in selecting Warren in
1953 and in examples the author includes
of Eisenhower’s familiarity with the legal
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process, including his even parsing of the
language of the government’s brief in the
second Brown case. Moreover, Eisenhower’s
contrasting appreciation of Justice John Mar-
shall Harlan suggested that “Harlan’s judi-
cial restraint more accurately reflected his
concept of judicial decision-making than the
chief justice’s.”*’ Nonetheless, Eisenhower’s
death in March 1969 meant that Warren, who
lived until July 1974, got the last word.

In his opinion in Brown [, Chief
Justice Warren famously declared: “We con-
clude that in the field of public educa-
tion the doctrine of ‘separate but equal’
has no place. Separate educational facilities
are inherently unequal.”** Eight paragraphs
above this pronouncement Warren assigned
provenance of the doctrine to the Supreme
Court’s decision fifty-eight years earlier in
Plessy v. Ferguson,* when the Court in-
famously upheld the validity of Louisiana’s
separate car law, enacted in July 1890, against
a Fourteenth Amendment challenge. This
statute required railroad companies operating
passenger trains in the state to provide “equal
but separate” cars for white and black patrons
and required railroad employees such as
conductors to enforce the racially segregated
seating.*® Although Plessy is invariably cited
as the source of the “separate but equal” doc-
trine, the phrase itself—so basic for so long
in American constitutional law—ironically
appears nowhere in the opinion of the Court
by Justice Henry Billings Brown. One finds
it only in the decision’s sole dissenting opin-
ion, filed by Justice John Marshall Harlan,
whose namesake grandson would be Pres-
ident Eisenhower’s second Supreme Court
appointee.

Because the doctrine, and therefore
became the legal basis for
government-mandated racial segregation

Plessy,

not only in public conveyances but in all
manner of public facilities such as schools,
Plessy became both the target and the
principal parapet in the struggle over the
future of required separation of the races. For

those who sought to maintain segregation,
Plessy had to be defended and reaffirmed.
For those working to eliminate segregation,
the decision could not be allowed to remain
controlling law. Thus when Brown was
argued and decided, the precedent remained
close to the center of attention and even
today, along with ruinous decisions like
Dred Scott,*’ retains a place in the canon of
American constitutional law.

Understandably, therefore, Plessy has
received ample attention in Court histories,
biographies, commentaries, and even case
studies. The most recent of the latter is
Separate, by journalist Steve Luxenberg, se-
nior editor at the Washington Post.*® Without
question, Luxenberg’s captivating book is an
impressive contribution both in its length
of nearly 600 pages and in the depth of
the author’s research. Moreover, through his
reexamination of Plessy, Luxenberg offers a
restyling of the judicial case study in that
he tells the story almost entirely through the
eyes of its participants.

Fittingly, the Prologue in this book of
twenty-one numbered chapters comprising
five parts concludes with a detailed “cast
of characters” just ahead of chapter one.
Aside from Justices Brown and Harlan, one
finds Albion W. Tourgée, the attorney and
weekly newspaper columnist recruited to
argue Plessy at the Supreme Court; Louis A.
Martinet, editor of the New Orleans Crusader
and the principal force behind the Citizens
Committee to Test the Constitutionality of
the Separate Car Law, also known as the
Comité des Citoyens, a name that reflected
the group’s French Creole composition and
leadership; Caroline (Pitts) Brown, first wife
of Justice Brown; Malvina (Shanklin) Harlan,
wife of Justice Harlan; Emma (Kilborn)
Tourgée, wife of Albion Tourgée; Freder-
ick Douglass, abolitionist author and ora-
tor; Rodolphe L. Desdunes, member of the
Citizens’ Committee; Daniel Desdunes, son
of Rodolphe Desdunes and chosen by the
Citizens Committee to test the separate car
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law; Homer Plessy, chosen by the Citizens
Committee to test the separate car law; John
H. Ferguson, the state judge whose ruling was
appealed by Plessy’s legal team; and James
C. Walker, a New Orleans lawyer hired by
the Citizens Committee to work with Tourgée
and to act as local counsel. To this play list,
Luxenberg might well have added Samuel
F. Phillips, a Washington attorney whom the
committee had retained to “serve as its local
eyes and ears at the court” and who would
help write and file the brief at the U. S.
Supreme Court.*°

Given the number of “characters” in-
volved in one way or another in Plessy, the
reader is not surprised to find that Separate
is more heavily biographical than strictly po-
litical or legal; given its setting in nineteenth-
century Louisiana, the book is also partly
cultural as well. Part I (Ambition) contains
individual chapters on the future Justices
Harlan and Brown as well as Tourgée, in
addition to an overview of the free people
of color of New Orleans in 1860. Part II
(War) continues the focus on Harlan, Brown,
and Tourgée in separate chapters as does Part
Il (Ascent). Part IV (Precipice) continues
the focus on Harlan, Brown, and Tourgée
with collateral attention to the sharpening
color line in the South in the 1880s. Part
V (Resistance) provides the denouement as
Plessy’s case is argued, decided, and then
assessed.

Yet readers may be surprised to find
that the Prologue begins not with Homer
Plessy or in New Orleans but with a flash-
forward to April 1896, at Albion Tourgée’s
home in Mayville on the northwestern tip of
Lake Chautauqua in New York, a location
about as far southwest in the Empire State
as one can go without stepping into Lake
Erie or wandering into Pennsylvania. The
day’s mail contained a two-page letter, dated
April 1, which the fifty-seven-year-old read
with disbelief: “There is some chance that
the case will be argued tomorrow,” wrote
his co-counsel in Plessy’s case. However, it

was already April 3. “Tomorrow was now
yesterday.” If the letter were accurate, “then
Tourgée had missed perhaps the most im-
portant oration of his career, one that he
had spent more than three years preparing
to give.” He hurriedly composed a letter to
the clerk at the Supreme Court, explaining
“I have been ready for the hearing for three
months, waiting every day to know when it
would be reached, but have never heard a
word from you. I represent an association of
about 10,000 colored men of Louisiana who
raised the money to prosecute these and other
cases, and now by some inscrutable mishap
they are deprived of the service they had
secured.”°

Having argued only two relatively minor
cases at the Supreme Court some twenty-five
years earlier, Tourgée was unfamiliar with
the Court’s current routine of notifying only
local counsel about the scheduling of a case.
Local counsel had thus known for several
days that Plessy’s case was in the Court’s
queue but inexplicably had failed to notify
Tourgée promptly. Happily Tourgée soon
learned from Court clerk James McKenney
that the Justices had not reached as many
cases as expected before adjourning for a
week’s recess. Plessy’s case was next in line,
with a probable argument date of Monday,
April 13, thus allowing Tourgée ample time
to make the journey to Washington.>!

After the Prologue’s description of that
brush with professional misfortune comes
chapter one’s beginning with a flashback
to August, 1838, twenty-four years before
Homer Plessy was born. The occasion was
the inauguration of regular passenger service
on the Eastern Rail Road between East
Boston and Salem, Massachusetts. The pub-
lished fare was fifty cents for the thirteen-
mile ride that would take less than an hour,
half the charge stage coaches collected for a
trip between the same two points that would
consume more than half an afternoon. The
Eastern’s “white and colored passengers,”
however were assigned to different cars, a
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practice that initially attracted no condemna-
tion from the abolitionists, probably because,
Luxenberg infers, “people with any shade
of color” comprised barely one percent of
the Commonwealth’s population in the 1840
census. Remarkably, by October 1838, the
term “Jim Crow” had already appeared in the
Salem newspaper as a label for the “colored
only” car, suggesting the term “was already
well in circulation among passengers and
railroad crews.”™ Yet controversy over the
practice did develop, prompting the Mas-
sachusetts legislature to consider a bill to
prohibit rail car segregation. While the mea-
sure never became law, the state’s railroads
eventually abandoned separate car seating,
even as segregation on trains was becoming
common elsewhere.

Thus, while Jim Crow laws requiring
segregation gained “velocity in the South
at the end of the nineteenth century,” the
practice of segregation “did not originate
there. Separation had no role in the South
before the Civil War,” explains Luxenberg.
“Slavery required close contact, coercion,
and even intimacy to survive and prosper. It
was the free and conflicted North that gave
birth to separation, in different places and in
different forms.”>* This perspective explains
the second half of Luxenberg’s subtitle:
“America’s Journey from Slavery to Segrega-
tion,” as the new realities of carriage by rail
spurred discrimination. “No existing form of
transportation quite compared to a railroad
car’s opportunities for throwing together pas-
sengers without regard for status or social
group. A gentleman could wind up next to a
laborer, close enough to smell breakfast—or
worse—on each other’s breath.”>* First class
accommodations might offer refuge for those
able to pay, but only if a train offered them.

Once Luxenberg shifts the focus to
Louisiana, the reader learns that the first
attempt by the Citizens Committee to
build a test case under the Fourteenth
Amendment to attack the state’s separate car
law derailed even though the planning had

been meticulous. On the morning of February
24, 1892, a young “light skinned” musician
named Daniel Desdunes boarded a train of
the Louisville and Nashville Railroad in New
Orleans. “His stated destination: Mobile,
Alabama. His first destination: the car
reserved for white passengers. His hoped for
destination: police custody.”>® The train crew
had been alerted ahead of time, and there
conveniently was a police captain already on
board who, with the help of two detectives,
escorted Desdunes off the train and into the
Second Recorder’s Court after he refused the
request of a crew member to move to the
proper car. Waiting at the recorder’s court was
Paul Bonseigneur, treasurer of the Citizens
Committee, who paid the $500 bond and
secured Desdunes’ release. Meanwhile, local
attorney Walker was in touch with Tourgée
in Mayville working on final details for an
appeal. However, in unrelated legal action by
the Pullman Company, the Supreme Court
of Louisiana ruled on Commerce Clause
grounds that the separate car law was unen-
forceable with respect to interstate travelers.
The situation then called for a new de-
fendant, and on the afternoon of June 7, 1892,
a twenty-nine-year-old shoemaker named
Homer Plessy bought a first-class ticket on
the East Louisiana Railroad for a ride from
New Orleans sixty miles north to Covington
on the north shore of Lake Pontchartrain, an
intrastate ride. As Luxenberg adds, Plessy’s
family tree featured “every color of the New
Orleans spectrum, but no enslaved member
since his great-grandmother had gained her
freedom in 1779. He could trace both sides
of his family’s origins back to the century
of French and Spanish rule. If les gens de
couleur libres [free people of color] could
be considered a club, his ancestors were
founding members.”>® For this second test
of the law, the committee again calculated
carefully, this time hiring a private detective,
Chris C. Cain, to be the arresting officer.
When Plessy was taken off the train, five
members of the committee met him at the
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The Supreme Court issued its decision in Plessyv. Ferguson on May 18, 1896, advancing the “separate but equal”
doctrine for assessing the constitutionality of racial segregation laws. Steve Luxenberg's compelling new book on
the case tells the story almost entirely through the eyes of its participants.

Fifth Precinct police station to make sure he him, separate was legal in that other courts
would not have to spend a night in jail. had said so. His only question: “Were the

In the trial court, Judge Ferguson had cars equal? If not, no one had said so.”
no reservations about dividing the races. For There was therefore no pretense that Plessy
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was denied equal accommodations. “He was
simply deprived of the liberty of doing as
he pleased.”” Judge Ferguson was correct
in suggesting that racial segregation was
breeding a growing body of case law. For
example, Hall v. DeCuir’® had held that
a law forbidding racial segregation could
not be constitutionally applied to a boat
moving from one state to another, and more
recently Louisville N. O. & Tex. Railway
v. Mississippi,”® involving nearly a mirror
image of the facts of DeCuir, had upheld
on Commerce Clause grounds a state law
requiring segregation on interstate carriers.
In the Mississippi case, however, the state
court had construed the regulation to ap-
ply only to intrastate travel. While Justice
Harlan’s dissent in the latter case focused
on the burden on commerce, he expressly
reserved judgment on what he referred to as
“other grounds” upon which the statute in
question might properly have been held to be
constitutionally repugnant.®

It is in chapter 22 (“In the Nature of
Things”) that Luxenberg thoroughly exam-
ines the brief filed in the U. S. Supreme Court
on Plessy’s behalf after the state Supreme
Court let the conviction stand.®' At oral
argument in the courtroom in the Old Sen-
ate Chamber, “Tourgée had armored himself
with a thick sheaf of notes, nearly fifty
typewritten pages on half sheets of paper,”®?
but there is virtually no surviving record of
what he actually said to the Justices. In the
“Capitol Chat” column, a Washington Post
reporter noted Tourgée’s presence and only
offered a sparse 100-word summary of the
facts of the case, unaware presumably that
the case began with an arranged arrest. The
reporter then offered a view on Tourgée’s
chances for success by quoting a visitor to the
proceedings in the courtroom who labeled it
a fool’s errand “as the practical questions at
issue in the case have already been decided
in favor of the validity of the law involved.”®
Coverage in most newspapers in New Or-
leans was equally thin.

Luxenberg’s detailed attention to the
contents of Tourgée’s brief is important
because his brief helps to explain Justice
Brown’s opinion for the Court when Plessy
came down on May 18, 1896. Brown evi-
dently took Tourgée’s words very seriously
in that his opinion in most respects offers a
point-by-point rebuttal. That is, the Court’s
action in upholding the separate car law was
evidently taken thoughtfully, not cavalierly.
Yet the ruling “confirmed the worst fears”**of
those who had advanced the litigation. Rather
than achieve what even they knew was a
long-shot victory for racial equality, they had
instead accomplished something quite differ-
ent. The compatibility of state-imposed racial
segregation with the Fourteenth Amend-
ment’s guarantee of equal protection of the
laws now had a reasoned defense from the
Supreme Court, removing any legal objection
to the practice and hastening its expansion, as
Justice Harlan’s dissent anticipated:

It is therefore to be regretted that
this high tribunal, the final expositor
of the fundamental law of the land,
has reached the conclusion that it
is competent for a state to regulate
the enjoyment by citizens of their
civil rights solely upon the basis
of race. ...The present decision, it
may well be apprehended, will not
only stimulate aggressions, more or
less brutal and irritating, upon the
admitted rights of colored citizens,
but will encourage the belief that
it is possible, by means of state
enactments, to defeat the beneficent
purposes which the people of the
United States had in view when they
adopted the recent amendments of
the constitution....®

Among the “aggressions” that became a
reality not long after Plessy came down was a
perverse application of “separate but equal,”
where there was rigorous enforcement of sep-
aration but inattention to equality. Not only
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was this gap evident in rail transportation,
where the Jim Crow car was often substan-
dard while first class or dining options were
unavailable for black patrons, but it was also
widespread in public school systems, where
teacher salaries and facilities were grossly
unequal between blacks and whites. The
disparities followed from increased racial dis-
crimination in voter regulations and their im-
plementation, as African Americans became
politically powerless in many locations and
thus had no say in allocation of tax dollars.
Scholarly examination over the years of
the resort to the judicial system to demolish
Plessy’s legacy, especially in public educa-
tion, has resulted in a number of excellent
books such as Richard Kluger’s Simple Jus-
tice (1976), Jack Greenberg’s Crusaders in
the Courts (1994), Mark V. Tushnet’s Mak-
ing Civil Rights Law (1994), and Michael
Klarman’s From Jim Crow to Civil Rights
(2004). To this list, one should now add We
Face the Dawn, by Margaret Edds, a journal-
ist now retired from the Norfolk Virginian-
Pilot.%® The plural first person pronoun in the
title is explained by her subtitle: “Oliver Hill,
Spottswood Robinson, and the Legal Team
that Dismantled Jim Crow.” Her readable and
prodigiously researched volume, based on
sources in most instances scattered among lo-
cal and regional libraries and archives, should
be of particular interest not only to students
of the Court and civil rights, but also to any-
one interested in Virginia history and politics
and, by extension, the history of other south-
ern states especially in the 1940s and 1950s.
Oliver Hill and Spottswood Robinson
worked closely with Thurgood Marshall in
the litigation that became Brown v. Board of
Education. Both were on one of the briefs in
Brown and Robinson participated with Mar-
shall in the oral argument in Davis v. School
Board of Prince Edward County, the Virginia
case the Court joined with the Brown case
from Kansas. Each advocate was Virginia-
born as well as a graduate of the Law School
at Howard University. Both were therefore

familiar with life in a racially segregated
Virginia. As Edds notes, Virginia enacted its
first separate-car law for railroads in 1900,
but “Jim Crow had long been the de facto
policy of life in Richmond and elsewhere in
Virginia in settings ranging from hospitals
to cemeteries....” Segregation on street cars
changed from local option to a statewide
policy in 1906. As was often true elsewhere
post-Plessy, separate “most assuredly did not
mean equal.” She reports, for example, that in
the 1920s, Virginia spent “four times as much
educating each white as it did educating each
black child.” While there were 400 public
four-year high schools for whites, only eight
existed for blacks.®’

As one would expect, the bulk of Edds’s
book centers on Hill and Robinson’s an-
tisegregation litigation. The author begins
the story in Gloucester County in extreme
southeastern Virginia with the lawyers’ ef-
forts in 1948 to equalize black schools both
materially and fiscally with their white coun-
terparts. They were following a plan laid
out some years earlier by Charles Houston,
Howard Law School’s vice dean, who had
“articulated a desegregation strategy hinged
on the absurdity of trying to make separate
facilities for blacks and whites truly equal.
Once the cost and impracticality of the effort
became clear, Houston predicted, integration
would follow.”®® The objective was to make
operating dual yet constitutionally legitimate
school systems prohibitively expensive by
attacking the separate but equal standard at
its weakest point: the absence of equality. The
Virginians were busy indeed, “filing more
lawsuits demanding equal schools than any
other grassroots legal team in the nation.”’

Attention much later in the book shifts
to the preparation in New York that went into
the briefs once Brown and its companion
cases were on the Supreme Court’s docket.
While, according to Edds, no transcripts
remain of the Legal Defense Fund’s (LDF)
planning session, she explains that the
briefs reveal their conclusions. First, Plessy
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Spottswood Robinson IIl and Oliver W. Hill, Jr., NAACP lawyers in Virginia and graduates of Howard University law
school, worked closely with Thurgood Marshall in the litigation that became Brown v. Board of Education. Both
were on one of the briefs in Brown and Robinson participated with Marshall in the oral argument in Davis v. School
Board of Prince Edward County, the Virginia case the Court joined with the Brown case from Kansas.

was to be treated as a transportation, not
an education, case. More recent decisions
such as McLaurin and Sweatt, which for
counsel spoke to the inherent inequality
and injury of an education grounded in
mandatory segregation, had supplanted
Plessy.”® Second, “social science research
bolstered the commonsense understanding
that forced segregation branded a minority
group as inferior.” Thus, rather than pursue
Houston’s earlier strategy of applying Plessy
with a vengeance, the LDF leadership shifted
to a more nuanced approach. Third, “those
who warned of violence and social upheaval
had sounded such alarms before. ...White
southerners were not so lawless as to disobey
the highest court in the land.””'

At this point in her analysis, Edds might
have queried the wisdom of the plan to push
ahead with bolder attacks on school seg-
regation before adequately securing voting
rights, where progress, although modest at
best, had already been made. After all, were

the school litigation to be successful, imple-
mentation of court orders would depend on
the cooperation in most instances of locally
elected officials. If black citizens remained
politically powerless, those officials would
remain politically accountable to the voters
who opposed—not favored—dismantling of
the old order.

Alongside the emphasis on litigation,
Edds has included generous amounts of
biographical information on both Hill and
Robinson. Hill had a long and successful law
practice, but Robinson had public involve-
ment. In 1961, President John Kennedy nom-
inated Robinson to be one of the first mem-
bers of the newly established Civil Rights
Commission and the Senate confirmed him
73—-17, with leading Democrats, including
his home state’s senators, in the opposition.
Kennedy named Robinson to the U.S. District
Court for the District of Columbia in October
1963, but the Senate took no action. Not until
President Lyndon Johnson placed him on the
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district court through a recess appointment in
early 1964 did Robinson become a federal
judge. Johnson then advanced Robinson to
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District in
1966, where he later shared the bench with
judges such as Robert Bork, Antonin Scalia,
and Ruth Ginsburg and served as chief judge
from 1981 until 1986.

Edds includes Justice Ginsburg’s recol-
lection of Robinson’s demanding work ethic
and emphasis on perfection. “Ginsburg ac-
knowledged being exasperated at her col-
league’s unwillingness to release an opinion
until every possible thread had been woven
into the cloth. ‘He was meticulous. This was
the biggest problem with him.”” Edds adds
that the appeals court “adopted a rule, known
informally as the Robinson Rule, requiring
that any judge with three opinions pending
for ninety days or more could not sit on
another case until he had whittled down the
backlog.””?

Edds’s book is an ample reminder of
two important realities illustrated not only
by the other books surveyed here but also
by many sources cited here. First, judges in
the United States are active participants in
shaping public policy on a wide variety of is-
sues, to a degree and extent beyond anything
those of the framers’ generation could have
imagined. Second, cases that the Supreme
Court decides do not materialize out of thin
air. The Justices do not conjure them up.
Instead, cases result from litigants who press
forward with interests and values important
to them. Yet in all but a small handful of
instances, those litigants also require counsel
who articulates those values and interests to
the justices within the language of the law.
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